

# **Copyright Undertaking**

This thesis is protected by copyright, with all rights reserved.

#### By reading and using the thesis, the reader understands and agrees to the following terms:

- 1. The reader will abide by the rules and legal ordinances governing copyright regarding the use of the thesis.
- 2. The reader will use the thesis for the purpose of research or private study only and not for distribution or further reproduction or any other purpose.
- 3. The reader agrees to indemnify and hold the University harmless from and against any loss, damage, cost, liability or expenses arising from copyright infringement or unauthorized usage.

### IMPORTANT

If you have reasons to believe that any materials in this thesis are deemed not suitable to be distributed in this form, or a copyright owner having difficulty with the material being included in our database, please contact <a href="https://www.lbsys@polyu.edu.hk">lbsys@polyu.edu.hk</a> providing details. The Library will look into your claim and consider taking remedial action upon receipt of the written requests.

Pao Yue-kong Library, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong

http://www.lib.polyu.edu.hk

# DOES A SERVANT-LEADER AFFECT RESTAURANT'S EXPERIENCE? A MULTILEVEL MODEL OF SERVANT LEADERSHIP, EMPLOYEE ENGAGEMENT, AND CUSTOMER OUTCOMES

AOUAD ELIAS MAROUN

PhD

The Hong Kong Polytechnic University

2025

The Hong Kong Polytechnic University School of Hotel and Tourism Management

Does a Servant-Leader Affect Restaurant's Experience? A Multilevel Model of Servant Leadership, Employee Engagement, and Customer Outcomes

Aouad Elias Maroun

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy August 2023

## CERTIFICATE OF ORIGINALITY

I hereby declare that this thesis is my own work and that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, it reproduces no material previously published or written, nor material that has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma, except where due acknowledgment has been made in the text.

Signature: \_\_\_\_\_

Name of Student: <u>Aouad Elias Maroun</u>

#### Abstract

Leadership has been identified as a major element in the managerial roles of hospitality managers. New Leadership behaviors views are currently in high demand for more people (employee, customer)-centered and ethical practices management to motivate the 21st-century workforce specifically in hospitality firms seeking to distinguish themselves. As a result, organizations are struggling to stay competitive from both the demand (customers) and the supply (employees) side due to many challenges. The current focus on training for restaurant managers primarily targets employee management, while an overlooked aspect is that managers' presence and leadership style also significantly impact customer satisfaction, loyalty, and engagement. Against this background, academics and practitioners have been trying to discover the most effective leadership style to meet not only the service organizational goals efficiently and effectively but also to keep the followers motivated and to serve their needs and all other stakeholders' (i.e., employees, customers, communities). Among these leadership studies, specifically for the hospitality industry, servant leadership is regarded as an effective leadership style.

This uniqueness of servant leadership makes it one of the leadership models that would allow the relationship between the employees and customers to occur and be tested in one model and could be employee- and customer-centered. By attempting to understand to what extent servant-led followers' engagement and customer outcomes are influenced by servant leadership; this thesis explored further how servant leadership influence employee engagement, which in turn drive customer outcomes such as satisfaction and engagement, thus resulting in organizational success. Thesis results reveal the positive effect of servant leadership on customer satisfaction and customer engagement. As hypothesized, employee engagement is a mediator between servant leadership and customer outcomes. Managerial recommendations and theoretical contributions were discussed.

## Publications arising from the thesis

#### **Book chapter:**

Aouad, M. E. (2023). Servant Leadership to Increase Employee and Customer Satisfaction. In P. Berners & A. Martin (Eds.), *The Practical Guide to Achieving Customer Satisfaction in Events and Hotels* (pp. 146-164). Routledge.

#### **Conferences:**

- Aouad, M. E. & Putra, E. D. (2019). Servant Leadership in Hospitality: State-of-the-art and future research directions. *9th Advances in Hospitality and Tourism Marketing and Management (AHTMM)*, July 9-12, 2019, Portsmouth, UK.
- Manosuthi, N. & Aouad, M. E. (2018). The customer engagement construct in the context of hospitality and tourism: A systematic literature review. 2018 Global Marketing Conference (GMC), July 26-29, 2018 Tokyo, Japan.

#### Acknowledgements

For me, success was more terrifying than failure. That came from an economically and emotionally unstable and unbalanced growing life I had where acknowledging a simple achievement was not available, not even from close members. Sometimes, some people were happier with my failure or wanted something back. Only few always just believed in me to learn and succeed. I learned from all. In my long Ph.D. journey, I got to meet and know everyone of them, and *blame them for my success and achievements*. For those people I say, be happy, this blame has no regret and is associated with positive outcomes and personal achievements.

In blaming you for my success, I acknowledge and sincerely and deeply appreciate the role you played in supporting and enabling my achievements. Being my mentor, teacher, advisor, supervisor, co-supervisor, colleague, friend, or family member, I acknowledge your personal efforts in providing crucial guidance, resources, or opportunities that contributed significantly to my journey in completing this Ph.D. thesis. Please allow me to express my humility and gratitude for the help I've received along the way. My achievement is a collective effort and endeavor. Although I am the main driving force behind my accomplishments, your interactions and collaborations influenced my journey.

To: Prof. Dr. Said Ladki, Prof. Dean Kaye Chon, Dr. Eka Putra, Dr. Qu Xiao, Dr. Alice Hon, Dr. Guy Assaker, Dr. Deniz Kucukusta, Prof. Cathy Hsu, Prof. Bob McKercher, Dr. Lorenzo Masiero, Dr. Jinsoo Lee, Dr. Sung Gyun Mun, Yuki,

To my Ph.D. colleagues and friends: Richard, Dagi, Cecilia, Zandi, Bella, Farah, Bachir and Wassim Abou Kheir,

To my brother and his beautiful family, my cousins (Maroun and Rabih), my aunt Liliane and her family, and the prayers of my mother and father souls,

To MYSELF and GOD. THANK YOU!

	CATE OF ORIGINALITY	
	ns arising from the thesis	
	gementsV	
	ontentsV	
	les	
0	ires	
	Introduction	
	search Background	
	blem Statement	
	ionale, Research Question and Objectives	
	search Significance	
1.4.1	Theoretical	
1.4.2	Empirical	
1.4.3	Methodological	
1.4.4	Managerial	
	esis Structure	
	finition of Terms	
	Literature Review	
	roduction	
2.2 Lea 2.2.1	ndership	
2.2.1	History and Theories	
2.2.2	Trait Approach Skills Approach	
2.2.3	Behavioral Approach	
2.2.4	Situational Approach	
2.2.5	Path-Goal Theory	
2.2.0	Leader-Member Exchange Theory	
2.2.7	Transformational Leadership.	
2.2.8	Servant Leadership for this Study	
	vant Leadership	
2.3 50	Origin	
2.3.1	Development	
2.3.2	Definition	
2.3.4	Characteristics	
2.3.4	Highlights on Scientific Research	
2.3.6	Research in Hospitality	
	ated Concepts	
	staurant Industry in Lebanon	
	eoretical Foundation and Conceptual Model	
2.6.1	Servant Leadership Theory	
2.6.2	Generalized Exchange Theory	
2.6.3	Conceptual Model	
	search Hypotheses Development	
2.7.1	Servant Leadership and Customer Outcomes	
2.7.2	Servant Leadership and Employee Engagement	
2.7.3	Servant Leadership, Employee Engagement, and Customer Outcomes	

# **Table of Contents**

Chapter 3:	Methodology	.93	
	oduction		
3.2 Res	search Design	.93	
3.3 Su	vey Setting, Sample, and Data Procedures	.97	
3.3.1	Survey Setting and Population	.97	
3.3.2	Sampling	101	
3.3.3	Sample Size		
3.3.4	Data Collection Procedure: Pilot test and main questionnaire	105	
3.3.5	Data Handling and Storage		
3.3.6	Human Participants Ethics		
3.4 Me	thod for Data Analysis	113	
3.4.1	Analytical Approaches		
3.4.2	Testing for Reliability, Validity, and Measurement Models		
3.4.3	Testing for Mediating Effects		
3.5 Me	asurement Scales		
3.5.1	Servant Leadership	118	
3.5.2	Employee Engagement		
3.5.3	Customer Satisfaction		
3.5.4	Customer Engagement	122	
3.5.5	Summary of Study Measures		
3.5.6	Control Variables		
Chapter 4:	Data Analysis, Results, and Discussions	125	
	oduction		
4.2 Su	vey Administration and Respondents' Profile	125	
	asurement Model Analysis		
4.4 Va	lidity	133	
4.5 Rel	iability and Correlations	135	
	mmon Method Bias		
4.7 Da	a Aggregation	138	
4.8 HL	M Results and Hypotheses Analysis	139	
	cussions		
4.9.1	Research Objective One	151	
4.9.2	Research Objective Two	153	
4.9.3	Research Objective Three	155	
Chapter 5:	Conclusion and Contributions	158	
	oduction		
5.2 Res	search Contributions	158	
5.2.1	Theoretical Contributions	158	
5.2.2	Managerial Implications	162	
5.3 Lin	nitations and Future Research	168	
5.4 Co	nclusion	171	
Appendices1			
Appendix I. Questionnaire for Employee1			
Appendix	Appendix II. Questionnaire for Customer1		
References	References1		

# List of Tables

Table 2-1	Comparison between Servant Leadership and Other Styles	
Table 2-2	Publications of Servant Leadership in Hospitality	
Table 3-1	Most used dimensions for servant leadership	119
Table 3-2	Summary of study measures	
Table 4-1	Employees' profile (n=229)	
Table 4-2	Customers' profile (N=404)	
Table 4-3	Measures Assessed at the Employee Level	
Table 4-4	Measures Assessed at the Customer Level	
Table 4-5	Confirmatory Factor Analysis Result for Convergent and Discr	iminant
Analysi.	S	
Table 4-6	Reliability, AVE, Mean Standard Deviations, and Correlations	Between
the Vari	iables	137
Table 4-7	Hierarchical Linear Modeling (HLM3) Results: Relationship B	etween
Servant	Leadership, Employee Engagement, and Customer Outcomes	144
Table 4-8	Hierarchical Linear Modeling (HLM2) Results: Relationship B	etween
Servant	Leadership and Employee Engagement	144
Table 4-9	Sample Bootstrapping Result: Cross-level Indirect Effects of Se	rvant
Leaders	ship on Customer Satisfaction and Customer Engagement	146
Table 4-10	Results of Hypotheses	147

# List of Figures

Figure 2-1.	Distribution of establishments in districts and sub-districts	65
Figure 2-2.	Net Generalized Exchange (adopted from Bearman (1997))	72
Figure 2-3.	Chain Generalized Exchange (adopted from Bearman (1997))	72
Figure 2-4.	Multilevel Research Model	77
Figure 3-1.	Overview of the research design	96
Figure 3-2.	Restaurant Organization	102
Figure 4-1.	Multilevel Research Model Results	148

#### **Chapter 1: Introduction**

#### 1.1 Research Background

One of the most important and rapidly transforming keys in a modern organization is effective leadership, especially in a complex industry like hospitality, which faces growing competitive pressures. While effective leadership leads to successful organizations (Hannah et al., 2014; Mayer et al., 2008), it is not simple yet very crucial to find the right effective leadership styles to fit every organization with globally focused issues. Northouse (2016) explained, leadership doesn't happen in a vacuum; It exists uniquely and differently in the organization's mission, vision, core values, people, communication, behavior, culture, environment, change, and success or failure. The need to identify the most effective leadership style increased the interest to study and practice many styles at the organization level (Parris & Peachey, 2012). In results, numerous leadership theories have emerged to possibly alleviate organizational deficiencies in this area (e.g., leader-member exchange, transformational, authentic, transactional, spiritual, followership, and servant leadership (Northouse, 2016)). In the same realm, studies related to hospitality revealed that effective leadership can also remedy the forthcomings of restaurant work including hard long working hours, high turnover rates, and the dissatisfaction and disengagement among frontline employees (Koyuncu et al., 2014; Kusluvan et al., 2010).

Against this background, academics and practitioners have been trying to discover the most effective leadership style to meet not only the service organizational goals efficiently and effectively but also to keep the followers motivated and to serve their needs and all other stakeholders' (i.e., employees, customers, communities) (Brownell, 2010; Liden et al., 2008). Among these leadership studies, specifically for the hospitality industry, servant leadership is regarded as an effective leadership style (Brownell, 2010). Servant leaders commit to serving others first, ensuring the needs and growth of team members take priority over traditional power dynamics. The originator of this approach, Robert Greenleaf, theorized that the greatest leaders are those who serve first in order to create trust, empathy, and community (Coats, 2022; Yue, 2024). Servant leadership characteristics such as listening, empathy, healing, awareness and commitment to the growth of people, work together to improve both organizational culture and job satisfaction (Morris & Hurt, 2022).

Servant leadership is believed to improve collaboration and encourages followers to achieve service excellence, and also supports more morality-centered and inspirational self-reflection by leaders than other leadership styles (Brownell, 2010; Graham, 1991; Hunter et al., 2013; Maglione, 2022; Parris & Peachey, 2013b). In the practical world, adding to Bennett proposition that "Servant leaders practice leadership as hospitality" (Brownell, 2010, p. 368), the list of companies within the "100 Best Companies to Work For" that are practicing servant leadership and have it in its business core philosophy is increasing (e.g., Starbucks, Darden Restaurants, Chick-fil-A, Marriott International, Ritz Carlton, Kimpton Hotels & Restaurants) (Fortune, 2018) and therefore forcing more research in this area. As Starbucks included servant leadership in its organizational culture, Ritz Carlton and Marriott Hotels have implemented employee-oriented leadership and this is clear in their business mottos (i.e., Ritz motto: "We are Ladies and Gentlemen serving Ladies and Gentlemen" and Marriott motto: "Take care of the associates, the associates will take care of the guests, and the guests will come back again and again"). Hence, offering hospitality to their employees first then to their guests, organizations will be providing a fostering environment where such employees feel respected, rewarded, and encouraged to develop (King, 1995). The styles of leadership applied in such hospitality organization also have important implications on the service delivered.

Despite the promising progress of servant leadership study in the hospitality industry in the past years, empirical research linking servant leadership to employee and customer outcomes are still scant. Currently the servant leadership research is in a "third phase... model development phase" (Eva et al., 2019). The authors explained that in this phase more sophisticated research designs are being developed to go beyond the simple and dyadic leader-employee relationships with outcomes to understand not only the antecedents and the mediating effects, but also the boundary conditions relating all stakeholders of servant leadership (Eva et al., 2019).

The concept of servant leadership is now highly regarded in today's professional world and of particular importance is its application, which aims towards satisfying the wants of its employees and creating an enabling environment. This type of leadership advances the idea of serving other people and this is demonstrated to result in several benefits for workers and for companies. The studies available on servant leadership suggest that it is effective at enhancing employee well-being, Job satisfaction and organizational performance in a wide range of industries such as health and care, education, and business.

Servant leadership has emerged as a significant paradigm in organizational behavior, particularly within service-oriented industries such as hospitality. This leadership style prioritizes the needs of employees and emphasizes the importance of serving others, which in turn fosters a positive organizational culture and enhances employee engagement. The literature reveals a connection between servant leadership and various employee outcomes, including work engagement, job satisfaction, and organizational commitment. However, a direct connection between servant leadership and customers outcomes still very limited, which is very important to explore in a customer service oriented setting such as the hospitality industry. Therefore, this study further investigates how servant leadership affects employee engagement, which subsequently impacts customer outcomes like satisfaction and engagement, ultimately leading to organizational success..

#### **1.2 Problem Statement**

Leadership has been identified as a major element in the managerial roles of hospitality managers. New leadership behaviors views are currently in high demand for more people (employee, customer)-centered and ethical practices management (Van Dierendonck, 2011) to motivate the 21st-century workforce (Deloitte, 2015) specifically in hospitality firms seeking to distinguish themselves (Brownell, 2010). As a result, organizations are struggling to stay competitive (Luthans & Youssef, 2004) from both the demand and the supply side due to many challenges.

On the supply side, Goh and Lee (2018) explained that due to the increased number of businesses under different hospitality sectors such as airlines, hotels, restaurants, and others, the most essential problem is becoming not only the hiring of talented employees and leaders but also to retain them. Mainly, employees are losing trust in their leaders and have no appetite for ego-centric, self-centered leaders (Kellerman, 2013). At the same time, the ethical leader pool is shrinking, and many employees have little to no commitment to organizations (Luthans et al., 2015). All this lead to dissatisfied and disengaged employees therefore to high employee turnover which is still the most common problem the hospitality industry is suffering (Jang & Kandampully, 2018).

Moreover, attracting, maintaining, and motivating frontline hospitality staffs is a key role of successful operation (Nadiri & Tanova, 2010) but remains a big issue for hospitality organizations (Goh & Lee, 2018; Kusluvan et al., 2010). Additionally, Yavas et al. (2013) stated that the centered management style is an important source of frontline employees dissatisfaction. Increasing satisfaction alone is not the only challenge, frontline employees' disengagement in the workplace could have high impact on hospitality firms too. While engaged employees reported positive impact on the quality of their organization's products, positive affect customer service (Seijts & Crim, 2006), "85% of employees worldwide are not engaged or are actively disengaged in their job" (Gallup, 2017, p. 4). This Gallup research also mentioned that \$370 BILLION is the cost in the US economy annually from the lost productivity of actively disengaged employees. Similarly, Watson (2012) stated that only 35% of the global workforce is highly engaged. This same study suggested that leadership which shows sincere interest in employees' well-being and earns employees' trust and confidence is an important driver of sustainable engagement. These characteristics overlap with servant leadership.

Lastly, in time when some researchers provide new hospitality leadership competencies at the business, person, and people level (e.g., Models hospitality and service excellence, Acts in an ethical manner, Displays emotional intelligence, Develops others) (Shum et al., 2018), others start to shed light upon the dark side of leadership in hospitality (e.g., abusive supervision) and its association with subordinates' abusive behavior resulting in lower service quality and performance (Hon & Lu, 2016).

An important finding for the whole hospitality industry confirmed that servant leadership have a positive effect on satisfaction, commitment, engagement, and a negative effect on employee turnover intention (Ilkhanizadeh & Karatepe, 2018; Jang & Kandampully, 2018; Karatepe & Talebzadeh, 2016).

On the demand side, yet another problem, hospitality leaders must understand how their leadership would affect not only the attitudes their employees should have but also the outcomes on their customers in the workplace. According to Solnet et al. (2016), one of the key challenges in hospitality is the growing demand for customer experiences. As per the authors, more personalized and technology-oriented services are necessary with the rise of the customer expectations are raising.

Likewise, hospitality organizations with their leaders are competing among themselves to survive and reach their goal of keeping customers satisfied and engaged which leads to positive WOM and better organization's performance. Today more than ever, hospitality firms must strive to create a whole experience that lasts (Jani & Han, 2015) and connect with customers (Eisingerich et al., 2014) by engaging as representatives through employees (Palmatier et al., 2018). Keeping in mind that everyone in the organization is an actor and plays a role in creating the restaurant experience (Alexander et al., 2018). However the struggling of providing this experience in the restaurant business remains while Hackman and Wageman (2007, pp. 43-44) argue that the main questions for leadership research are as follow: "Under what conditions does leadership matter?" and "How do leaders' personal attributes interact with situational properties to shape outcomes?". In this regard, servant leadership has shown to positively affect customer value co-creation and service delivery, therefore leading to better customer experiences (Hsiao et al., 2015).

This uniqueness of servant leadership style makes it one of the leadership models that would allow the relationship between the employees and customers to occur and be tested in one model and could be employee- and customer-centered. By attempting to understand to what extent servant-led followers' engagement and customer outcomes are influenced by servant leadership; this study's purpose addresses the leader's problem facing organizations and their disengaged employees and customers.

#### 1.3 Rationale, Research Question and Objectives

Servant leaders make an impact beyond the organization or its members (Graham, 1991). This study aims to test a proposed multi-level model consisting of restaurant, employee, and customer-level of the servant leadership conceptual framework to identify the relationships among the employed research variables (i.e., Servant Leadership (SL), Employee Engagement (EE), Customer Satisfaction (CS), and Customer Engagement (CE) observed by Word-of-Mouth (WOM) and Willingness to Suggest (WTS)). The following is the rationale behind explaining the established relationships between the constructs at the three levels in the model (i.e., SL – CS – CE, SL – EE, SL – EE – CS, and SL – EE – CE):

At the employee level, more engaged employees impact customer satisfaction and drive financial and market performance (Barbera et al., 2009). More satisfied employees can maintain high service quality and increase customer loyalty (Arnett et al., 2002). Due to the known effect of EE on firm performance, tourism and hospitality scholars have attempted to either identify their antecedents (Kusluvan et al., 2010; Slåtten & Mehmetoglu, 2011) or related them with other variables (e.g., Tourism involvement, Turnover intention) in one model (Lu et al., 2016; Yeh, 2013). This current study, however, explores a factor that is new to the hospitality literature (Brownell, 2010): servant leadership, and its relation to employee engagement. Servant leadership showed a positive relationship to both employee engagement and employee satisfaction in some studies (Chung et al., 2010; Martin et al., 2017) and no effect in others (González & Garazo, 2006). Through the care, the needs satisfaction, and the empowerment provided by the leader, servant leadership, unsuspectingly, increases the work engagement level in hotel employees (Ling et al., 2017), yet no influence on flight attendants engagement (Karatepe & Talebzadeh, 2016). Therefore, this study is motivated by the inadequacy of the previous results reported in the existing literature on servant leadership theory to further research the true, direct, positive, and significant effect of SL on EE in hospitality organizations. Moreover, there have been no studies conducted to research the mediating effect of employee engagement between SL and customer satisfaction and customer engagement in the hospitality industry, particularly in casual mid-scale restaurant businesses. Added to that, while most of the SL empirical research on EE were conducted at the individual or team-level (De Clercq et al., 2014), this study considers the importance of its effects on EE at the management restaurant-level.

At the customer level, satisfaction is considered as one of the most critical factors influencing customers' future behavior, and has undergone extensive research as an organizational goal, especially in the highly competitive hospitality and tourism industry. Being in today's connected world, customer engagement behaviors (van Doorn et al., 2010) are also becoming very important. The originality of the current

study, however, is to set CS and CE as direct servant leadership outcomes and indirectly through EE respectively. It is not known if a leader in restaurant context directly affect the customer outcomes, but it is clear that front-line employees have effect on customer satisfaction through the service orientation and quality they provide (Kim, 2011). This creates a gap in the hospitality leadership literature that this thesis will address. Few recent attempts started to link servant leadership indirectly to customer outcomes in hair salon (Chen et al., 2015) and in hospital (Neubert et al., 2016). For instance, Guchait's contribution to the field advocates for the role of ethical leadership in developing employee customer-oriented behaviours. According to Guchait's systematic review, servant leadership can enhance service quality and customer satisfaction by creating a supportive work environment that facilitates employee prosocial behaviors toward their customers. Given that hospitality is one industry in which service quality affects customer satisfaction and long term loyalty, this becomes especially relevant. (Guchait et al., 2023). Relying on the servant leadership theory, the mid-scale casual restaurant setting, and the above mentioned promising studies, and in line with the latest proposition of Chon and Zoltan (2019), I argue that manager servant leaders have a direct influence on customer satisfaction and customer engagement in forms of WOM and WTS. The author propose that SL has a positive effect on customer outcome variables (i.e., satisfaction, engagement) through the mediation of employee-related variable (i.e., engagement). This study draws on the generalized exchange theory, GET to explain this mediation effects. In this regard, for leaders to have direct contact with the customers and for them to notice his/her presence, the restaurants chosen should have few hierarchy layers in their organization: Top management (e.g., Restaurant Manager), Middle Management (e.g., team/shift-leader/supervisor/headwaiter, and head chef), Front-line Employees (e.g., waiter/waitress, host/hostess, food runner, bartender, busser, cashier, expeditor, line/section chef, commis-chef). The findings will be the main substantial significance of this thesis. The scarce research in hospitality interacting SL, EE, CS, and CE reflects the importance of the definite reasons for this study to arise.

Based on the aforementioned rationale, this thesis focuses on the relationship between a well-established leadership trend started to be emphasized by service firms like hotels, restaurants, and very recently tourism (Tuan, 2018). The main research questions that guides this Ph.D. thesis are:

RQ1: Does servant leadership affect customers' satisfaction and engagement in the restaurant?

RQ2: What is the role of employee engagement in boosting customer dining experience?

In order to answer the above research questions, the research objectives are established and have been developed to:

- examine the direct effect of servant leadership at the restaurant level on customer outcomes in terms of satisfaction and engagement at the customer level.
- assess the direct effect of servant leadership on employee engagement at the employee level in the restaurant.
- investigate the indirect effect of servant leadership and the role of employee engagement in two directions:
  - a. The mediating effect of employee engagement between servant leadership and customer satisfaction.

b. The mediating effect of employee engagement between servant leadership and customer engagement.

In summary, the current study attempts to examine the direct effect of servant leadership on customer outcomes and employee engagement and investigate the mediating effect of employees' engagement. Based on 1) theories (Servant Leadership Theory (SL), Generalized Exchange Theory (GET)), 2) conceptual and empirical studies from extensive literature review related to servant leadership, satisfaction, and engagement, and 3) data evidence collected from the hospitality field (restaurants in Lebanon), this research will respond to the above research objectives.

#### 1.4 Research Significance

Research on the influence of servant leadership on both the employee attitudes and the customer outcomes in the hospitality industry addresses a gap in knowledge in the field of leadership. For, this study primarily aims to investigate the effect of servant leadership on employee engagement and on customer satisfaction and engagement in a restaurant service setting from the standpoint of employees and customers. The results associated with this study are believed to be relevant to both practitioners and scholars contributing theoretically and practically.

#### 1.4.1 Theoretical

Theoretically, three important contributions will be drawn from this thesis as explained in the following.

This study will *advance* the servant leadership literature and increase its indepth knowledge by drawing on the generalized exchange theory to understand the effect of manager servant leader behaviors on the employee engagement and customers' satisfaction and engagement. In other terms, the aim is to extend theory development on the processes underlying relationships between servant leadership and outcomes at the employee and customer levels, as well to contribute to the scarce research on the multi-level effects that unit-level variables have on individual responses. Therefore, this research adds up to the current third phase of servant leadership research literature, which is, according to Eva et al. (2019, p. 112), "the model development phase where more sophisticated research designs are being utilized to go beyond simple relationships with outcomes to understand the antecedents, mediating mechanisms, and boundary conditions of servant leadership."

Finding an association of servant leadership with employee engagement and, in turn, customer satisfaction and engagement, is a notable result. Identifying a key *mediating* factor in this relationship will *extend* and *increase the theoretical precision* of developing servant leadership theory. Servant leadership, as hypothesized broadly in the literature (Van Dierendonck, 2011) and conceptualized as mindset (Eva et al., 2019), is associated with a concern for those outside of the organization. This research will extend recent research that links servant leadership within an organization to the satisfaction of patients in hospitals (Neubert et al., 2016) and customers in hair salons (Chen et al., 2015) by finding that manager servant leadership has an association through restaurant employee engagement on the satisfaction and engagement of customers during their dining experience while employing the logic of the generalized exchange theory. Understanding factors influencing customer satisfaction and engagement is increasingly important given the restaurant performance, financial implications, and marketing expectations associated with restaurant experience (Liden, Wayne, et al., 2014). Results of this study will *expand* and *widen the knowledge base* of the servant leadership concept by introducing customer outcome construct (CE) and relying on the generalized exchange theory to explain its relation with servant-led manager behaviors and employee outcomes in restaurants. While marketing literature is introducing engagement over loyalty and satisfaction for employee and customer (Kumar & Pansari, 2014, 2016; Pansari & Kumar, 2017), it is also identifying the actors at different levels (organization, employee, and customer) (Alexander et al., 2018; Hollebeek & Andreassen, 2018; Vargo & Lusch, 2017) to cooperate and reciprocally exchange service and engage in creating value for the organization (Palmatier et al., 2018). Thus, indicating that the marketing activities in service organizations are no longer restricted to customers. Hospitality organizations such as restaurants must regard servant leaders and employees as internal customers, and customer as an "actor engagement" in an exchange that affect the experience.

#### 1.4.2 Empirical

The findings offer an *empirical contribution* as well by *testing* the effect that servant leadership has not only on the employees of a restaurant but also on the customers patronizing this restaurant. Very limited research has investigated the influence of servant leadership in restaurants on employee attitudinal outcomes and customer outcomes simultaneously (Gutierrez-Broncano et al., 2024; Liden, Wayne, et al., 2014). This study bridges the gap, which is necessary because servant leadership is a strategy for many hospitality firms to maintain core competencies (i.e., keeping employees and customers satisfied and engaged), and where most of the majority of the work performed by employees in restaurants is related to customers (Brownell, 2010). Likewise, marketing scholars initiated research to link customer engagement (CE) and employee engagement (EE) in one engagement framework (Kumar & Pansari, 2016). Additionally, In line with recent publications (e.g., Mittal et al., 2018), the present study combines consumer and marketing, organizational behavior, and human resource concepts in the research multi-level model, bringing about a *multidisciplinary contribution* to the understanding of servant leadership. Another empirical contribution is by *determining the degree* to which the variable employee engagement mediates the relationship between the two constructs, SL and CS on one side, and SL and CE on the other side.

#### 1.4.3 Methodological

Lastly, this thesis contributes to advance the hospitality literature in its *methodology design* through the data setting and the analytical approach.

1. Regarding the data setting, this thesis will be conducted in different population (Lebanon, Middle-East), treatment (Collection using multiple raters and organization of data), setting/context (mid-scale casual dining restaurants), and period of time strengthening the argument for examining the generalizability of servant leadership.

2. Then, according to the analytical approach, a multilevel method is used responding to the need of such hospitality research design to advance hospitality and tourism theories (Wong, 2017). Multilevel technique is not easy to apply concerning its requirements of constructing the conceptual model using multi-source data, the collection procedure at different levels, and the time and cost constraints. Yet, it is one of the methods which continues to advance the hospitality and tourism research through its application (Lee et al., 2017; Li et al., 2017). Similarly, hierarchical linear and multilevel modelling, received further attention in the leadership hospitality

literature (Ling et al., 2016; Tuan, 2018). Multilevel, a pragmatic method to innovate the hospitality research, is currently in high call for future hospitality and tourism publications (Olya et al., 2018). In line with the above, this thesis will use multilevel modeling to answer the research objectives and extensively investigate the complex phenomena at different levels (e.g., Level 1 = customer level; Level 2 = employee level; and Level 3 = restaurant level). While avoiding the ecological or atomic fallacies (i.e., treating components outside their real special context or analyzing aggregate data on the individual level) caused by single-level models (Snijders & Bosker, 2011), the cross-level perception presented in this thesis will describe how restaurant managers' servant leadership influences employee level and customer level.

#### 1.4.4 Managerial

This research addresses a call for investigating servant leadership in the hospitality context (Carter & Baghurst, 2014) by exploring servant leadership in a restaurant organization with few management layers (Liden, Panaccio, et al., 2014). In this context, our findings will point to the benefits of servant leadership for restaurant employees and the customers they serve. Given the purpose of the restaurant industry is two-fold, maintaining satisfied and more engaged employees which lead to lower employee turnover, higher service quality, and better performance, and ensuring guest satisfaction and engagement leading to loyalty and profitability. The findings will be encouraging in providing evidence of how servant leadership from leaders/managers is associated with customers' attitudes and behaviors directly and through front-line employee-customer contact.

For these reasons, promoting servant leadership in restaurants has great potential for contributing to restaurants fulfilling their purpose and reaching their goals related to customer outcomes and employee attitudes. Practically, servant leadership may be improved through training for current and future restaurant managers. These trainings should be followed by the right way of evaluating the behaviors showing servant leadership. The results will also have relevant practical implications for companies particularly a service organization like a hotel or restaurant. First, promoting servant leadership as human resource practices is crucial to develop an empowering and employee-centered caring environment that satisfies the needs of the followers will foster their satisfaction and increase the level of their engagement and will enhance the customer experience thus the organization profitability. In addition, human resource development professionals should make sure to align the practices like recruitment, training, reward system, and others with the servant leadership style. Employees who interact with customers daily including the manager also contribute to the customers' experience, attitudes, and behaviors. Finally, effective management implementing servant leadership in its organization should always motivate to keep employees engaged to guarantee future service competitiveness and increase the level of satisfaction and engagement of their customers in the restaurant through word-of-mouth beyond the visit.

#### 1.5 Thesis Structure

The thesis's core body contains five chapters. Chapter 1 presents the background of the research, states the problem leading to conduct this thesis, proposes the research question to be responded, provides the main objectives, and before

explaining the study significance and value, this chapter also introduces the research hypotheses and the conceptual multilevel model.

Chapter 2 offers a literature review of the relevant concepts, including servant leadership, employee attitudes (i.e., satisfaction and engagement), and customer outcomes (i.e., satisfaction and engagement); it also expounds the relationships among these pertinent concepts based on the existing literature. Likewise, chapter 2 reviews the theoretical foundations of the study (i.e., Servant Leadership Theory) to study the relationships among these related concepts from a wider perspective. Furthermore, the same chapter briefly summarizes the theoretical basis for the research (i.e., Generalized Exchange Theory and Service-Profit Chain Theory) and then derives the conceptual framework, which leads the research methods and data collection. Subsequently, the research hypotheses are proposed based on these theories and the reviewed literature.

Chapter 3 explains the methodology used in this research. To address the research question, the most applicable method is a quantitative multi-level approach. The scales of the all the constructs are adopted from previous research, which is expatiated in the same chapter 3. Likert scale is used to build the items and design the questionnaire to measure different variables. Chapter 3 also describes the process of data collection and data analysis, including the approaches to test the hypotheses.

Chapter 4 describes the pilot study which will be conducted in Lebanon to enhance the reliability, validity, and readability of the measurement scales then the data while testing the content validity and reliability of the main survey instrument. The multi-level analysis (i.e., Inter-rater agreement, ICC) and confirmatory factor analyses (CFAs) are carried out to clarify the aggregation and to identify the best fit models. It also provides the results of the final survey and discusses in detail the findings from the Hierarchical Linear Modeling (HLM).

Chapter 5 amplifies the overall discussions on the findings, along with the implications of the research for the human resource management and restaurant management and the theoretical contributions of this servant leadership study. This chapter also presents the limitations of the research and suggestions for future research.

#### **1.6 Definition of Terms**

Throughout the dissertation, the definitions of the following selected terms used for the purpose of this study are given below.

"Servant Leadership":

Since its introduction in 1970, many scholars tried to provide a flexible description of how the servant leaders behave with the followers and what, why, and how servant leadership is defined (Greenleaf, 1970, 1977). This thesis will be using a recent new definition of servant leadership (Eva et al., 2019, p. 114):

"Servant leadership is an (1) other-oriented approach to leadership (2) manifested through one-on-one prioritizing of follower individual needs and interests, (3) and outward reorienting of their concern for self towards concern for others within the organization and the larger community."

"Employee Engagement":

In this study, we adopt Schaufeli et al.'s (2002) definition of EE which has received increase attention in hospitality research in the recent years. The authors defined employee engagement as the status of the mind of the employees related positively to their work and which comprises the three characteristics: vigor, dedication, and absorption (Schaufeli et al., 2002).

"Customer Satisfaction":

Following the author literature, customer satisfaction for this thesis is based on the definition of satisfaction in his book (Oliver, 2014, p. 8):

"Satisfaction is the consumer's fulfillment response. It is a judgment that a product/service feature, or the product or service itself, provided (or is providing) a pleasurable level of consumption-related fulfillment, including levels of under- or over-fulfillment."

"Customer Engagement":

For the purpose of the research objectives, the following customer engagement definition by van Doorn et al. (2010, p. 254) is regarded in this study:

"Customers' behavioral manifestation toward a brand or firm, beyond purchase, resulting from motivational drivers such as word-of-mouth activity, recommendations, helping other customers, blogging, writing reviews."

#### **Chapter 2: Literature Review**

#### 2.1 Introduction

An overview of the main concepts of the study, including servant leadership, employee engagement, customer satisfaction and customer engagement, is provided in this chapter. The relationships among these pertinent concepts are also developed based on the existing literature. Fundamental theories, namely, servant leadership theory (SL) and generalized exchange theory (GET), are also discussed. The conceptual model for this study is derived, and hypotheses are proposed based on the literature reviewed and the two fundamental theories.

First, an overview on the history and different theories leadership is explained in Section 2.2 then the concept of servant leadership is reviewed in the leadership and the hospitality field in Section 2.3. Although the servant leadership concept was first introduced by Greenleaf in the 1970s, it is no earlier than 1991 that it has been given attention in the literature and was related with the issues such as leadership styles (Graham, 1991). Its origin and development are explained in Section 2.3.1 and 2.3.2. The characteristics of servant leadership which, after and based on the work of Greenleaf, were originally presented by Spears (1996) may include listening, healing, conceptualization, commitment to the growth of people (see Section 2.3.4). In the same section, additional behavioral researchers who provided other characteristics and measurement work of servant leadership are also revised. One of the most exciting parts of the servant leadership effort today is the new research on servant leadership, in hospitality or other industries, that is being conducted by many scholars. Section 2.3.5 provides highlights of the scientific research done in the leadership literature. Then the last Section 2.3.6 reviews what have been done in the hospitality servant leadership research. Furthermore, Section 2.5 describes the restaurant industry in general and in Lebanon context.

Second, this chapter in its Sections 2.6.1 through 2.6.3 review the theoretical foundations of the study (i.e., Servant Leadership Theory and Generalized Exchange Theory) to understand the relationships among the related concepts from a wider perspective. Then the conceptual framework is derived, which leads the research methods and data collection.

At last, drawing on the explained concepts, theories, and the reviewed literature, strong argument and relationships are supported and the research hypotheses are proposed (see Section 2.7). Most of the literature was a review of scholarly from peer-reviewed articles, journals, dissertations, and books utilizing The Hong Kong Polytechnic University library databases and resources, EBSCO Host, ProQuest, and Google Scholar.

#### 2.2 Leadership

#### 2.2.1 History and Theories

Leadership is the ability to mobilize and influence others to do something (Cheung et al., 2018) and therefore it highly affects the performance of the group and the has an important role in organizations and their operations. Northouse (2016) gave a simple yet specific definition of leadership as a process whereby the group of individuals is influenced by the leader and together work to attain a mutual goal. He acknowledges also that leadership is a topic of interest and important area of study, formally started in the past century and still lacks understanding and agreement universally (Northouse, 2016). The study of leadership has evolved during the past

century with continuously increasing interest in the leadership research. The leading scholarly journal, The Leadership Quarterly, which is started in 1990 by Bernard Bass, has contributed over 800 manuscripts to the topic of leadership (Dionne et al., 2014). This topic has been one of the most taught subjects at business schools throughout the United States and the world during the last fifty years (Collinson & Tourish, 2015).

Leadership, even in its most basic form, existed and continued within civilizations since the first family unit, clan, village, and other controlled groups that came into existence. Early Phoenicians civilizations contributed to the world in several matters including navigational techniques, advanced glass making, and the phonetic alphabet (Allio, 2012). The Greeks and Romans for example introduced or thought of the democratic type of government, architecture, aqueducts, calendar, the arts, the census and countless other contributions (Gore & Clark, 2004). The entrepreneurial effort and accomplishments of many ancient societies are evidence of the existence of some form of organized leadership and the continual advancement of leadership throughout history.

During the last century, leadership has progressed from a practice, or something doable by people, to a defined process of research that has produced several leadership theories and types (Dionne et al., 2014; Northouse, 2016). The studies on leadership conducted by the University of Iowa in the 1930s focused on identifying what was assumed to be the best leadership practice (Bhatti et al., 2012). The research conducted by Kurt Lewin at that time led to identify that the three core leadership practices are laissez-faire, democratic, and autocratic. The laissez-faire leader is considered to be somebody who relinquishes control and responsibility to others, while the autocratic leader preserves a controlled environment, centered-oriented decision-making, dictatorial system of workplace that limits the followers' participation (Bhatti et al., 2012). The democratic leadership style was related to effectively boost positive employee attitudes and morale, which was accomplished through cooperating with followers, delegation, and participation (Smothers, 2011).

Leadership research in the 1940s and 1950s by Ohio State Leadership Studies identified problems associated with organizations, groups, and the role of followers related to leadership. During this research observations were made about a movement developed shifting from the authoritarian leadership practices towards a transactional style approach (Omilion-Hodges & Wieland, 2016). Additionally, The Ohio State studies presented two main features of leadership namely: initiating of structure and consideration (Rowold, 2011). While both have impact on organizational goals and effective in performance and profitability, the former is related to the ability of the leader to initiate structure for followers within the organization and their responsibilities, the later impacted meeting follower's relationships and needs, encouraged positive aspects such as respect, open communication, and trust between the followers and leaders (Rowold, 2011).

Later in the 1960s, the University of Michigan conducted studies by Likert for the purpose to establish leadership effectiveness and this research produced production centered and employee-centered types of behavior-orientated leadership styles (Ayman & Korabik, 2010; Gregoire & Arendt, 2014; Northouse, 2016). Production-centered leaders focused on technical aspects whereas employee-centered leaders focused on relationships. Leaders who focused on employees had higher rates of group performance and job satisfaction. Leaders who focused on production resulted in low satisfaction and production (Gregoire & Arendt, 2014; Yukl, 2013).

Each leadership theory has been built upon the other. The business environment has been changed globally same as the knowledge of leadership which
has expanded over time and evolved to meet these changes and will continue to generate valued research. In the same vein, a new phenomenon has emerged relying on the followers and their impact on the success of the organizational leadership (Allio, 2012). The follower is not the same, a modern one knows about recent technology who at the same time has increased power, knowledge, and given more empowerment to be involved in all aspect of their specialization within their organization (Allio, 2012; Carter, 2013). The whole organizational environment has been changed. In addition to the followers, leaders' role of leadership is no longer passive or the same; they are now required to guide and direct the followers to develop and maintain their skills to implement and sustain market performance and relationships with customers, colleagues, and suppliers and even society (Allio, 2012; Carter, 2013).

Today employees are at the cliff of a new place of work. Employees will not just follow blindly, obey orders, and operate with absolute loyalty. The majority of today's employees search meaning in their jobs, as well as many other aspects of their life. Spears (2010) described that we are moving away from the traditional autocratic leadership model to a more participatory model in which decision-making is shared. Continuing to move away from traditional hierarchical modes of leadership, a more caring, ethical, and participatory method of leadership emerges. While being not a new leadership theory (Northouse, 2016), servant leadership may be a theory of this present time.

Under this section seven of the known leadership approach are explained below and later servant leadership in the following section 2.3 of this chapter.

# 2.2.2 Trait Approach

The trait theory of leadership began with the great man theory of the early 20<sup>th</sup> century, in which researchers attempted to determine if historically renowned leaders shared a specific set of characteristics (Northouse, 2016). The central tenant of the trait approach was that an individual must be born with the correct qualities in order to be an effective leader. Stogdill (1948) reviewed the literature related to the traits of effective leaders and identified that intelligence, alertness, insight, responsibility, initiative, persistence, self-confidence, and sociability were some dominant traits and were varied by context. Mann (1959) on the other hand focused on the personality traits of successful leaders and added adjustment, extroversion, dominance, masculinity, and interpersonal sensitivity to the list. Another study conducted by Stogdill (1974) also added achievement, tolerance, and cooperativeness to the traits list. The social factors found to influence the effectiveness of the individual traits (Zaccaro, 2007). This trait theory didn't consider the leader-follower interactions (Northouse, 2016) opening the way to the behavioral leadership research.

#### 2.2.3 Skills Approach

Skills are attributes that can be developed in order to improve leadership as opposed to traits which are innate and do not change. The three-skill approach proposed that the determinants for leadership were technical, human, and conceptual skills (Katz, 1955). Katz defined technical skills as relating to specific jobs, human skills involve working with people, and conceptual skills working with ideas. The level of every skill defer between management hierarchy (Northouse, 2016).

### 2.2.4 Behavioral Approach

During the late 1940s, there was a transition from trait theory toward behavior types of leadership. In the 1930s, the University of Iowa conducted a study of leadership that identified laissez-faire, democratic, and authoritarian as categories of leadership behavior (Bhatti et al., 2012).

Laissez-faire behavior was considered by many to be a negative approach to leadership utilizing a hands-off approach which intent to empower and delegate responsibility that would achieve an organizations' objectives. Democratic behavior was a method by which there was communication with followers who were included in the decision-making process. Authoritarian behavior was a method by which followers were given direct task by a leader and the expectation was for followers to do as instructed (Northouse, 2016).

#### 2.2.5 Situational Approach

The situational leadership theory was developed in the 1960s by Blanchard based on a concept that different situations would require varying responses (Blanchard & Hersey, 1996). The theory suggested that leaders had to adapt their leadership approach based on the level of individual follower development. The theory further suggested that based on the maturity level of followers, the leader should match the appropriate decision-making style, either delegating, participating, telling, or selling, to the followers' particular skill level (Northouse, 2016). Furthermore, the study of Stogdill (1974) suggested that while leaders may have shared common traits, it was their ability to adapt to situations and apply appropriate and different leadership styles in response to the situations, which in turn would produce desired results (Northouse, 2016).

### 2.2.6 Path-Goal Theory

In the path-goal model of leadership, the leader defines goals, clarifies the path, removes obstacles, and provides support as motivational factors for an employee toward a goal (House, 1996). In addition to meeting leader and follower goals, the use of path-goal leadership was intended to meet organizational goals (Yukl, 2013). Path-Goal is a behavioral or situational theory that blends elements of leader behaviors, characteristics of followers, and situations (Northouse, 2016). Path-Goal theory was developed to create an understanding of how to analyze, predict, and influence the behavior of followers (Northouse, 2016).

# 2.2.7 Leader-Member Exchange Theory

The leader-member exchange theory (LMX) moved from examining the traits or behaviors of the leader or the follower to focusing on the relationship between the leader and follower. Initially known as the vertical dyad linkage (VDL) the LMX theory separated a leader's relationship with followers into an in-group and an outgroup (Dansereau Jr et al., 1975). The in-group is willing to provide additional effort for the leader but also receives additional rewards and communication while the outgroup is transactional in that members produce standard results for standard compensation (Dansereau Jr et al., 1975). More recently LMX theory has focused on developing and increasing the effectiveness of leaders (Northouse, 2016). Accordingly, a leader should offer in-group status to all subordinates through actions that advance the leadership-follower relationship to a partnership in which full communication has been reached (Northouse, 2016).

### 2.2.8 Transformational Leadership

Transformational leadership is considered to be the most researched, studied, and possibly most practiced leadership theory of the past forty years (Dionne et al., 2014). Developed by James MacGregor in the 1970s Transformational leadership is defined as a method where leaders in a sense transformed themselves, and through changes in their behaviors and actions connected and interacted with their followers creating higher levels of motivation, morality and ultimately performance outcomes (Allio, 2012; Northouse, 2016).

Northouse (2016) stated that the principle theory of transformational leadership is the role that leadership is concerned with the transformation of organizations. Transformational leaders possess a distinguishing characteristic setting them apart from other leadership theories. Transformational leaders focus on traditional and hierarchical positions of power best suited for their operating environment and are engaged in self-focused concepts such as self-esteem, self-confidence, and self-efficacy (Schuh et al., 2013). Moreover, transformational leaders are individuals who enable an environment of continual learning while engaging in the recruitment and grooming of followers, and providing environments that promote a shared vision toward the organization's success (Northouse, 2016).

### 2.2.9 Servant Leadership for this Study

The leader under servant leadership approach is servant first, placing the emotional support and assisting the followers in their self-development and wellbeing who in turn see him/her a role model and display, freely not through power, appropriate behaviors (Greenleaf, 1970). Although other approaches to leadership, like transformational leadership, empowering leadership, and charismatic leadership, include supporting followers, servant leadership is unique as it has strong emphasis on leading by serving followers (Liden, Wayne, et al., 2014) and not only connecting to them. Added to that, due to its distinctive nature, motivation to serve first then lead by choice, servant leadership has exclusive relations with particular follower outcomes (i.e., employees and customers), even though it shares some similarities with other positive forms of leadership (Neubert et al., 2008; van Dierendonck et al., 2014). To elaborate on the differences between servant leadership and some other leadership styles as mentioned above that share some similar characteristics, it worth noting that some studies in the literature use them as control factor interchangeably.

While these leadership styles share some common characteristics, they also have distinct emphases and approaches. Servant leadership stands out by placing the primary focus on the well-being and growth of followers (Greenleaf, 1977), while transformational leadership emphasizes inspiring change and achieving high performance (Bass & Riggio, 2006). Empowering leadership centres on delegating authority and fostering employee autonomy, while charismatic leadership relies on the leader's personal charisma and vision to captivate and engage followers (Northouse, 2016). Furthermore, servant leadership focus on serving the needs of the followers and emphasising empathy and selflessness grounded in humility. Another major difference between servant leadership and some other leadership styles mentioned earlier: transformational leadership, empowering leadership, and charismatic leadership is the conceptualization skills where the leader balance between the long-term goals and day-to-day operations (Spears, 2010). This characteristic reflects the leader's competency in solving work problems and understanding the organization's goals. Moreover, the suitability of each style depends on the organizational context, values, and goals. However, in term of organisational structure, servant leadership is well-suited for flat organizational structures, as the one chosen for this study, where collaboration and shared decision-making are emphasized.

Table 2.1 below provides a clear comparison of many specified aspects between each pair of leadership styles (i.e., servant leadership, transformational leadership, empowering leadership, and charismatic leadership).

### Table 2-1Comparison between Servant Leadership and Other Styles.

Aspect	Servant Leadership	Transformational Leadership
Focus	Emphasizes serving the needs of followers, fostering their growth and well-being.	Focuses on inspiring and motivating followers to achieve exceptional performance by appealing to their higher ideals.
Orientation	Primarily revolves around the well-being of followers and their development.	Revolves around creating a shared vision and inspiring change in followers.
Leadership Approach	Grounded in humility, empathy, and service to others.	Involves charisma, vision, and inspiration to drive change.
Outcome	Aims for followers' personal growth, development, and well-being.	Strives for enhanced performance and realization of a compelling vision.

Aspect Servant Leadership

# **Empowering Leadership**

Focus	Focuses on serving followers and their holistic development.	Focuses on delegating authority and fostering employee autonomy.
Approach to Authority	Involves using authority to support and enable followers' growth.	Involves delegating authority to encourage decision-making at various levels.
Influence Mechanism	Leverages support and guidance to help followers reach their potential.	Leverages trust and autonomy to encourage self-efficacy and initiative.

# Aspect Servant Leadership

**Charismatic Leadership** 

Focus	Puts followers' needs and well-being at the forefront.	Relies on the leader's personal charm and vision.
Connection with Followers	Connects through empathy and active support.	Connects through personal charisma and emotional appeal.
Source of Influence	Influence stems from serving and supporting followers' growth.	Influence comes from the leader's compelling personality and vision.
Long-Term Relationship	Focuses on sustaining long-term, caring relationships with followers.	Often centers on short-term inspiration and emotional impact.

In summary, while these leadership styles share some common attributes, their focal points, approaches to influence, and intended outcomes vary significantly. Servant leadership uniquely centers on serving and developing followers, while transformational leadership focuses on inspiring change, empowering leadership emphasizes autonomy, and charismatic leadership relies on the leader's personal charisma and vision. As mentioned, the choice of leadership style should align with the organization's values, goals, and the type of relationship desired between leaders and followers.

Referring to the literature, servant leadership proved to explain variability above and beyond many other leadership types when they are controlled. Such as, after creating a newly measure for servant leadership, Liden et al. (2008) explained the impact of servant leadership on employee commitment, performance, and citizenship behavior in an organization. This influence remains significant even when we statistically account for the effects of transformational leadership and leadermember exchange (LMX). In another study, servant leadership was responsible for an additional 10% of the variation in team performance, surpassing the impact of transformational leadership (Schaubroeck et al., 2011). Furthermore, researchers demonstrated that servant leadership has positive effect on employees' self-efficacy and group identification, leading to their service performance even after controlling the positive influence of transformational leadership (Chen et al., 2015).

Last but not least, Ling et al. (2017) compared the effectiveness of servant versus authentic leadership in hotel sector by examining relationships with grouplevel trust climate and individual-level organizational commitment, work engagement, and work performance. Interestingly, servant leadership, in comparison with authentic leadership, shows a more significant effect on creating a trust climate and a more direct effect regarding increasing employees' positive work attitudes including organizational commitment and work engagement, ultimately influencing work performance. This explanation of important outcomes beyond the two dominant leadership approaches, namely transformational and LMX, in addition to authentic leadership pleads an explanation for *how* servant leadership influences employee attitudes and uniquely customer outcomes. Nonetheless, owing to the unpredictable and conceptual aspects of customer service along with the unique traits of the hospitality sector, the researcher conducting this research expects that servant leadership might exert a more pronounced influence on employees' dispositions in contrast to alternative leadership approaches. This expectation primarily arises from the distinctive developmental, introspective, and benevolent aspects inherent in servant leadership, which are notably absent in other prevailing leadership theories. In line with the literature on understanding of how servant leader behaviors promote positive outcomes (Hsiao et al., 2015; Huang et al., 2016; Ilkhanizadeh & Karatepe, 2018; Liden, Wayne, et al., 2014; Ling et al., 2016; Tuan, 2018), the main purpose of this study is to continue the drive on servant leadership research.

## 2.3 Servant Leadership

The concept of a leader who places the needs of the follower before those of the organization seems counter-intuitive among businesses which survive to maximize their profit and increase the stock worth. Why would a corporation want a servant leader when the needs of the organization are not primarily? Although many scholars have claimed that the drive of a for-profit business is only profit, moving from short-term to long-term thought for the better and the good of the society has been a demand and an interest from academics (Friedman, 2007; Schlossberger, 1994). Corporate social responsibility and sustainability are practices in business looking for a long-term interest of all stakeholders. In this manner, the long-term growth and development of employees is a priority of servant leadership (Greenleaf, 1970). This section reviews both the historical and the modern origin of servant leadership then the development and definition for the basis of this thesis. Later on the characteristics and research highlights of servant leadership will be reviewed.

### 2.3.1 Origin

On one hand, historical roots of servant leadership predated the ideas of Greenleaf (1970). The concept he proposed in which the leader places the follower first was adopted long before his modern concepts related to SL. The principles of servant leadership have been examined in the Bible by theologians and other researchers (Blanchard & Hodges, 2005; Sendjaya & Sarros, 2002). Several examples of leaders who believed to serve their followers and linked the same concepts deliberated by Greenleaf were found in the Bible (Barbuto Jr & Wheeler, 2006). Referring to his teachings to the disciples, who are considered the followers, which

includes: treating each other with love, being humble when communicating with the least privileged in society, and becoming elevated only by serving first, Jesus Christ, was the most notable of the servant leaders in the Bible (Blanchard & Hodges, 2005). In the study of Greenleaf's model of SL, scholars have developed SL models with a biblical basis by referencing biblical principles (Page & Wong, 2000; Sendjaya et al., 2008). In addition to Christianity as religion to espouse leaders who serve, a study by Wallace (2007) on servant leadership worldview provided examples of servant leadership features found in all five major religions: Christianity, Buddhism, Hinduism, Islam, and Judaism. The same author also showed some examples of disagreement between the five major religions and SL.

On the other hand, the modern servant leadership was originated by Robert K. Greenleaf (1970) himself in his essay "The Servant as Leader". From a worker as a crew of the construction line to management research head in American Telephone and Telegraph (AT&T), Greenleaf served around 45 years before retirement. The essay written by Greenleaf was influenced by the reflection on those career years and was inspired by the Hesse's (1956) spiritual pilgrimage story, *Journey to the East*. The mentioned story is a short novel written Hermann Hesse, a German author. It was first published in German in 1932. In this story, the narrator called H.H. becomes himself a member of a group including fictional and real characters named "The League". In search of the ultimate truth, a branch of men of this group goes on a mythical pilgrimage journey to "the East". The storyteller tells of traveling across geography imaginary and real, through both time and space. Leo, described as a simple servant, happy, pleasant, handsome, and beloved by everyone, does the basic chores for them and tolerates them with his spirit and songs. When the journey faces a crisis in a deep mountain, as Leo, the servant, disappears, the group fall into anxiety

and argument. The journey seems out of control. They cannot pass it without Leo, the group disbands in disagreement and bickering after his disappearance and even blaming him for the ultimate collapse of the group and failure of the Journey. H.H. considers the League no longer exists and he has lost contact with the group but tries to locate Leo. Some years later, the narrator, one of the members of the group, finds Leo and to his surprise, Leo, first known as servant, turns out to be actually the Head of the League, spiritually guiding it, a noble and great leader. The structure of the essay "The Servant as Leader" became the conceptual foundation for the servant leadership model. Greenleaf (2009) suggested a paradigm shift in large organizations that would involve the commitment of workers to only serve following servant leaders and therefore reshape management and leadership methods from the employee upward. Additionally, he proposed that individual leaders should develop and nurture the trust of the followers and no longer rely on the coercive power deeply embedded in firms.

# 2.3.2 Development

Robert Greenleaf developed and introduced servant leadership in the 1970 in his essay "The Servant as Leader". In his writing he identified the servant leaders who want to serve first and help others, and consciously choose to lead (Greenleaf, 1970). The followers are being served by the servant leader in a way that enables them to be freer, healthier, wiser, more independent, and eventually being servants themselves (Greenleaf, 1970). In addition, based on the original writings of Greenleaf, Spears (2010) defined ten characteristics that he viewed as the central in developing servant leaders. The characteristics are: commitment to the growth of people, listening, foresight, awareness, conceptualization, empathy, healing, persuasion, building community, and stewardship (Spears, 2010).

In review of the servant leadership research, three phases can be recognized. The first phase of the servant leadership research concentrated on the conceptual development primarily based on the works of both Spears (1996) and Greenleaf (1977). The second is the measurement and testing phase where most of the research has been done on developing measures of servant leadership and testing the relationships between servant leadership and outcomes being in the same or in different studies via cross-sectional research (Barbuto Jr & Wheeler, 2006; Ehrhart, 2004; Laub, 2003; Liden et al., 2015; Liden et al., 2008; Lytle et al., 1998; Reed et al., 2011; Sendjaya et al., 2017; Sendjaya et al., 2008). The measures of servant leadership are currently 16 according to recent systematic literature review conducted by Eva et al. (2019). At present research of servant leadership is in third phase. It is the model development phase. At this stage, more sophisticated study designs are being employed to understand more the relationship between the outcomes, the antecedents, mediating and moderating mechanisms, and external boundaries of servant leadership (Liden, Wayne, et al., 2014; Tuan, 2018). In general, findings of most systematic literature reviews studies on servant leadership indicated that it has been researched internationally across many countries, measured by different instruments, and tested on the individual, team, and organizational levels (Coetzer et al., 2017; Eva et al., 2019). Eva and her colleagues for example found that among 39 countries the majority of the empirical research that has been conducted on servant leadership are coming from North America (44%) and China (Eva et al., 2019). Moreover, while many decades of research resulted in the advancement of the theory of servant leadership, there is still no consensus to date on the definition,

characteristics, and measurement of servant leadership (Coetzer et al., 2017). The field lacks clarity and coherence (Eva et al., 2019).

Changes continued in society and many businesses during the past century resulted in shift from the previously traditional attitudes concerning autocratic models and hierarchical styles of leadership towards Greenleaf's approach of servant leadership (Avolio et al., 2009; Spears, 2010).

During recent years, executives of many corporations are considered unethical, untrustworthy, and corrupt in the United States (Porter, 2012). Moreover many corporations struggling to gain people trust rating due to unethical scandals and therefore looking to leaders upholding morals and selfless (Porter, 2012; Van Dierendonck, 2011). While servant leadership could be the foundation of such leaders with high values, moral, and humble, executives of some successful companies like Starbucks, Southwest Airlines, Whole Foods, and Best Buy displayed characteristics of servant leadership (Hess, 2013). Similarly, in the hospitality industry the SL practices of executives positively influenced organizational performance and public opinion (Huang et al., 2016). Although the field of servant leadership has demonstrated progress in the last two decades, the research of this type of leadership will continue to move forward and offer more significant insights to this field in the coming years.

# 2.3.3 Definition

Even though servant leadership was introduced approximately four decades ago and empirical studies on the topic began over 15 years ago, (Laub, 1999, 2003; Lytle et al., 1998), there is still no unification or agreement on the definition of servant

leadership neither widely accepted (Neubert et al., 2016; Van Dierendonck, 2011). Servant Leadership would not be easy to apply and operationalize as Greenleaf (1977) predicted and left the readers to reflect and develop (Spears, 1996). In fact, Block put it right when he addressed Greenleaf at the 2005 International Servant Leadership conference: "... You've held on to the spirit of servant-leadership, you've kept it vague and undefinable.... People can come back every year to figure out what the hell it is..." (Block, 2005, p. 55). This takes us back to the introduction of the concept of servant leadership by Greenleaf, who did not provide us an empirically validated definition of it. Consequently, researchers and scholars began to come up with their own definitions of servant leadership and even models, to a lesser or greater degree inspired by the work of Greenleaf. This has brought in many interpretations of the concept of servant leadership, demonstrating a wide range of behaviors (e.g.,Laub, 1999; Liden et al., 2008; Russell & Gregory, 2002; Sendjaya et al., 2008; Spears, 1996). Moreover, all researchers tried to provide a flexible description of how the servant leaders behave with the followers and what, why, and how servant leadership is defined. They are all based on the original definition which Robert Greenleaf first coined in the servant leadership essay as follows (Greenleaf, 1970, p. 6; 1977):

"The servant-leader is servant first. It begins with the natural feeling that one wants to serve, to serve first. Then conscious choice brings one to aspire to lead. The difference manifests itself in the care taken by the servant-first to make sure that other people's highest priority needs are being served. The best test, and difficult to administer, is this: Do those served grow as persons? Do they, while being served, become healthier, wiser, freer, more autonomous, more likely themselves to become servants? And, what is the effect on the least privileged in society? Will they benefit or at least not be further deprived?" However, after claiming that the above mentioned Greenleaf's definition is somehow not sufficient for directing an empirical research, the authors of a recent study provided a new definition of servant leadership (Eva et al., 2019):

"Servant leadership is an (1) other-oriented approach to leadership (2) manifested through one-on-one prioritizing of follower individual needs and interests, (3) and outward reorienting of their concern for self towards concern for others within the organization and the larger community."

For this study the recent definition of servant leadership by Eva et al. (2019) will be used. With reference to the initial quote on servant leadership by Greenleaf as a vital foundation, Eva and her colleagues based the definition on three features: motive, mode, and mindset. Therefore, this conceptualization of servant leadership explains the essence of it and could be empirically applied to reach the research objectives of this study.

# 2.3.4 Characteristics

Robert Greenleaf, the behavioral, initiated the concept of servant leadership and supported it by combining a test and a sequences of leadership ideologies in order to provide the foundational elements of servant leadership. On one hand, Greenleaf first explained clearly the motivation of the servant leader as the desire to serve and it is innate while leadership is considered a choice (Greenleaf, 1970). A servant leader was described in what he stated to as the "best test" for servant leadership which is also served as the main emphasize of writing "The Servant as Leader". Greenleaf specified that "*The best test, and difficult to administer, is this: Do those served grow as persons? Do they, while being served, become healthier, wiser, freer, more autonomous, more likely themselves to become servants? And, what is the effect on*  the least privileged in society? Will they benefit or at least not be further deprived?" (p. 6). Spears (2010) on the other hand, who worked as the president and CEO of the "Robert K. Greenleaf Center for Servant Leadership" from 1990-2007, clarified further the concepts of servant leadership provided in Robert Greenleaf's essays. In this matter, he identified ten characteristics which he believed they were "as being of critical importance—central to the development of servant-leaders" (p. 27).

The following sections describe each characteristic: listening, empathy, healing, awareness, persuasion, conceptualization, foresight, stewardship, commitment to the growth of people, and building community.

#### Listening

Listening was the first concept mentioned by Greenleaf (1970). The discipline to learn to listen is sufficient to respond to any problem to be solved by a true servant as a leader. Listening first before speaking is essential to become a servant leader who naturally has the ability to listen receptively to the verbal and non-verbal communication. According to Spears (2010), the servant leader communicates by deeply listening intently to the followers as well as to his/her inner voice. He added that this skill of listening is vital for the well-being and the growth of the servant leader if associated time to assess the value of words and periods of reflection.

# Empathy

The servant leaders are likely to be trusted when they fully accept and empathize the followers regardless of their differences as persons. Through empathy a servant leader should never reject any person in case of performance appraisal or correcting behavior. Greenleaf added that a servant leader must be also willing to accept imperfection and through his/her wise leadership anyone could achieve greatness (Greenleaf, 1970). Moreover, the most prosperous servant leaders are those capable to become empathetic listeners (Spears, 2010).

# Healing

Following Greenleaf's understanding concept, Spears's comprised healing in his servant leadership characteristics. He referred to the healing characteristic as being for the leader's self and his/her relationship to others and as "one of the great strengths of servant leadership" (p. 27). The healing should address and understand the emotional hurts suffered by many individuals which result in "broken spirits" (p. 27).

#### Awareness

Greenleaf (1970) included that leaders must have the capacity to adapt to and process a wide range of information and this would permit the leader to tolerate stress and build confidence through an increased understanding of an uncertain internal and external environment. Spears (2010) described this characteristic as the servant leader's ability to understand issues relating to values, power, and ethics. Being generally- and self-aware will add strengths to this leader.

### Persuasion

The concept of persuasion is illustrated by Greenleaf (1970) as the value of non-confrontational and gentle and clear methods of achieving goals. He described persuasion as an effective process, but is sometimes only achievable on an individual basis. Greenleaf also suggested patience in working through increasing progress toward essential aims. As for Spears (2010), the servant leaders rely on persuasion, rather than using their status power, to enforce and making organizations decisions.

#### Conceptualizing

Greenleaf (1970) noted conceptualizing at the end of his essay as the final concept and the most important and prime element of servant leadership which includes having a purpose or vision. Servant leaders must have the ability to dream big and think about an organization or a problem from conceptualizing perspective. Similarly, Spears (2010) defined conceptualizing as the leader's ability to "think beyond day-to-day realities" (p. 28), but stressed on balancing between thinking in terms of long term purpose and day-to-day operations.

# Foresight

Foresight stimulated the servant leaders to deviate their thinking of the instant moment only and be aware of the path in which they are leading to better guess the what and when is going to happen in the future (Greenleaf, 1970). To be achieved, as per Greenleaf, and similarly to how Spears (2010) described it, the servant leader has to work his/her intuitive mind in a way to learn from the past, to understand the present realities, and at the same time be aware and project the future. Interestingly, foresight remains mostly unexplored area in leadership studies which highly deserves attention.

#### Stewardship

Greenleaf noticed stewardship practices in CEO's, staffs, and trustees of all institutions while they were holding their institutions in trust for the greater good of community and society (Greenleaf, 2002). While stewardship could be defined as

holding something in trust for another (Block, 2005), servant leadership which assumes the commitment for the service of the needs of others, first and foremost, reflects stewardship. Servant leadership also emphasizes the practice of openness and persuasion, instead of control (Spears, 2010).

## Commitment to the Growth of People

Greenleaf's (1970) test indicated that the servant leadership's aim is to develop the followers to a certain extent that servant leadership can be delivered from leader to followers and themselves become servants. Commitment to the growth of people, according to Spears (2010), is a characteristic in a servant leader which allows him/her to value the employee of the organization as an individual that should be offered with the right tools, training, and necessary experience in order to grow and excel. As such, the servant leader, believing in the intrinsic value of the workers rather than solely their tangible contributions, is deeply committed to the growth of each and every person within his or her organization. Thus, the servant leaders identify the tremendous obligation to do everything in their power to nurture the personal and professional growth of employees and coworkers (Spears, 2010). In practical terms, this could involve tangible steps like reserving funds for personal and career growth, demonstrating receptiveness to ideas and suggestions from all individuals, promoting employee participation in decision-making, and taking an active role in assisting laidoff staff members to secure alternative employment opportunities.

# Building Community

Greenleaf's (1970) test went beyond the organization and included a reference to the larger range of improving society considering those with the least privileged in the population and with the greatest need. Spears (2010) even added the stewardship characteristic as the servant leader's duty to continually strive to improve the society. The servant leader puts efforts to build a culture based on the group rather than the individual within the organization is part of the building community characteristic (Spears, 2010). According to Spears, servant leadership presents the hope of great future in "creating better, more caring, institutions" (p. 30). Therefore, the motive of a servant leader is not self or organization anymore, but rather the longer term and broader goals of a better society.

Greenleaf's thoughts and best test for the existence of servant leadership, along with Spears' servant leadership ten characteristics became the beginning point for academic models development and measurements which will be discussed in the methodology chapter.

#### 2.3.5 Highlights on Scientific Research

Given that its origins trace back to Greenleaf's work in 1970, servant leadership has received comparatively more focus in academic literature, particularly when considering that it predates many of the widely recognized contemporary leadership theories (Hoang et al., 2023; Yukl, 2013). With a few notable exceptions, like Jill Graham's theoretical inquiry in 1991 which introduced servant leadership to the academic realm, scholarly investigation into servant leadership didn't gain significant traction until Mark Ehrhart's work in 2004. In that year, Ehrhart not only formulated a concise measurement scale but also published his empirical findings. Ehrhart's study revealed that servant leadership accounted for a greater amount of variance in team organizational citizenship behaviors compared to transformational leadership and leader-member exchange. His research also highlighted the connection between servant leader behaviors and organizational justice, subsequently prompting employees to respond with engagement in organizational citizenship behaviors (OCBs) (Ehrhart, 2004).

Moreover, there is evidence indicating a positive correlation between servant leadership and the followers' affective commitment (Liden et al., 2008) and also job satisfaction (Mayer et al., 2008). Furthermore, van Dierendonck and colleagues worked out both a laboratory experiment and a field study to provide evidence that by satisfying followers' needs, servant leadership positively affects organizational commitment and work engagement (van Dierendonck et al., 2014).

In addition, needs of autonomy, relatedness and competency of followers are predicted by servant leadership, leading to employees' in-role and extra-role performance at the workplace (Chiniara & Bentein, 2016). Additionally, Liden et al. (2008) and Sousa and van Dierendonck (2017) studied servant leadership dimensions independently. The former study was a scale development justifying all dimensions positively but the latter reported humility and empowerment in the servant leader maximized follower engagement.

Finally, under the same sequence, two meta-analyses including servant leadership are being published recently. The first study used the global measure of servant leadership dimensions to support the incremental validity of servant leadership over precedent leadership approaches (e.g., transformational, authentic, and ethical leadership) (Hoch et al., 2018). In the second, Banks et al. (2018) argue that the leadership theories proliferation including servant leadership was lacking evidence to be considered parsimonious and hard to differentiate them from each other.

Servant leadership was investigated also at the team level (i.e., aggregating the followers' perceptions of the servant leader's behavior to the team level) as in Ehrhart's (2004) early study. In this regard, servant leadership when aggregating to the team level explained more variance (10%) above the transformational leadership in a positive relation to team performance (Schaubroeck et al., 2011). In the same study Schaubroeck and his colleagues showed that affect-based trust mediated the relation of servant leadership and team performance in addition to psychological safety to the followers instilled by this leader. Another research done at the team level found that team potency (maximum ability to perform well) and team effectiveness (i.e., team performance and team organizational citizenship behavior OCB) were positively affected to be higher in presence of servant leadership (Hu & Liden, 2011). Moreover, Hunter et al. (2013) found that service climate of the team is more enhanced by servant leadership and mediate its effects employees' sales behaviors, OCB, and turnover intentions. Lastly, Peterson et al. (2012) conducted a distinctive study that delved into servant leadership on an organizational level. This is in line with Greenleaf's argument that leaders should, before giving for themselves, help others first thus showing negative relationship between leader narcissism and servant leadership.

The majority of progresses have appeared not only in top-tier management journals (e.g. Chen et al., 2015; Liden, Wayne, et al., 2014), but also research on servant leadership has appeared in many disciplines, including nursing (Neubert et al., 2016), hospitality and tourism (Ling et al., 2016), and education (Williams et al., 2018). Further, research on servant leadership has also been conducted in the nonfor-profit (Parris & Peachey, 2012), public (Schwarz et al., 2016), and youth sectors (Eva & Sendjaya, 2013). Additionally, the majority of the research studies available depend on samples coming from Canada and the United States (Chiniara & Bentein, 2016; Hunter et al., 2013; Lapointe & Vandenberghe, 2018; Liden, Wayne, et al., 2014; Liden et al., 2008; Peterson et al., 2012), China (Chen et al., 2015; Schaubroeck et al., 2011), and Europe (Sousa & van Dierendonck, 2017; van Dierendonck et al., 2014), leaving windows for research to test servant leadership across other parts of the world like Africa, Middle East, and South America, to enhance generalizability.

Most of the research available on servant leadership has been highly supportive. As proposed by numerous scholars and recent literature reviews, there is a substantial need for further research to gain a more comprehensive knowledge of the antecedents and outcomes of servant leadership. Additionally, exploring the relative factors that could influence how servant leadership aligns with individual, team, and organizational outcomes requires additional investigation (Eva et al., 2019; Liden, Panaccio, et al., 2014; Van Dierendonck, 2011).

One of the extensive research ideas concerning nuances of servant leadership in organizations is its effect on employee burnouts in contexts preferable to healthcare. Ma et al. assume that servant leadership contributes to the reduction of burnouts among the COVID-19 nurse volunteers by ensuring a sense of psychological safety and providing adequate job resources, like organizational support or job clarity Ma et al, 2021. This is consistent with the conservation of resources COR theory. The theory states that employees balance the acquisition and retention of resources by searching for a good fit in a particular environment. The research indicates that servant leaders can influence mediation of burnout through extant resource configurations by fostering an environment of communication and sharing. Further, aiding the concept of stopping the burnouts, servant leadership has been associated with initiatives that have been linked to improved job performance and career growth. The research from Agusta indicates that servant leadership correlates with performance when employees are encouraged to actively work towards self-development and self-growth at the workplace (Agusta & Azmy, 2023). This holds particularly well in an organizational setup where the leaders are engaged in the management and the coaching of the subordinates. The work stresses the transformative elements of leadership as moderators for this association claiming that direct and/or indirect practicing of servant leadership qualities will make a difference.

Other researchers pay attention to the servant leader's influence on the team as well as to the effectiveness of the organization. According to Lu's systematic review of literatures, servant leadership influences positive results at team and organizational levels which supports this leadership style in creating a collaborative workplace (Lu et al., 2024). It is suggested in the review that organizations adhering to servant leadership may witness increased employee engagement, adherence to the organization's goals, and overall performance.

Servant leadership approach especially in the education sector has witnessed to have great impact on the teacher performance and students performance. Thai'Atun et al. (2024) study suggests a strong link between a servant leader and the supervisory role of the school principals which implies that anyone serving in a position of leadership and applies the philosophy of servant leadership is able to improve the performance of their staff. Such insight is especially important in educational leadership where the service provided directly determines the level of students achievement and the atmosphere in which the school operates. Also, in different contexts the influence of servant leadership on job satisfaction has been analysed. Yang (2023), in a study in law enforcement agencies found that there is a rise in officer's job satisfaction when servant leadership is practiced. In such a case, it is obvious that servant leadership will usually promote a good atmosphere and culture within the organization which translates to high employee morale and low turnover intention.

Servant leadership extends beyond the confines of individual and team effects as it impacts the organization as a whole. In their systematic review, Canavesi and Minelli underscored the link between servant leadership style and employee satisfaction as well as patient satisfaction in health care settings, thus showing that this leadership approach is associated with better service delivery and more effective organizations (Canavesi & Minelli, 2022). This also highlights the importance of using servant leadership style in promoting the culture of care and quality in the organizations.

To conclude, the existing literature on servant leadership demonstrates its effect on the followers welfare, the state of the organization, and the performance presenting a holistic view. Since the servant leader puts their followers first and enhances the surroundings, they would increase job satisfaction, lower expected turnover rate and foster creativity. The results of the analysis highlight that effectiveness of servant leadership, including in healthcare and education, should take into account personality of employees and contextual factors. This thesis extends the above literature to understand the direct link between servant leadership and customers outcomes.

### 2.3.6 Research in Hospitality

Notwithstanding the proliferation of servant leadership (SL) studies in the leadership literature since 1991, research in the hospitality field only started recently. As being the ideal effective leadership for the hospitality industry, scholars in hospitality and tourism have perceived the importance of SL starting 2010 (Brownell, 2010). However, there is no consensus and clarity around the SL construct (Eva et al., 2019) and it is relatively new in the hospitality leadership literature (Wu et al., 2013). Hence, a review of the existing works in hospitality and tourism literature of servant leadership is indispensable to reduces research fragmentation and address the importance of this thesis. Using content analysis, an integrative and comprehensive systematic review is provided to show the current state on the research progress and to offer critical insights. In methodology, specific keywords and conditions were employed in four databases including Scopus, EBSCOHost, ScienceDirect, and Google Scholar to retrieve all SL hospitality-related articles published since the concept first appeared in 1970. This search used a combination of keywords including "servant leadership," "servant leader," and "hospitality," "restaurant," "event," "tourism" or "hotel" appearing in the "titles, keywords, or abstracts" to identify articles in the databases. Only relevant (i.e., focus on SL as a key variable or subject area), full-length, and English papers were retrieved leaving the remaining documents for analysis (see Table 2-2). Book chapters and conference papers were excluded. After that, a detailed analysis based on types of research, journals, countries, sectors, theories and methods used, dimensions, and operationalization scales is presented. This review in this section shows the current state of servant leadership literature in hospitality which gives a clear link to this study and its conceptual model.

Servant leadership has gained considerable ground as a key leadership type in the hospitality industry. This form of leadership focuses on serving others and meeting the needs of employees, which helps improve the culture of the organization and employees' willingness to engage. The studies establish that there is a relationship between servant leadership and a number of professional outcomes related to employees, such as work engagement, job satisfaction, and commitment to an organization. It has been documented that servant leadership works very well in the hospitality industry where the quality of service is of utmost importance. For example, Rabiul states that this type of leadership is consistent with the culture of hotel management which includes employee engagement and customer service improvement efforts (Rabiul & Yean, 2021). This was also supported by Guchait, who showed that servant leadership encourages employees' customer behavior and willingness to help other employees through LMX processes with care (Guchait et al., 2023). Such findings emphasize the importance of servant leadership and its impact on employee satisfaction and customer satisfaction in the context of hospitality. Additionally, the role of a servant leader is not just limited to achieving results as an individual but is also beneficial for the organization as a whole. According to Ozturk's research, physicians engaged in a servant leadership style reported feeling more engaged at work and were more inclined to report satisfaction with their jobs, which indicates that this style of leadership could work in two directions (Ozturk et al., 2021). This is also supported by Gui's study, where he noted that there was a significant correlation between servant leadership styles and employee satisfaction as well as other employee outcomes (Gui et al., 2021). Such approaches not only place a priority on the interests of the employees, but in particular enable demonstrating the typical characteristic of a servant leader to empower their followers to become more

dedicated and ensured. Servant leadership is complex and works through various mechanisms. For example, researchers like Decuypere suggest that promotion focus, which is a moderator at the individual level, may strengthen the link between servant leadership and employee engagement (Decuypere & Schaufeli, 2021). This means that whether servant leadership is more effective than other forms may depend on some of the characteristics of the employees and the organization. In the same metaanalysis, also noted is the role of ethical leadership as a complement, noting that both servant leaders and ethical leaders have a strong desire to manage their work morally and have positive exchanges with their employees. This overlap highlights an increasing interest in leadership research in which ethical and moral aspects and behaviors of leaders are increasingly considered relevant in their practice. Besides, the cultural context is significant for the effectiveness of the servant leadership. It has been noted in Zhang's meta-analysis that the effect of servant leadership is more pronounced in collectivistic societies where group cohesiveness and support for others in an organisation is held in high esteem (Zhang et al., 2021). This implies that institutions within different cultures may need to modify their styles of leadership to suit the perspectives of their employees. Given the impact of globalization on organisational structures, understanding such cultural differences will be more crucial for hospitality leaders. Servant leadership, which is associated with employee engagement and satisfaction has also been established to promote work-family enrichment. This seems to be especially important in the hospitality industry which is regarded as a high-stress domain. Servant leadership, according to Ozturk's results, can aid the processes, which enhance interaction between work and family roles, thus making it easier for employees to use resources in both areas (Ozturk & Karatepe, 2021). This enrichment, not only has positive implications for the employees to an extent, but also issues related to the internal outcomes to the organization by way of minimizing the employees burnout and turnover intentions, as Guchait has emphasized (Guchait et al., 2023). The role of the servant leader encompasses the need for their employees to take on active roles in balancing both work obligations and family obligations which is instrumental in maintaining a conducive work atmosphere.

All in all, the reports revolving around servant leadership strongly advocate for its importance in enhancing employee engagement in various organizations, especially those belonging to service industries. The leadership approach calls for a blend of serving others and having a high level of ethical standards while also ensuring a deep understanding different cultures due to the diverse nature of this leadership strategy. This thesis will respond to the calls and supplements to the servant leadership hospitality literature.

#	TITLE	AUTHORS / YEAR
	Leadership in the service of hospitality.	(Brownell, 2010)
	Servant Leadership and Procedural Justice in the U.S. National Park Service: The Antecedents of Job Satisfaction	(Chung et al., 2010)
	Building a legacy of volunteers through servant leadership: A cause-related sporting event.	(Parris & Peachey, 2012)
	Encouraging servant leadership: A qualitative study of how a cause-related sporting event inspires participants to serve.	(Parris & Peachey, 2013a)
	The impact of servant leadership on hotel employees' "servant behavior".	(Wu et al., 2013)
	The influence of servant leadership on restaurant employee engagement.	(Carter & Baghurst, 2014)
	Servant leadership and perceptions of service quality provided by front-line service workers in hotels in Turkey: achieving competitive advantage.	(Koyuncu et al., 2014)
	Servant leadership and serving culture: Influence on individual and unit performance.	(Liden, Wayne, et al., 2014)
	The effect of servant leadership on customer value co- creation: A cross-level analysis of key mediating roles.	(Hsiao et al., 2015)
	Servant leadership and customer service quality at Korean hotels: Multilevel organizational citizenship behavior as a mediator.	(Kwak & Kim, 2015)
	The central role of leadership in rural tourism development: A theoretical framework and case studies.	(McGehee et al., 2015)

 Table 2-2
 Publications of Servant Leadership in Hospitality

Servant leadership, social exchange relationships, and follower's helping behavior: Positive reciprocity belief	(Zou et al., 2015)
matters.	
The impact of CEO servant leadership on firm performance in the hospitality industry.	(Huang et al., 2016)
An empirical investigation of psychological capital among flight attendants.	(Karatepe & Talebzadeh, 2016)
The trickle-down effect of servant leadership on frontline employee service behaviors and performance: A multilevel study of Chinese hotels.	(Ling et al., 2016)
Servant leadership, empowerment climate, and group creativity: A case study in the hospitality industry.	(Linuesa - Langreo, 2016)
Antecedents and consequences of psychological contract breach.	(Peng et al., 2016)
An identification perspective of servant leadership's effects.	(Zhao et al., 2016)
Servant Leadership, Employee Job Crafting, and Citizenship Behaviors: A Cross-Level Investigation.	(Bavik et al., 2017)
Test of a mediation model of psychological capital among hotel salespeople.	(Bouzari & Karatepe, 2017)
Does servant leadership work in hospitality sector: A representative study in the hotel organizations.	(Ghosh & Khatri, 2017)
Antecedents to Job Satisfaction in the Airline Industry.	(Kurian & Muzumdar, 2017)
Servant Versus Authentic Leadership: Assessing Effectiveness in China's Hospitality Industry.	(Ling et al., 2017)
New Strategies in the New Millennium: Servant Leadership As Enhancer of Service Climate and Customer	(Linuesa-Langreo et al., 2017)
Service Performance. Does trust in organization mediate the influence of servant leadership on satisfaction outcomes among flight attendants?	(Ilkhanizadeh & Karatepe, 2018)
Reducing Employee Turnover Intention Through Servant Leadership in the Restaurant Context: A Mediation Study of Affective Organizational Commitment.	(Jang & Kandampully, 2018)
Integrating Servant Leadership into Managerial Strategy to Build Group Social Capital: The Mediating Role of Group Citizenship Behavior	(Linuesa-Langreo et al., 2018)
Activating tourists' citizenship behavior for the environment: the roles of CSR and frontline employees'	(Tuan, 2018)
citizenship behavior for the environment Hospitality Faculty Mentoring Program for Assistant Professors.	(Williams et al., 2018)
The effects of empowering leadership on employee adaptiveness in luxury hotel services: Evidence from a mixed-methods research	(Peng et al., 2022)
Negative role modeling in hospitality organizations: A social learning perspective on supervisor and subordinate customer-targeted incivility	(Xiao & Mao, 2022)
Examining the effect of entrepreneurial leadership on employees' innovative behavior in SME hotels: A mediated moderation model	(Hoang et al., 2022)
Occupational stigma and career commitment: Testing mediation and moderation effects of occupational self- esteem	(Kusluvan et al., 2022)
Ethical leadership, trust in organization and their impacts on critical hotel employee outcomes	(Eluwole et al., 2022)
Effects of empowering leadership under boundary conditions in the hospitality industry	(Rescalvo-Martin et al., 2022)

Green inclusive leadership and employee green behaviors in the hotel industry: Does perceived green organizational support matter?	(Aboramadan et al., 2022)
Can group diversity translate adhocracy culture into service innovative behavior among hospitality employees? A multilevel study	(Yang et al., 2022)
How needs for belongingness and justice influence social identity and performances: Evidence from the hospitality industry	(Li et al., 2022)
Tourism employee ambidexterity: The roles of servant leadership, job crafting, and perspective taking	(Tuan, 2022)
Anthropomorphism in hospitality and tourism: A systematic review and agenda for future research	(Ding et al., 2022)
What motivates employees to work in the hotel industry?: Quarantine hotel employees' perspectives	(Choi et al., 2022)
Does organizational empowerment promote self-leadership in hotel management? An analysis based on employees' cultural value orientation	(Su et al., 2022)
Formation of hotel employees' service innovation performance: Mechanism of thriving at work and change- oriented organizational citizenship behavior	(Wu et al., 2023)
From responsible leadership to hospitality employee's support for external CSR: Need satisfaction as a mediator and moral reflectiveness as a moderator	(Zhou & Zheng, 2023)
A systematic review of employee voice literature in hospitality	(Huang et al., 2023)
Mapping progress in hospitality CSR research: A bibliometric review from 2006 to 2023	(Peng et al., 2023)
The impact of green human resource management on hospitality employees' quitting intention: A dual perspective study	(Cao et al., 2023)
Service improvisation as a double-edged sword	(Oh & Jang, 2023)
Servant leadership, ideology-based culture and job outcomes: A multi-level investigation among hospitality workers	(Fatima et al., 2023)
"Are your employees mentally prepared for the pandemic?" Wellbeing-oriented human resource management practices in a developing country	(Ngo et al., 2023)
Job embeddedness in hospitality and tourism scholarship: Past, present, and future research agenda	(Arici et al., 2023)
Test of a serial mediation model of Machiavellian leadership among hospitality and tourism employees	(Karatepe et al., 2023)
The antecedents of employees' innovative behavior in hospitality and tourism contexts: A meta-regression approach	(Zhu et al., 2023)
An investigation of the interrelationships of leadership styles, psychological safety, thriving at work, and work engagement in the hotel industry: A sequential mediation model	(Rabiul et al., 2023)
Special privileges or busywork? The impact of qualitative job insecurity on idiosyncratic deals and illegitimate tasks among hospitality workers	(Currie et al., 2023)
Can ethical climate and ethical self-efficacy channel ethical leadership into service performance? A multilevel investigation	(Yang et al., 2023)
Ethical leadership in tourism and hospitality management:	(Hoang et al., 2023)
A systematic literature review and research agenda How mentors inspire affective commitment in newcomers: The roles of servant leadership, psychological capital, and for the selving helpsychological capital, and	(Zhou et al., 2024)
feedback-seeking behavior	

General manager servant leadership and firm adaptive capacity: The heterogeneous effect of social capital in family versus non-family firms	(Gutierrez-Broncano et al., 2024)
How can promote hotel employees' performances? Relative importance of high-performance HR practices and the moderating role of empowering leadership	(Hai & Park, 2024)
The road to eco-excellence: How does environmentally specific empowering leadership foster hospitality employees' green creativity through green creative self- efficacy and green learning orientation	(Meirun et al., 2024)
The effects of recovery experiences on hotel employees' subjective well-being, organizational citizenship behavior, and task performance	(Huang & Tsai, 2024)
Give it 110 percent: The sequential nexus between green supervisor support, green descriptive norm, green self- efficacy, and green behavior	(Olorunsola et al., 2024)
Exploring the impact of abusive supervision on employee approaches to managing service errors and failures: Examining the effects of hope and optimism, and service tenure	(Gip et al., 2024)
When can empowering leadership foster intrinsic motivation and proactive performance in the tourism and hospitality industry? A moderated mediation model	(Abuelhassan et al., 2024)
How and when job passion promotes customer-oriented organizational citizenship behavior: A moderated mediation model	(Teng et al., 2024)
Differential leadership and hospitality employees' in-role performance: The role of constructive deviance and competitive climate	(Liu et al., 2024)
The effect of resilient leadership on employee resilience during a crisis in tourism & amp	(Zhang et al., 2024)
How does authentic leadership drive hotel employees to innovate? A cross-level influencing process	(Lin, 2024)
Green inclusive leadership and hospitality employees' green service innovative behavior in the Chinese hospitality context: The roles of basic psychological needs and employee traditionality	(Zhao et al., 2024)
How does despotic leadership thwart frontline employees' role-related service behaviors? A psychological empowerment perspective	(Sun et al., 2024)
Embracing artificial intelligence (AI) with job crafting: Exploring trickle-down effect and employees' outcomes	(Li et al., 2024)
How AI awareness can prompt service performance adaptivity and technologically-environmental mastery	(Mo et al., 2024)
A meta-analytic review of hospitality and tourism employees' creativity and innovative behavior	(Lim et al., 2024)

# **Foundational Theories and methods**

Various theoretical perspectives, concepts, or frameworks have been extensively employed to investigate the servant leadership in the context of hospitality and tourism. Based on the articles collected, ten different theories have been used to be the foundation for the models of servant leadership investigated. It is obviously to note that twenty of these articles used social theories as a background to support examining the servant leadership including Social Exchange, Social Learning, Social Identity, and Social Information Processing. It is evident that previous literature has employed theoretical perspectives separately to study the servant leadership construct. Given that servant leadership is a complex construct relating to all level of stakeholders, combining information from different but interrelated level such as individual-level, team-level, and the firm-level is indispensable for researchers to better understand and disentangle this complicated construct. Most of the methods used in the studies are related into multilevel, specifically seven used the Hierarchical Linear Model, HLM. Consequently, future research should pay attention on the multilevel study. This thesis will be also using HLM to explore the relation of servant leadership between three levels.

# 2.4 Related Concepts

#### Employee Engagement

Despite the disagreement about the accurate definition of the relatively new construct employee engagement, there is common agreement about the important characteristics of engagement. Therefore many definitions by a number of scholars have been provided in the academic literature (Saks, 2006). Kahn (1990, p. 694), states personal engagement as "the harnessing of organization members' selves to their work roles; in engagement, people employ and express themselves physically, cognitively, and emotionally during role performances." Whereas, Schaufeli et al. (2002) further identified and tested three dimensions (vigor, dedication, and

absorption) as the structure of the engagement. Later the authors defined employee engagement as the status of the mind of the employees related positively to their work and which comprises the three mentioned characteristics (Schaufeli et al., 2002). In this study, we adopt Schaufeli et al.'s (2002) definition of EE which has received increase attention in hospitality research in the recent years (Babakus et al., 2017; Ling et al., 2017; Putra et al., 2017; Yeh, 2013). Employee engagement is a critical factor in organizational success, influencing various outcomes such as productivity, job satisfaction, and retention rates. The concept of work engagement refers to the level of enthusiasm and dedication employees exhibit toward their work, characterized by vigor, dedication, and absorption in their tasks (Mcquade et al., 2021). Research has consistently shown that engaged employees are more likely to contribute positively to their organizations, demonstrating higher levels of performance and lower turnover intentions (Cai et al., 2024). Servant leadership, a leadership style that prioritizes serving others, has been identified as a significant predictor of work engagement. This leadership approach fosters a supportive environment where employees feel valued and empowered, which in turn enhances their engagement levels (Ozturk & Karatepe, 2021). For instance, the hospitality industry has been a focal point for examining the relationship between servant leadership and work engagement. Research in this sector has demonstrated that servant leadership not only enhances employee engagement but also contributes to improved customer service and organizational performance (Gui et al., 2021; Huertas-Valdivia et al., 2022). For example, Guchait's systematic review highlights that servant leadership is associated with positive employee attitudes, including reduced stress and burnout, which are critical for maintaining high levels of engagement (Guchait et al., 2023). This is particularly relevant in high-pressure environments,
such as the hospitality, where employee well-being is essential for sustaining service quality and operational effectiveness. In contrast, Lythreatis et al. (2021) et al. found that servant leadership explains additional variance in employee performance behaviors beyond what transformational leadership can achieve. This indicates that while servant leadership positively influences engagement, it may not be the sole contributor to enhancing employee performance, suggesting a more complex relationship to shape employee behaviors. Additionally, the findings of Jin highlight that the relationship between servant leadership and workplace engagement may vary across different organizational contexts (Jin & Ikeda, 2023). This indicates that while servant leadership can enhance engagement, its effectiveness may be contingent upon the specific dynamics of the workplace such as different hospitality premises. Specifically, employee engagement is a more proximal construct to performance outcomes (Karatepe et al., 2018; Kašpárková et al., 2018). Restaurant employees high on engagement complete their daily tasks successfully and display extra-role customer service behaviors (Grobelna, 2019; Orlowski et al., 2021). As shown, research over the past years illustrates a complex interplay between servant leadership, employee engagement, and various contextual factors. While servant leadership is consistently linked to positive employee outcomes, research is needed to explore these dynamics to better understand how to foster employee engagement in diverse settings.

In summary, the interplay between servant leadership and employee engagement is well-documented, with evidence suggesting that servant leadership practices significantly enhance engagement levels. This relationship is vital for fostering a productive and committed workforce, ultimately contributing to organizational success. However, evidence is needed whether employee engagement still boosts both customer satisfaction and engagement when servant leadership is considered as a predictor.

#### Customer Satisfaction

In 1980, Oliver explained the expectation/disconfirmation paradigm and clarified that consumers grow their expectations about a product or service before purchase and then they compare actual performance to those expectations after purchase to define their satisfaction (or dissatisfaction) with the purchase (Oliver, 1980). Later, Oliver and Swan (1989) explored the equity model. The model elucidated that when consumers receive more value in terms of price, time, and effort that they actually spent, satisfaction would exist. Following the author literature, customer satisfaction definition of this thesis is based on his definition of satisfaction in his book (Oliver, 2014, p. 8):

"Satisfaction is the consumer's fulfillment response. It is a judgment that a product/service feature, or the product or service itself, provided (or is providing) a pleasurable level of consumption-related fulfillment, including levels of under- or over-fulfillment."

### Customer Engagement

The customer engagement construct has been increasingly gaining importance and investigated in the marketing literature since 2005 (Brodie et al., 2011). Nevertheless, it took about a decade (2013) for the concept of customer engagement to be gradually recognized in the context of hospitality and tourism as the main driver for business success (N. Torres & Kline, 2013; Wei et al., 2013). Since then the definitions of customer engagement range from unidimensional (van Doorn et al., 2010) to multidimensional (i.e., cognitive, emotional, and/or behavioral) (Hollebeek, 2011). However, despite the prominence of the multidimensional perspective, the majority of the definitions in the academic and business practice literature conveyed engagement as a unidimensional concept and the behavioral dimension specifically appears dominant and perhaps received the most attention (Choi & Kandampully, 2019). Regardless of the context, at least one of the following three dimensions cognitive, emotional (affective), and physical (behavioral) should reflect the customer engagement construct (Brodie et al., 2011).

For the purpose of the research objectives, the following customer engagement definition by van Doorn et al. (2010, p. 254) is regarded in this study:

"Customers' behavioral manifestation toward a brand or firm, beyond purchase, resulting from motivational drivers such as word-of-mouth activity, recommendations, helping other customers, blogging, writing reviews."

#### Servant Leadership

This thesis will be using a recent definition of servant leadership (Eva et al., 2019, p. 114):

"Servant leadership is an (1) other-oriented approach to leadership (2) manifested through one-on-one prioritizing of follower individual needs and interests, (3) and outward reorienting of their concern for self towards concern for others within the organization and the larger community."

In the aforementioned definition, Eva and her colleagues relied on three features: motive, mode, and mindset. The definition of servant leadership provided emphasizes a leadership style that prioritizes the needs and interests of others, both within the organization and in the larger community. This approach would be feasible and beneficial for a restaurant manager as the leader, particularly in terms of employee engagement and customer satisfaction and engagement:

1. Motive: Other-Oriented Approach

A restaurant manager who adopts a servant leadership style is primarily motivated by the desire to serve their employees and customers. This means they focus on creating a supportive and nurturing environment for their staff, which can lead to higher levels of employee satisfaction and engagement. When employees feel valued and supported, they are more likely to be motivated, committed, and productive, which directly impacts the quality of service they provide to customers.

2. Mode: Prioritizing Individual Needs

By prioritizing the individual needs and interests of their employees, a servant leader in a restaurant setting can tailor their management approach to suit each team member. This could involve providing personalized training, recognizing individual contributions, or offering flexible work arrangements. Such attention to individual needs can lead to a more harmonious and motivated workforce, reducing turnover and fostering a positive work culture. Engaged employees are more likely to provide excellent customer service, enhancing the overall dining experience for patrons.

3. Mindset: Reorienting Concern for Others

A servant leader shifts their focus from self-interest to the well-being of others. For a restaurant manager, this means fostering a team-oriented environment where collaboration and mutual support are encouraged. This mindset can create a strong sense of community and belonging among employees, which can translate into a more cohesive and efficient team. When employees work well together and feel supported, they are more likely to deliver consistent and high-quality service, leading to increased customer satisfaction and engagement.

In summary, a restaurant manager who embodies servant leadership can create a positive and engaging work environment by focusing on the needs of their employees and fostering a culture of service. This approach not only enhances employee engagement but also improves customer satisfaction and engagement, as happy and motivated employees are more likely to provide exceptional service.

# 2.5 Restaurant Industry in Lebanon

Taking a closer look at Lebanon, it has been named by a number of international media as the number one tourist destination for its unique landscapes, beaches and resorts, and Beirut's vibrant nightlife (El Maalouf et al., 2015). Lebanon is a well-known destination in the Mediterranean region, with a small surface area (10,452 km2) ("Lebanon country profile," 2018). The country is endowed with a special landscape and heritage, and a mild climate that distinguish it from all the neighboring countries (Ghadban et al., 2017). The country is developing into an F&B haven, as more establishments step out of the box with their culinary concepts. Meanwhile, Lebanon exports nightlife trends and restaurant concepts to the region and other part of the world (Rahhal, 2018). Local restaurants are expanding geographically through franchising operations or operating their own chains. Despite this, those who work in the industry still have to cope with the challenges of an increasingly competitive and unregulated market, and with consumers' decreasing purchasing power.

Food and Beverage are deeply rooted in the Lebanese culture. In addition to the high reputation of Lebanon serving international cuisine, Lebanese cuisine still the main component of the industry even with some twit on the menu. Restaurants are distributed in every city and village in Lebanon which is divided into four districts as shown in figure 2-1 below. The figure points out that most of the establishments are located in Beirut and Mount Lebanon district where the data of this study will be collected. In Beirut, capital city including Bliss, Hamra, Verdun, Down Town, The Park Zone, Zaituna Bay, Monnot Sodeco, Gemmayze, Badaro, Sassine, Mar Mikhael, new restaurants proliferated and the market witnessed a 3.47% growth in the number of restaurants in 2015 (Daou, 2015).



Figure 2-1. Distribution of establishments in districts and sub-districts

According to the Central Administration of Statistics (www.cas.gov.lb), the value of both the hotel and restaurant industries totaled \$1.25B in 2016 or 3% of GDP.

The sector of Hotels and Restaurants employs around 100,000 persons representing 4% of total employment in the country in 2016 increasing to 140,000 in 2018 (www.economy.gov.lb).

### 2.6 Theoretical Foundation and Conceptual Model

#### 2.6.1 Servant Leadership Theory

Servant leadership was initiated by (Greenleaf, 1970) who believed that the roles of servant and leader, although paradoxical concept (Graham, 1991), could occur within one person. Having said that, influence, which is the key part of leadership, is altered with servant leadership by focusing on the ideal of service in the leader-follower relationship which makes it a "leadership theory" with high potential (Van Dierendonck, 2011, p. 1229). Nearly after two decades since (Graham, 1991) set the foundation for the development of "servant leadership theory", a lack of coherence and clarity has delayed its theory development (Eva et al., 2019, p. 112). In that matter, a conceptual paper by Chon and Zoltan (2019) on the "Role of servant leadership in contemporary hospitality" provides a guide with many aspects of future research directions which advances the "theory of servant leadership."

To start with, according to Greenleaf, leader's greatness which comes from being a servant to others, altruistically, that having empathy and full acceptance of others are what form great leadership. Greenleaf explained that putting others needs first was a considered choice. Greenleaf quoted, "it begins with the natural feeling that one wants to serve, to serve first. Then conscious choice brings one to aspire to lead" (p. 6). Greenleaf explained that servant leaders first make sure that others' needs are being met. Serving others and not expecting from the followers to serve as leaders. This, as the core personal motivation for someone to lead, clearly differentiate servant leadership from other perceptions on leadership. Moving away from self-orientation, being an altruist, moral person, all fit a servant leader, and require a strong character, self, emotional and psychological maturity (Eva et al., 2019). The leader has first the *motivation to serve* others, doing so along with an other-oriented approach to lead.

Then, having such motive in a leader, leads to the follower growing as a person, becoming "healthier, wiser, freer, more autonomous" and likely themselves to become servants (Greenleaf, 1970, p. 6; 1977). The servant leader *mode* recognizes and prioritizes others' needs, interests, goals, individually and above those of his or her (Eva et al., 2019). Eva and her colleagues explained that the mode of servant leadership focuses on empowering followers, involving them in decision-making, and constantly supporting their development. This kind of leader, with a humanistic and relationship approach to followers (Liden, Wayne, et al., 2014), can then affect positive change in them by focusing on their growth on the psychological well-being, ethical wisdom, emotional maturity, and many other aspects. In return the followers trust the servant leader.

At last, Greenleaf talked about the trustees who are everyone in the organization practicing stewardship including CEO's, subordinates, employees, and customers and all are holding in trust for the better of the community and the society (Greenleaf, 1970, 2002). The leader's duty is to assume moral responsibility for his/her subordinates, customers, and stakeholders. In other words, with this *mindset*, servant leaders take care of all their entrusted followers, empower them, and commit to their well-being development while at the same time ensuring the concern towards others within the organization and the larger community (Eva et al., 2019).

Larry Spears (2004) confirmed and explained what Greenleaf called the desire to serve others, formed a true servant leadership; a theory developed out of his working experience in large organizations. He clearly stated that "True leadership emerges from those whose primary motivation is a deep desire to help others (p. 8)" and later described servant leadership as a "quiet revolution" (Spears, 2010, p. 26). Finally, Spears categorized Greenleaf's 10 central characteristics of servant leadership as: listening, empathy, healing, awareness, persuasion, conceptualization, foresight, stewardship, commitment to the growth of people, and building community (see Section 2.3.4).

# 2.6.2 Generalized Exchange Theory

Provoked by the anthropologist Claude Lévi-Strauss's (1969) seminal conceptions of social exchange processes in explaining the kinship behaviors in his anthropological writings, Ekeh (1974) in his book argued social exchange theory as an essential and basic part of social theory. Somehow ignored in the literature (Linda D. Molm et al., 2007; Takahashi, 2000), the collectivistic social exchange theory including the Generalized Exchange Theory (GET) elaborated by Ekeh, primarily was presented by the exchange theorist Lévi-Strauss first in the original French version of *Les Structures Élémentaires de la Parenté* (Lévi-Strauss, 1967). While Ekeh (1974, p. 50) described two types of social exchange which he called *"restricted exchange"* and *"generalized exchange"*, Bagozzi (1975, p. 33) added another type called *"complex exchange"*. The types, restricted exchange and generalized exchange, will be explained below and this study will be using the generalized exchange theory.

# **Restricted Exchange**

Restricted exchange is based on the mutual reciprocity principle between strictly two parties in social exchange transaction (Ekeh, 1974). Under this reciprocations, the transaction is limited to two individuals, units, or actors expecting to benefit directly each other without receiving or giving to any other party of the social exchange situation (Ekeh, 1974). That is, restricted exchange operates in pairs where " $\leftarrow$  " represents "gives to and receives from" considering two social actors like A  $\leftarrow$  B (p. 50). This type of exchange, a "*quid pro quo* mentality", has "short time intervals for mutual reciprocity" and had spread implicitly in the marketing literature dealing with "customer-salesman, wholesaler-retailer", or other actors in a dyadic exchanges (Bagozzi, 1975, p. 33). The dyadic reciprocity relation of mutual reinforcement by two parties, as presented by Blau (1964), has been extensively used in the modern sociological theory.

#### **Generalized Exchange**

Generalized exchange is defined on the basis of the univocal principle of reciprocity (Ekeh, 1974). According to Ekeh, the univocal reciprocity is the foundation of generalized exchange involves "at least three actors in a social exchange situation" (p. 50) and "the actors do not benefit each other directly but only indirectly" (p. 48). It also involves self-interest indirectly and can only exist in a moral and trustful system. In the conclusion of his book, Ekeh (1974, p. 205) makes it clear: "Univocal reciprocity means first and foremost that an actor does benefit to another actor for which he does not expect immediate or direct reciprocation. This implies, above all, that there is enough trust that the giver will be reciprocated from someone and somewhere else in the future. This means that univocal reciprocity can only operate in an atmosphere of generalized morality and trust that the system will work." Thus, considering four persons, the theory operates following a unitary system where

" "signifies "gives to": A B C D A (Ekeh, 1974).

Marshall (1998) summarized the elements of generalized exchange:

- 1. Three or more actors are in a system of social exchange situation;
- 2. In this exchange, the individual gives to someone but receives from someone else. Thus, indirect univocal reciprocity occurs, for example, given actor A (furniture store chain) gives benches with its label name to actor B (bus company) which places them at bus stops for actor C (riders). Then, after many actors C (riders) notice the advertising label of the actor A (furniture store chain), they start, at any time in the future, to visit the stores. The sequence of the exchange is: A→B→C→A (Bagozzi, 1975).
- The system works in an environment of trust and morality providing a broad equality of reciprocity between the actors (Ekeh, 1974). The system may breakdown if violated in the future;
- When univocal reciprocity occurs, the actor expects the benefit after a certain time interval and not immediately; and
- "Indirect self-interest" is the benefit that an actor desires to him/herself and expected to receive from another actor but not the direct actor in the exchange (Marshall, 1998, p. 275).

Ekeh (1974, p. 53) also identified two types of generalized exchange and called them "*chain generalized exchange*" and "*net generalized exchange*", both operating on the principle of "*univocal reciprocity*." The former was already explained and known as the main generalized exchange theory (see Figure 2-3). The latter which he introduced to the literature, oppose the chain as the individual is put against the group. Either the whole group benefits each party or the party gives to the group (see Figure 2-2). The net form of the generalized (indirect) social exchange and the chain form generalized (indirect) social exchange differ qualitatively (Bearman, 1997) (see Figure 2-2 and 2-3). Whereas, as claimed by Bearman (1997),

net generalized exchange can become direct dyadic exchanges "person-to-group" like in Blau (1964), chain generalized exchange cannot.



Figure 2-2. Net Generalized Exchange (adopted from Bearman (1997))



Figure 2-3. Chain Generalized Exchange (adopted from Bearman (1997))

Practically, Evanschitzky et al. (2011) used GET to explain the univocal or directional reciprocity involving three actors in terms of levels of satisfaction. The three actors namely customer, frontline employee, and employer/manager chosen for the study were from DIY retail stores. The authors showed that the frontline employee satisfaction fully mediated the association between employer satisfaction and customer satisfaction. Results of the same study also indicated that frontline employee satisfaction had a moderating effect between customer satisfaction and customer loyalty. That is, higher frontline employee satisfaction led to a stronger relation between customer satisfaction and customer loyalty. Generalized exchange theory as explained above distinguishes the multilateral over the bilateral or dyadic exchanges as between a customer and an employee. Moreover, the generalized exchange can be particularly important when a portion of the targeted parties is indirectly receiving the goods or services (Marshall, 1998). Similarly, Palmatier et al. (2018, p. 188) suggested that generalized exchange theory can provide a "framework for better understanding the association between customer engagement and employee engagement." Therefore, GET is used as another foundation theory in the model presented in this thesis (see Figure 2-3) that explains the engagement of three actors (leader, employee, customer) when put together into play in a chain of univocal reciprocity indirectly transferring benefits among each other.

### 2.6.3 Conceptual Model

Figure 2-3 below presents the framework around which this study is designed. This multi-level research conceptual frame below is built using three levels upon the constructs of Servant Leadership (SL) at the Restaurant-level, Employee Engagement (EE) at the Employee-level, and Customer Satisfaction (CS) and Customer Engagement (CE) at the Customer-level. The model conceptualizes the aforementioned variables as global constructs as I am interested in the overall effect of SL, EE, and CS. As for the CE construct, the customer behavioral is used and expanded with its dimensions of Willingness to Suggest (WTS) and Word of Mouth (WOM).

The arrows represent the possible relationships between the constructs as the elements of the conceptual model that are in question. The cross-level relationships conceptualized in this model are not causal relationships, but rather explanatory and predictive relationships. The multiple propositions between the variables in the frame predict a possible positive relationship between SL and all other constructs.

The main research questions that guides the below multilevel research model in Figure 2-4 are:

RQ1: Does servant leadership affect customers' satisfaction and engagement in the restaurant?

RQ2: What is the role of employee engagement in boosting customer dining experience?

In order to answer the above research questions, the research objectives are established and have been developed to:

74

- 1) examine the direct effect of servant leadership at the restaurant level on customer outcomes in terms of satisfaction and engagement at the customer level. More research sheds light on the effect of servant leadership not only on followers like employees but also on other organizational stockholders as customers and even on the community (Chen et al., 2015). Nevertheless, how servant leaders increase the level of satisfaction and engagement in customer attitudes and behaviors in service industries remains an undiscussed issue, and this issue is the main focus of the current study. This research objective, which will be tested by hypotheses H1 and H2, address the demand side related to the customers of the restaurants. As explained previously, restaurants are facing a challenge to find the right manager characteristics to keep the organization competitive by increasing the level satisfaction and engagement of their customers.
- 2) assess the direct effect of servant leadership on employee engagement at the employee level in the restaurant. Servant-led managers focus on the follower needs (Graham, 1991), to help them to grow and develop exceeding their expectations which leads to increasing their job satisfaction (Mayer et al., 2008) and empowering them which leads to high level of engagement (De Clercq et al., 2014) in the workplace. While this research objective is responding to the problem of the supply side in the restaurant explained in the problem statement section, this study hypothesized (H3) a positive relationship between servant leadership employee engagement. Thus, knowing the driver and the type of leadership which will increase the engagement of employees with the restaurant and therefore decrease the turnover.

- investigate the indirect effect of servant leadership and the role of employee engagement in two directions:
  - a. The mediating effect of employee engagement between servant leadership and customer satisfaction. By meeting the basic needs of the followers, namely relatedness, competence, and autonomy in the workplace, servant leader engenders their engagement reflecting in higher customer satisfaction (Neubert et al., 2016).
  - b. The mediating effect of employee engagement between servant leadership and customer engagement. Total engagement occurs in the presence of a special follower-centered style of leadership, in our case servant leadership, that make the employees more engaged in their work and spread to increase the level of engagement in the customers through the same followers (Roberts & Alpert, 2010).

Testing the mediating effect of employees' attitudes further clarifies the third objective. To answer this objective and while this study proposing (H4 and H5) that if employees are more engaged and satisfied, customers satisfaction and engagement will follow. However, the problem in the restaurant operations remains with not only relying on first-line employees to deliver the services, but also on the manager, who holds specific leadership traits, to keep those employees committed and motivated (H3) and to affect the customer experience as well.



# Figure 2-4. Multilevel Research Model

Notes: Level 1 = customer level; Level 2 = employee level; and Level 3 = restaurant level.

SL = Servant Leadership; EE = Employee Engagement; CS = Customer Satisfaction; CE = Customer Engagement; WTS = Willingness to Suggest; WOM = Word-of-Mouth.

Given the significant research objectives of this study, the research hypotheses represented in the model which are explained in Section 2.6 were developed as follows:

Servant Leadership is positively related to Customer Outcomes and Employee Engagement:

- H1. Servant Leadership is positively related to Customer Satisfaction.
- H2. Servant Leadership is positively related to Customer Engagement.
- H3. Servant Leadership is positively related to Employee Engagement.

## Employee Engagement is positively related to Customer Outcomes:

H4. Employee Engagement is positively related to Customer Satisfaction.

H5. Employee Engagement is positively related to Customer Engagement.

# The mediation effect of Employee Engagement:

H6. Employee Engagement mediates the relationship between Servant Leadership and Customer Satisfaction.

H7. Employee Engagement mediates the relationship between Servant Leadership and Customer Engagement.

#### 2.7 Research Hypotheses Development

This study investigates the effect of servant leadership on customer outcomes and employee engagement as well as the mediating effect of employee engagement (Figure 2-3). Meanwhile, as servant leadership is a promising style for the hospitality industry (Brownell, 2010), its presence should be investigated in a restaurant context seeking to keep their employees satisfied and engaged leading to satisfied and more engaged customers. Thus, the engagement of these employees is also examined. The latent constructs of customer engagement are willingness to suggest and word-ofmouth, which are explained in separate sections. The relationships among the four concepts (servant leadership, customer satisfaction, customer engagement, employee engagement) are explained and seven hypotheses are proposed in the following sections.

### 2.7.1 Servant Leadership and Customer Outcomes

At the customer level, satisfaction is considered as one of the most critical factors influencing customers' future behavior, and has undergone extensive research as an organizational goal, especially in the highly competitive hospitality and tourism industry. In 1980, Oliver explained the expectation/disconfirmation paradigm and clarified that consumers grow their expectations about a product or service before purchase and then they compare actual performance to those expectations after purchase to define their satisfaction (or dissatisfaction) with the purchase (Oliver, 1980). Later, Oliver and Swan (1989) explored the equity model. The model elucidated that when consumers receive more value in terms of price, time, and effort that they actually spent, satisfaction would exist. Referring to his book, Oliver (2014,

p. 8) defined customer satisfaction (CS) as follow: "Satisfaction is the consumer's fulfillment response. It is a judgment that a product/service feature, or the product or service itself, provided (or is providing) a pleasurable level of consumption-related fulfillment, including levels of under- or over- fulfillment." In the restaurant industry customer are more satisfied when perceived high quality and value in terms of service, food, and price, in addition to the overall experience that would likely affect their intention to come back or recommend the place to others.

Being in today's connected world, customer engagement behaviors (van Doorn et al., 2010) are very important. The customer engagement construct has been increasingly gaining importance and investigated in the marketing literature since 2005 (Brodie et al., 2011). Nevertheless, it took about a decade (2013) for the concept of customer engagement to be gradually recognized in the context of hospitality and tourism as the main driver for business success (N. Torres & Kline, 2013; Wei et al., 2013). Since then, the definitions of customer engagement range from unidimensional (van Doorn et al., 2010) to multidimensional (i.e., cognitive, emotional, and/or However, despite the prominence of the behavioral) (Hollebeek, 2011). multidimensional perspective, the majority of the definitions in the academic and business practice literature conveyed engagement as a unidimensional concept and the behavioral dimension specifically appears dominant and perhaps received the most attention (Choi & Kandampully, 2019). Regardless of the context, at least one of the following three dimensions -cognitive, emotional (affective), and physical (behavioral) should reflect the customer engagement construct (Brodie et al., 2011). Thus, this study will be looking into the behavioral dimension of the customer engagement (CE) defined by van Doorn et al. (2010, p. 254) as: "Customers' behavioral manifestation toward a brand or firm, beyond purchase, resulting from motivational drivers such as word-of-mouth activity, recommendations, helping other customers, blogging, writing reviews."

In fact, customer engagement is relatively a novel concept compared to the traditional key drivers such as customer satisfaction, perceived service quality, perceived value, or trust and its effect size is ascertained to be greater than that of the traditional measurements (So et al., 2016). Therefore, this construct has gained popularity and received much more attention for scholars in the marketing literature. Nevertheless, the concept of customer engagement has been gradually recognized in the context of hospitality and tourism as the main driver for business success since 2013 (N. Torres & Kline, 2013; Wei et al., 2013). On one hand, in most of the past studies, consequences of CS and CE are most of the time attitudinal (e.g., Loyalty) or behavioral (e.g., Word-of-Mouth) with many contextually-specific attributes being in hotel, restaurant, theme park, resort, or destination (Ahn & Back, 2018; Canny, 2014; Howat & Assaker, 2013; Qiu et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2018). On the other hand, new studies attribute conceptually and empirically the effect of customer satisfaction on customer engagement (Choi & Kandampully, 2019; Youssef et al., 2018). The originality of the current study, however, is to set servant leadership as an antecedent of both CS and CE.

Pointing on the essence of the servant leadership theory, presented by Greenleaf (2002), expanded by Graham (1991), and redefined by Eva et al. (2019), both the followers and other resources within the organization such as the customers of the restaurant will cultivate the behaviors of servant-led manager. Servant leaders have focus on the interest that goes beyond the employees to reach other stockholders in the organization including customers and eventually society outside the organization (Graham, 1991; Yang et al., 2018). A servant leader will be listening

attentively as important part of the verbal and non-verbal communication (Spears, 2010). When the manager in the restaurant listens with empathy to every request or complaints by any customer as well as practicing the same skills with his/her team members, he/she is more likely to be trusted. Customers will feel more comfortable in such surrounding where they can ask for any service knowing that they will be delivered to their needs. At the same time, the servant leader, the manager in this case, is the one who is taking care of the day-to-day operations while keeping the balance in thinking about the long-term effect and objectives of the restaurant reflecting the conceptualizing characteristic of a servant leadership (Spears, 2010). He or she makes sure that all the needs of the customers will be met, and that they are satisfied with the food, the service, and having an enjoyable experience by always being around and directly in contact with them. This leader knows very well that this kind of care and behavior will lead to having more satisfied guests and these guests will come back and tell other people about their experience. Keeping this in mind, by practicing stewardship, a characteristic of servant leadership (Spears, 2010), the manager in this restaurant will be committed to serve the needs of others including the customers and will be holding trust for their and the community's best. The concept of servant leadership also is distinct from any other leadership types as it emphasizes on the interests of others inside and outside of the organization (Neubert et al., 2016). By definition, the servant leader, the restaurant manager in this study, has a *mindset* of caring for all the entrusted followers including employees (Greenleaf, 1970) and at the same time showing concern towards others including customers (Eva et al., 2019). In return, these customers will always feel this trust and belonging to the community and that they will be willing to share their suggestions for improvement with the staff and the leader. Lastly, they will reflect positive words and stories about their experience to relatives, friends, and other customers.

Empirically, despite the aim of servant leaders to make an impact beyond the organization or its members, there is limited research supporting this assertion opening a vast window for many new research needed in this matter including this thesis. For instance, in a compatible work to our proposal, Chen et al. (2015) demonstrate that servant leadership is *directly* related to service performance in terms of service quality, customer-focused citizenship behavior, and customer-oriented prosocial behavior in hair salon. In a different context, hospital setting, servant leadership is *indirectly* associated to patient's satisfaction through nurse job satisfaction as a mediator (Neubert et al., 2016). Specifically, the authors tested servant leadership at the unit-level which showed association with job satisfaction of the nurses; Job satisfaction also showed a positive relation with patient's satisfaction indicators including satisfaction with nursing, satisfaction with pain management, and willingness to recommend. Although promising results for SL effects on the customer-level, the study considered SL from the individual perception. In this thesis, servant leadership will be tested at the restaurant-level to explain the variability between different restaurant leaders. Interestingly, Liden and colleagues found no *direct link* between servant leadership and store performance using secondary internal data composite of carry-out accuracy, delivery accuracy, customer satisfaction, facility audit, and sanitation audit (Liden, Wayne, et al., 2014). Last but not least, in the hotel industry, Hsiao et al. (2015) investigated the key mediating roles of employee positive psychological capital and employee service-oriented organizational citizenship behavior between servant leadership which stimulates customer value co-creation (CVC). Although the authors adopted three-level model

(organization, employee, customer) using HLM, they didn't run it simultaneously and treat it as two-level model, therefore no test was used to reveal if servant leadership facilitates CVC directly. To strengthen the rationale to test and reveal a direct association between SL and CE, I refer to (Pansari & Kumar, 2017); it is believed that customer engagement is positive for value creation. Moreover, the current research extends recent research that relate servant leadership within an organization by proposing that servant leadership has a direct association on the satisfaction of restaurant patron which differ from the patient in hospital (Neubert et al., 2016) and the customer in hair salon (Chen et al., 2015). I also propose a restaurant setting with few management layers (i.e., flat organization) where the customer can notice the presence of the leader helping the employees. The manager in this restaurant will always be visible to all customers and interacting and caring for both the employees and the customers served by them. Therefore, in this customer service position, he/she has to greet the customers when arriving and leaving, direct them to the right table, and visit them during the meal time. The customers also could always refer to him/her for any complaint or recommendation. In line with the servant leadership theory, restaurant organization setting, and the above promising yet inconsistent literature studies; I argue that servant leadership has direct influence on customer satisfaction and customer engagement in forms of WOM and WTS and propose the following hypotheses:

Hypothesis 1. Servant Leadership is positively related to Customer Satisfaction.Hypothesis 2. Servant Leadership is positively related to Customer Engagement.

#### 2.7.2 Servant Leadership and Employee Engagement

At the employee level, one of the main challenges facing the hospitality firms has always been and still is to retain their employees, keeping them satisfied with the work and make them more committed and engaged.

Despite the disagreement about the accurate definition of the relatively new construct employee engagement, there is common agreement about the important characteristics of engagement. Therefore many definitions by a number of scholars have been provided in the academic literature (Saks, 2006). Kahn (1990, p. 694), states personal engagement as "the harnessing of organization members' selves to their work roles; in engagement, people employ and express themselves physically, cognitively, and emotionally during role performances." Whereas, Schaufeli et al. (2002) further identified and tested three dimensions (vigor, dedication, and absorption) as the structure of the engagement. Later the authors defined employee engagement (EE) as the status of the mind of the employees related positively to their work and which comprises the three mentioned characteristics (Schaufeli et al., 2002). In this study, I adopt Schaufeli et al.'s (2002) definition of employee engagement which has received increase attention in hospitality research in the recent years (Babakus et al., 2017; Ling et al., 2017; Putra et al., 2017; Yeh, 2013).

More engaged employees impact customer satisfaction and drive financial and market performance (Barbera et al., 2009). More satisfied employees can maintain high service quality and increase customer loyalty (Arnett et al., 2002). Due to the known effect of EE on firm performance, tourism and hospitality scholars have attempted to either identify its antecedents (Kusluvan et al., 2010; Slåtten & Mehmetoglu, 2011) or related it with other variables (e.g., Tourism involvement, Turnover intention) in one model (Lu et al., 2016; Yeh, 2013). This current study, however, explores a factor that is relatively new to the hospitality literature: servant leadership.

That is, a core characteristic of servant leadership, selflessness or looking beyond the interest of one's self, as Greenleaf puts it (2002), could be the answer to employees when they are concerned about how their managers treat them showing non-abusive supervisory behaviors which make them respected followers and more committed to the organization. It is also clear in Graham's servant leadership definition as an "inspirational and moral" model leadership (1991, p. 105). Moreover, developing and helping others to grow, understanding emotional needs of others, caring about their well-being, being authentic and acting ethically are some of the characteristics of a servant leader (Van Dierendonck, 2011). In addition, applying servant leadership creates empowerment conditions and provides stewardship and/or direction (Spears & Lawrence, 2002) in the followers. The second feature of servant leadership defined by Eva et al. (2019) is the mode by which the manager involve the employees in the decision-making while focusing on empowering them and therefore alleviating their level of engagement in the work. In this regard, servant leadership activated employee engagement among flight attendants (Karatepe & Talebzadeh, 2016). Hunter et al. (2013) also showed that servant leadership is negatively associated with disengagement and turnover intentions when tested in U.S. retail organizations.

Not surprisingly, employees who recognize that their leaders show servant leadership behaviors such as forming long-term relationships with them, understand, empathize and putting their interests first, work with them to grow and develop, empower them, and display ethical behaviors feel more satisfied and more engaged (i.e., vigorous, dedicated, and absorbed) in their job. Relatively, in a step to validate

the development of servant leadership survey, Van Dierendonck and Nuijten (2011) tested the extent that servant leadership and its dimensions are related to engagement in different studies. Servant leadership showed positive relationship to both employee engagement and employee satisfaction. Interestingly, empowerment, accountability, and humility were among the servant leadership dimensions with the strongest relations, common to the dimensions used by (Liden et al., 2015; Liden et al., 2008) which also will be some of the dimensions used in this thesis. Additionally, servant leadership influences positively employee engagement in police leadership in Wales (Martin et al., 2017). However, no empirical support for the direct relationship between SL and EE when examined between flight attendants and their purser (Karatepe & Talebzadeh, 2016). Therefore, the inadequacy of the previous results reported in the extant literature on servant leadership theory motivated me to further research the true, direct, positive, and significant effect of SL on EE in relation to hospitality organizations such as restaurants. Moreover, no studies have been conducted to research impacts of servant leadership on employees' employees' engagement in the hospitality industry particularly in mid-scale restaurant businesses. Thus, the following hypothesis is proposed:

Hypothesis 3. Servant Leadership is positively related to Employee Engagement.

# 2.7.3 Servant Leadership, Employee Engagement, and Customer Outcomes

Some of the most powerful indicators of the success in hospitality serviceprovided organizations like restaurants are internally satisfaction and engagement of their employees and externally the satisfaction and engagement of their customers. Worthy to note that employees' satisfaction (Spector, 1997) and customer satisfaction (Oliver, 2014) constructs have been both extensively and widely-researched in the human resources and marketing literature (Homburg & Stock, 2004).

To start with, satisfaction at the customer level has always been the defining element for a successful business and studied across many areas in the service marketing literature (Delcourt et al., 2013). Customer satisfaction is the most common goal between the hospitality firms. In many previous work, researchers used customer satisfaction as a mediator influenced by the attributes (e.g., Service quality, food quality, physical environment) and affecting behavioral intentions of the customers in the restaurant (Canny, 2014; Cronin Jr et al., 2000; Heung & Gu, 2012), and in the café (Zhang et al., 2018). Moreover, in the tourism context, Qiu et al. (2018) affirmed that tourist satisfaction in the destination rests to be one of the most important reasons for the visitors to stay loyal, return, and recommend through word-of-mouth. Yet, this study will treat the customer satisfaction as servant leadership outcome.

Recently one notable research validated that the relationship between nurse managers' servant leadership behavior and patient satisfaction is fully mediated with nurse satisfaction in hospitals (Neubert et al., 2016). Customers in restaurants differ from patients in hospital as stakeholders who have different needs to satisfy and dissimilar purposes to visit, revisit, or recommend the organization. No patient wants to leave a hospital with an intention to come back whereas a satisfied restaurant patron would be most likely to revisit again and most of the time share the experience with others. Furthermore, leadership can only be understood in relation to the context and its characteristics in which it occurs (Yukl, 2013). Although leadership has a power explanatory factor beyond the context's characteristics, Yukl (2013) emphasizes that leadership is bounded in particular context and specific conditions which are vital elements to understand its influence. Restaurant business has its own characteristics. Hence, this thesis will use employees and customers in the restaurant sector being more relevant and which will be the first to test such relation in this context and in Lebanon, a developing country.

Some employees are more engaged than others in their work. The level of engagement might be due to different leadership style (Hoon Song et al., 2012; Tims et al., 2011). In a multi-level analysis, Tims et al. (2011) concluded that daily transformational leadership related positively to employees' daily engagement. As employee engagement have been studied in other leadership types, investigating the link between servant leadership and work engagement started only in recent years. The first attempt showed a positive influence of servant leadership on employee engagement with data collected from four IT companies (De Clercq et al., 2014). In the same year, another paper was published exploring the difference linking servant leadership (SL) and transformational leadership (TFL) to employee engagement (van Dierendonck et al., 2014). The authors concluded that both SL and TFL were related to work engagement; however, SL worked primarily through follower need satisfaction. Once again in a later study, servant leadership was confirmed to impact positively employee engagement (Sousa & van Dierendonck, 2017). Although it contributes to a better understanding of servant leadership, it is inconclusive as only three dimensions of the servant leader behaviors were used and on a sample of anonymous range of participants from different sectors indicating very little about the context. Moreover, employee engagement was tested as mediator. In their research to validate a Short Form of the Servant Leadership Behavior Scale Sendjaya et al. (2017) determined that servant leadership behaviors reduce workplace deviant behaviors through the mediation of employee engagement. This thesis will consider

unidimensional global servant leadership that include all the dimensions and test it exclusively in the restaurant industry.

Regarding the servant leadership hospitality stream, Carter and Baghurst (2014) introduced the construct, employee engagement, by conducting a qualitative study at a single restaurant in U.S. that provided evidence of a positive relationship between servant leadership and employee engagement. The authors recommended a quantitative study using a larger sample to validate the results. The current study is responding to this recommendation. Only one more study carried out in the same hospitality literature to date in hotels in China and resulted in servant leadership having a more significant and direct effect than authentic leadership regarding increasing employees' work engagement (Ling et al., 2017). Lately, Huertas-Valdivia et al. (2018) proposed and the data analysis in their study revealed that in the hospitality industry, empowering leadership style has a powerful positive impact on employees' intrinsic motivation leading to higher level of employee engagement (Putra et al., 2017). Therefore, the same study suggested to explore the role of other emerging leadership styles as servant leadership in enhancing employee engagement in the hospitality industry. In view of this suggestion, a clear gap exists in the servant leadership literature which this thesis will fill by using a sample from the restaurant industry located in Lebanon to elaborate more not only on the relationship between the servant leadership and employee engagement but also on the customer satisfaction and engagement. Many researchers expressed out conceptually the effect of employee engagement on customer engagement (Kumar & Pansari, 2016; Mittal et al., 2018) and theoretically the generalized exchange theory (GET) could explain the interplay between servant leadership, employee engagement, and customer engagement.

Generalized exchange theory goes beyond the traditional dyadic exchanges and examines three or more actors who engage in a chain of indirect and reciprocal transfers among each other (Bearman, 1997; Ekeh, 1974; Linda D. Molm et al., 2007; Marshall, 1998). Different from the bilateral exchanges, such as those between a customer and an employee, network-GET recognizes the importance of multilateral exchanges, such as those among the servant leader manager (A) of the restaurant employees, the restaurant employees (B), and even potentially the main customers (C), and other customers. The servant leadership concept has a morality point of view that is concerned with the welfare of others and the best interest of followers in mind (Gregoire & Arendt, 2014). This mindset and stewardship spreads over the community which aids exchange system under the generalized exchange theory to work (Ekeh, 1974). In other words, a restaurant implementing servant leadership satisfy the needs of the employees and empower them, the employees become more engaged and exchange the higher level of engagement with the customers who in turn become more satisfied and engaged and exchange their engagement with the restaurant in form of WTS and WOM.

Based on the above review, it is clear how important the three constructs (i.e., Employee engagement, Customer satisfaction, and Customer engagement) are to the service industry particularly to the restaurants and hotels businesses. However, no systematic study linked them to the servant leader behavior in one model creating a gap in the existing hospitality servant leadership literature. Relying on the GET theory and primary data, and to address the above deficiencies in the hospitality servant leadership literature, this thesis will explore the associations of servant leadership with the level of engagement of followers, the employees, and those who are served by followers, the customers, in for-profit organization context, the restaurant, in a middle-eastern developing country, Lebanon. In regards to all the above observations the study suggests the following hypotheses:

Hypothesis 4. Employee Engagement is positively related to Customer Satisfaction.Hypothesis 5. Employee Engagement is positively related to Customer Engagement.Hypothesis 6. Employee Engagement mediates the relationship between ServantLeadership and Customer Satisfaction.

Hypothesis 7. Employee Engagement mediates the relationship between Servant Leadership and Customer Engagement.

## **Chapter 3: Methodology**

#### 3.1 Introduction

This chapter discusses the main research method employed for this study. Section 3.2 in this chapter discusses the research design developed to response the research question as well as specify the research process followed. The main survey details including the survey setting, survey population, and sample size are explained in section 3.3. In line with the research objective and the applied circumstances, the methods for sampling and the sample size are decided accordingly. Section 3.4 introduces the data analysis methods used in this study, including the analytical approaches, the methods used to test the reliability and the validity of the measurements and the methods to test the multi-level structural model hypotheses. Section 3.5 expatiates the measurement scales of the constructs for the main survey, including servant leadership, employee engagement, customer satisfaction, and customer engagement, which all are adopted from previous research in the literature.

# 3.2 Research Design

This study was designed to investigate the influence of servant leadership in services on restaurant experience in a multi-level conceptual model. Drawing on the generalized exchange theory, the research model exhibits how servant leadership relates and boosts employee engagement and customer experience and engagement. This approach is considered typical explanatory research that seeks theoretical reasoning. As every research has its own unique design (Sarantakos, 2017), this study adopted a multilevel model descriptive analysis. Such design in cause-and-effect is obligatory to determine the causal relationship of unit and individual levels predictors of servant leadership and employee engagement. Thus, helping in investigating the effects of servant leadership at the employee level and customer level in restaurants which answers the research questions. Additionally, according to the principles proposed by Saunders et al. (2009), and to answer the research question and reach the research objectives, a quantitative survey is necessary for the present study to confirm the model derived from the reviewed literature and fundamental theories. All of the issues associated with servant leader behaviors and employee engagement were explored from the perspective of employees and the customer outcomes from the perspective of the restaurant patrons.

Based on the logic guiding the research question and objectives, this study follows a positivist approach and employs a quantitative methodology to explore potential cause-and-effect connections among variables. Utilizing a correlational design, the study seeks to forecast associations between constructs by quantifying coefficient magnitudes and determining statistical significance.

A questionnaire was designed to examine the relationships among the relevant constructs in this study. The four related constructs, namely, servant leadership, employee engagement, customer satisfaction, and customer engagement, were examined by groups of items, which were designed based on previous studies and the characteristics of the services in the hospitality industry (Section 3.3). All the measurement scales for the aforementioned variables were adopted from previous studies. The concept of servant leadership behavior refers more to the behavior of the leader while operating and managing the restaurant ordinary employees' team. Thus, the target respondents for the questionnaire were frontline employees and team leaders or entry-level managers in mid-scale restaurants. Those are the people who deliver services directly to customers and have frequent interactions with the customers. However, for level 1, the target respondents were the customers of the same restaurants. The reliability of the measurements was tested after the pilot study, then the main survey was collected. A pilot study was conducted in Lebanon to test the content validity and reliability of the survey instrument as well as to evaluate the readability and effectiveness of the Arabic version of the questionnaire. After collecting the data from the survey of this study, the reliability and the validity of the measurements were also tested. Based on the data collected from the survey, relationships among the variables were analyzed with HLM using multilevel modeling. This analysis was followed by the discussion and conclusion of the research, along with the implications for future research.

To sum up, the research involves seven steps (Figure 3-1). The study began with a literature review, followed by the proposal of a research framework, including the research hypotheses. Chapter 2 discusses both the literature review and conceptual multi-level model. Previous related studies and the conceptual multi-level model established a foundation for the instrument development, in which the questionnaire design was based. The research design from the third step (instrument development) is reported in succession in the following sections.


Figure 3-1. Overview of the research design

Notes: SL = Servant Leadership; EE = Employee Engagement; CS = Customer Satisfaction; CE = Customer Engagement; GET = Generalized Exchange Theory; D1 = Description; D2 = Discussion.

### 3.3 Survey Setting, Sample, and Data Procedures

#### 3.3.1 Survey Setting and Population

The survey setting for this study will include restaurants being a chain or freestanding restaurants of any type of cuisine (e.g., Italian restaurants, American restaurants or specialty restaurants, and other types of restaurants). The restaurants in this way are considered mid-scale or casual.

The restaurant industry environment is getting more and more competitive and an effective leadership is much needed for service firms to be successful (Gupta et al., 2005; Jang & Kandampully, 2018). And as this thesis emphases on the importance of servant leadership, hence, selecting a restaurant context may be most appropriate.

In addition, a restaurant provides various services (e.g., ordering, table services) to customers where employees need to constantly interact with them (Chathoth et al., 2013). As a sector of the hospitality industry, restaurants also focus on serving customers well and encourage employees to maintain good relationships with customers. In such restaurant organization the leader is in direct contact with the followers (i.e., employees) who are serving the customers. Following the recommendation of Liden, Panaccio, et al. (2014), the service industry, restaurant context in particular, is considered the ideal place to test the presented model of this study where there are few layers of management such that managers/leaders interact often with followers, who directly serve customers. Additionally, customer contact is requirement of the restaurant service (Hartline & Ferrell, 1996). Moreover, in this type of restaurant as in figure 3-2, the manager/leader will have the ability and has given full responsibility to act as direct formal leader over the followers while being present in the organization. Therefore, he or she may deploy servant leader behaviors

through the empowerment position in the restaurant. In addition, a flat restaurant organizational structure is important (see Figure 3-2), especially for this study and within the hospitality industry as it has many benefits. To name few, flat organizations have better communication, better decision making, employees are given more autonomy and there is a higher degree of work delegation. As there is less of a hierarchy within an organization, employees feel more at ease to talk to their leaders and colleagues and are overall more satisfied in the workplace. Employees at the same time feel more empowered and therefore they will be likely to be more engaged. Team work is also best when employees are given a considerable amount of autonomy and decision-making ability.

Another three essential reasons to choose a restaurant for the setting of this study. First, the restaurant and due to its service element could result in a relatively high performance ambiguity (Sitkin & Roth, 1993) related to the management or the employees. Second, a customer dining experience (e.g., satisfaction) could lead to a significant consequence (Oh, 2002), that is, a negative customer behavior (e.g., engagement or not). Third, restaurant depend on people to serve people, this nature includes high interdependence between the three exchange actors considering the servant leader/manager, the employee, and the customer who is participating in the exchange process. Hence, and according to Northouse (2016), restaurant context is totally different than other organizational context including health care and nonprofit or other settings. The norms and the ways servant leadership are performed may vary. Thus, this study is best and interesting to be tested in this restaurant setting.

This current research specifically focuses on restaurant employees and their manager as the servant leader as well as the customers who are being served by them during their working hours in the restaurants in Lebanon. Choosing restaurants in Lebanon has many reasons:

- While the majority of the studies on servant leadership have been conducted in either China or US, research is needed in other countries such as Lebanon to add to generalization of servant leadership across borders (Eva et al., 2019).
- 2. Lebanon is a developing country rich in multicultural people as it is considered the link between the east and the west in Asia and which is well known by its hospitality caring culture and service (Fakih et al., 2016). Such culture would allow the servant leader characteristics to be displayed. Lebanon is the most culturally diverse country in the Middle East and is considered as a unique cosmopolitan Arab state. Added to that, the Lebanese society is very modern and share similarities with certain culture of southern Europe as the country is linked, due to the French colonialization, in ideology and culture to Europe. This unique diverse rare Arab and European environment country in the Middle East is considered Europe's gateway to Western Asia as well as Asia's gateway to the Western World (Davis, 2011), and grants it an important mediator role and makes it commercial, banking, and cultural hub ("Lebanon country profile," 2018). As a touristic summer and winter destination, Beirut, the capital city of Lebanon, was named Travel and Leisure Magazine's Best International City for Food in 2017 (Rahhal, 2018), and the country has recently been recommended in many global publications for its food, wine, and nightlife. In 2013, The Lonely Planet ranked Lebanon among the top 10 food destinations in the world and the country was also judged by CNN to be the world's best breakfast destination (Ekstein, 2013). Lebanon is not comparable to any Arab country in its uniqueness in diversity of culture,

politics, and religion (Naoufal, 2018). Such unique setting characteristics would allow replication and generalization of the study in similar multicultural cosmopolitan city like Hong Kong and Singapore.

- 3. Leadership is same all over the world but leading is not. How to lead differ by region and culture to match local market (Weir, 2010). Specifically that leadership differs in the characteristics of the context of place and people which influence leader's behavior (Yukl, 2013). Likewise, Megheirkouni (2016) claims applicability of leadership theories could be specific in the Arab Middle-East countries like Lebanon. Dorfman and House (2004) also argue that leadership studies in the Middle-East are almost nonexistent due to the inherent difficulty of conducting organizational research there. Hence, findings from Lebanon could add significance on the Arab Middle-East region organizational hospitality leadership research.
- 4. A recent study investigated the effect of servant leadership on employee satisfaction in different types of events (Megheirkouni, 2018). The author analyzed data collected from three different Middle Eastern countries including a birthday party in Lebanon and showed the applicability of servant leadership in personal events on employee satisfaction. However, with this promising finding, all the data for this thesis will be collected from Lebanon to study servant leadership applicability in the restaurant sector on employee engagement and customer outcomes.
- Accessibility to data. The researcher has connection with many restaurants in the category chosen for the study in Lebanon.

## 3.3.2 Sampling

The main survey was conducted in restaurants all over Lebanon. The restaurant market in Lebanon can be segmented according to numerous criteria, of which the most common is the average check (Daou, 2015). This private report defined the segments as follows:

- High-end: the average check can surpass the \$90 for a full lunch or dinner experience.
- Medium to high: the average check varies between \$60 to \$90.
- Medium: the average check range is \$30 to \$60 in restaurants such as Leila, Kabab-ji, Margherita, Olio, Duo and Mandaloun.
- Medium-low: the average check is below \$30 in restaurants such as Roadster Diner and Crepaway.

According to Daou (2015), the same private investment bank report, restaurants in the medium and medium-low segments manage to have the highest turnovers and the highest number of outlets across the country since they capture the largest portion of the Lebanese population. In addition, the medium and medium-low restaurants are considered in the mid-scale segment/casual dining restaurants with an organizational structure of few management layers as shown in figure 3-2. Therefore, consistent with Fakih et al. (2016), this study defines the type of restaurant in Lebanon in terms of the price paid per person on a typical meal into high-scale, mid-scale, and low-scale restaurant and considered the MSR as sampling. Typically, low-scale restaurants (LSR) were defined as having average check less than USD \$20, mid-scale (MSR) between USD \$20 and \$60, and high-scale (HSR) above USD \$60. According to Fakih et al. (2016), "these brackets are based in the Michelin guide, which uses similar criteria to classify European restaurants into different price and segment

categories, and which, in this case, was also slightly adapted to local economic standards based on the ministry of tourism classification and information from Lebanese restaurants review blogs (e.g., <u>www.tripadvisor.com/Restaurants-g294004-</u> <u>Lebanon.html</u>). For example, the LSR in Europe is below 35 Euros, which, in the Lebanese context, correspond to \$34 (p. 75)."

As I am very familiar with these restaurants mentioned in the report, I guarantee that most of them have the same organizational chart as follow: Top management (e.g., Restaurant Manager / Executive chef), Middle Management (e.g., team/shift leader/supervisor/headwaiter, and head chef), Front-line Employees (e.g., waiter/waitress, host/hostess, food runner, bartender, busser, cashier, expeditor, line/section chef, commis-chef). Moreover, to make sure the restaurant chosen for the study functions in this way, the restaurant chart of the operation was provided in advance from the administration. The restaurant was selected using convenience sampling from all the restaurants available in the same category. This practice of choosing the restaurants has been used by previous study (Jang & Kandampully, 2018).



# Figure 3-2. Restaurant Organization

To clarify the "employee" and the "leader" for this study are not limited to individual customer-contact employees who engage in services but also who work in productions in a restaurant context; they are primarily the front (dining area) and back (kitchen area) of the house frontline employees and entry-level team leader supervising directly those frontline employees working during their shifts. Frontline employees in restaurants involve several positions such as waiter/waitress, host/hostess, food runner, bartender, busser, cashier, expeditor, line/section chef, commis-chef, and other restaurant-related positions. The positions of entry-level are at the level following the restaurant managers, such as team leader/head waiter, and head chef.

Furthermore, responding to the call of many research (Eva et al., 2018; Van Dierendonck, 2011), this study used multiple stakeholder perspectives (e.g., Leader/manager, the followers employees, and the customers) as a multi-source collection of data to better assess the variables on servant leadership and the ratings (Eva et al., 2019).

#### 3.3.3 Sample Size

The size of the sample dictates the amount of information we have and therefore, in part, determines our precision or level of confidence that we have in our sample estimates. An estimate always has an associated level of uncertainty, which depends upon the underlying variability of the data as well as the sample size. The more variable the population, the greater the uncertainty in our estimate. Similarly, the larger the sample size the more information we have and so our uncertainty reduces. As our sample size increases, the confidence in our estimate increases, our uncertainty decreases, and we have greater precision. When considering simple random sampling, sampling error SE are larger than in other probabilistic sampling technique. Same population but different conclusions depending on the size and type of the sample. This proves the crucial importance of sample size and sampling techniques when it comes to statistical inference. Therefore, sample size should be considered and decided carefully. The sample size of a study theoretically depends on four elements, namely, population size, desired precision (i.e., sampling error, margin of error, or confidence interval), variability, and confidence level. Differences on these four elements imply a variation on the desirable size of the sample. Therefore, the sample size depends on the requirements imposed by the analyst (i.e., desired precision and confidence level), which are decided before sampling, and the observed aspects (i.e., population and variability). Where some researchers depend on the rule of thumb of 10 to 1 meaning that the minimum sample size for a study is equal to the number of items multiply by 10 (Hair et al., 2010).

While sample size of 30 is the minimum necessary requirement for normality, multilevel requires large sample of clusters. As multilevel are usually estimated with maximum likelihood methods which they perform much better when sample sizes are very large and worse when the number of clusters is small (McNeish & Stapleton, 2016). Guidelines by many researchers have been suggested such as 30 clusters (level-2) with a cluster size of 30 (level-1), a minimum of 20 clusters, or 50 clusters with a cluster size of 20 for cross-level interactions or 100 clusters with 10 units each if the main interest is in the variance components (Hox et al., 2017; Snijders & Bosker, 2011). Moreover, the mean group size should be not less than 5 members. In referring to similar sample and mean group size used in the application of multilevel three-levels hierarchical studies, few solid work can be mentioned such as Chen et al. (2015)

and Tuan (2018). The former study conducted in hair salon, used a multilevel model of servant leadership including Level 1 as the customer-level (N = 470); Level 2 as the employee-level (n = 238); and Level 3 as the store-level (n = 30). The latter tested in tourism organizations, had N = 502 for customer-level, n = 197 for employee-level, and n = 37 for organizational-level. Another notable study in hotels had N = 303 (customer level); n = 190 (employee level); n = 30 (organizational level) (Hsiao et al., 2015). This thesis followed the same rule by considering at least 30 clusters for restaurant level 3 with average group size of 5 and above.

#### 3.3.4 Data Collection Procedure: Pilot test and main questionnaire

Ideally, data was collected from restaurants in Lebanon. Restaurant operators/managers might be reluctant to participate in the study; thus, it was very useful to use the Lebanese American University, LAU connections to gain access to restaurants and encourage establishment owners to participate in the study. Alternatively, having worked as a restaurant consultant for several years in Lebanon, the author acquainted with this sector and have developed a viable network in the industry, which facilitated the access of the data. Added to that, early preliminary approval to conduct the survey was initiated by contacting with some restaurant owners. One of the owners, who operates three restaurants suggested that the researcher need to collect data from the employees themself, and the manager of the restaurants will organize the collection of the data from the customers. The study also adopted a multi-source data collection method that made it possible for data to be collected from employees and customers in restaurants. In this regard, employees rated the restaurant manager servant leader and their work engagement. Then the customers rated their satisfaction and engagement towards the restaurant dining experience. Moreover, a discreet numerical & letter coding was used to match employees rating on managers' servant leadership and customers' responses. To provide a broad spectrum for academic analysis and mitigate bias (Carifio & Perla, 2007), the survey, as previously mentioned, was rated on 7-point Likert scale (1= Strongly Disagree to 7 = Strongly Agree).

As a start, following the back-translation method (Brislin, 1970), the questionnaire was first developed in English, translated into Arabic, and then back-translated into English to confirm its accuracy and ensure respondent's language convenience. Noting that the researcher's native language is Arabic. This was done using two independent, bilingual legal experts to ensure translation quality.

Following Hinkin et al. (1997's) guidelines, the main questionnaire's content validity was also evaluated by three expert groups before collecting the data:

- 1. two professors whose primary research focus was the restaurant industry;
- 2. hospitality graduate students with relevant field industry experience; and
- 3. restaurant managers who were currently working.

The three expert groups carefully examined the wording, clarity, readability, and meaning of the initial questionnaire. After that many suggestions were given to be more convenient for the first-line employees and restaurant customers in Lebanon. For instance, one group of the experts suggested to specify on the questionnaire who is considered the leader for the employees or change it to restaurant manager. Based on the comments also received from the two professors, the initial questionnaire was re-worded and reformulated to reflect more closely the restaurant industry and the study's context. It was then clarified within the questionnaire that "Leader = Restaurant Manager".

Then, a pilot test was conducted with 40 actual restaurant employees and 70 restaurant patrons. The result of data analysis indicated that the value of Cronbach's alpha for all the constructs was greater than 0.70, suggesting that all the constructs' reliability was acceptable (Nunnally, 1978). Finally, the survey questionnaire was finalised and distributed to mid-scale-service restaurant employees and customers in Lebanon in the summer of 2020.

To collect data form the mid-scale / casual dining restaurants in Lebanon, the researcher contacted several restaurants owners and or human resources to seek their voluntary approval to participate in the study. Where most of the restaurants were located in the main capital, Beirut, restaurants in other populated and touristic areas were also included after approval. Out of 55 restaurants owners or administrator contacted, 37 initially approved to conduct the study. At a later stage three restaurants withdrew and another two were omitted due to short period of leader-organizational tenure (i.e., less than 6 months) leaving 32 restaurants as the final list which was included for analysis. The initial contact was done either by phone, emails, or personal meetings at the restaurant to explain the context of the study. For this thesis, the main data collection was conducted among restaurant employees to rate their manager leader's behaviors and to self-rate their engagement in the work. Customers of the same restaurant will be rating their satisfaction and engagement. Accordingly, the research instrument was distributed. To ensure the validity of the data, questionnaires collection included restaurant employees, customers who were served by the same employees who were managed by the same leader / restaurant manager. Therefore, the working schedule of the employees and the manager shifts were given to the researcher. Usually, for most of the chosen restaurants, there were two shifts: morning shift (AM) including

lunch and night shift (PM) including dinner. For lunch or dinner shift the schedule would be as follow: one restaurant manager, two or more frontline employees, serving two or more customers. As the study is interested in global satisfaction and engagement in the restaurant, on average 2 customers were at least nested in 1 employee. The questionnaire was coded by (L) if distributed for the morning shift participants and by (D) for the night shift. The same code was used for customers at lunch (L) and dinner (D). These questionnaires were code-lettered to each shift and code-numbered to match responses from employees with those from customers. Another part of the questionnaire was filled by the customers who at one time were served by the same employees of the same restaurant manager. The schedule and the coding were set according to the schedule provided by the human resources management or restaurant manager. The questionnaire was administered on site to ensure access to different groups (i.e., the customers patronizing the restaurants, the restaurant employees, and owners/operators/manager). With the assistance of another two graduate students from the Lebanese American University, where the researcher teaches, the data were collected in three waves to alleviate the potential common method bias (Podsakoff et al., 2003). In the first-wave survey (T1), employees provided their demographic data as well as rating their manager's servant leadership characteristics. In the second-wave survey (T2), conducted one month after T1, employees were asked to report on their work engagement with the restaurant. One month following T2, the third-wave survey (T3) was implemented to collect data from customers served by these employees in terms of customer satisfaction and customer engagement and their demographic. In the same vein, while food and service quality are the most attributes to affect customer satisfaction in restaurants (Canny, 2014) and as satisfaction construct exists at a transaction-specific and a cumulative level (Oliver, 2014), timing of the collection is crucial to control other outcomes. Accordingly, the questionnaire was administered at the end of the mealtime (i.e., after paying the bill) being at the table or at the exit door. Therefore, this study could capture the whole dining experience of the customers and reflect their entire satisfaction/experience at an aggregate level which is the objective of this research. Prior to the survey distribution, as mentioned earlier, the questionnaires were code-numbered to match responses from employees (T1 and T2) with those from their customers (T3). The questionnaire delivered to an employee (T1 and T2) and that to his/her customers (T3) were coded with the same letter code and number. Noting that despite this code numbering, the respondents remained unidentified since all questionnaires were answered anonymously.

On one hand, when given the approval to be on site, the employees were approached just before the opening of the restaurant and during changing shifts (AM/PM), so they have the time to answer the survey. In this case the researcher was present to administer the survey which likely leads to a high response rate. High response rates are particularly important in this investigation because of the aggregation of SL measures to the restaurant-level which will be meaningful only when a substantial percentage of employees complete surveys (Timmerman, 2005). And to mitigate social desirability issues and to ensure full confidentiality and anonymity of the respondents' profile, the researcher left the data collection sites until respondents completed the survey. Each employee has to fill one survey and keep it separately to avoid the bias of social desirability (Podsakoff et al., 2003). Later, the researcher collected the sealed envelopes including the questionnaires.

On the other hand, an envelope package including number of questionnaires needed with the full instructions was provided at each restaurant to survey their customers. The clear descriptions and the restaurant name were marked on the cover of the envelope. Most importantly, the envelope should be given to the restaurant manager to administer the process as he or she will be responsible for the employees and the customers of every shift. The researcher collected the sealed envelopes one to three weeks after distribution.

A total of 550 and 300 questionnaires were distributed to customers and employees respectively in 32 restaurants. Two hundred and fifty-two employees (84%) participated in the T1 survey. In the T2 survey, questionnaires were distributed to employees who took part in the T1 survey, and 229 responses were returned (76%). In the T3 survey, 404 customers of these employees returned their responses (74%), giving rise to the final sample of 229 employees and their 404 customers. After the matching process and retaining responses of those without missing relevant data, incomplete surveys and outliers which were treated at the screening stage, the study's final sample size used for analysis is as follow:

N = 404 customers (Level 1: customer-level); n = 229 employees (Level 2: employee-level); in 32 restaurants (Level 3: restaurant-level).

And each restaurant's employee and customer data were grouped into one team, with a total of 32 teams. Each team consisted of a group average size of 7 employees (ranging from 5 to 11) to one leader and 10 customer samples (ranging from 6 to 20).

## 3.3.5 Data Handling and Storage

The researcher handles the data from the participants in two protected steps. First the data was collected through a secure environment storage provided by Qualtrics (www.qualtrics.com) and protected by a password known only by the researcher. Qualtrics is one of the well-known and leading online survey software with access permission through the School of Hotel and Tourism Management (SHTM) at the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. In their security statement on the website, Qualtrics assures their dedication to protect data for all customers using best industry standards and high level of security (Qualtrics, 2018). Then the data was remained on the mentioned secure online server until the end of the collection period. The second step involves an exportation of the data from Qualtrics to a Microsoft Excel file which is saved on a password protected personal computer. At last, the data retrieved by Qualtrics will be deleted from the online server.

#### 3.3.6 Human Participants Ethics

Human subjects' protections will be applied at all level of the research. To start with, prior review of the study proposal, consent form, information, and survey was processed through an online application on the Human Subjects Ethics Application Review System. Then, approval by the Departmental Research Committee (DRC) was pursued through the Human Subjects Ethics Sub-committee at the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Furthermore, before filling the survey, every participant was asked to read, agree, and complete a consent form. In this regard, all the information about the purpose of the research, the limited risk, their voluntary participation, and the withdrawal ability from the study at any time will be given upfront. According to privacy, the anonymity of the participants was taken care off by using coding numbers/letters and not any personal information that could reveal their identity. In terms of confidentiality, no ethical concern would occur as the organization does not own the specific participants' data, and only overall results in a report form will be shared. In addition to the participants' confidentiality, the restaurant subject name of the research will stay confidential. This research will be done with no collaboration with the organization under study and is solely at the discretion of the researcher.

#### 3.4 Method for Data Analysis

### 3.4.1 Analytical Approaches

Given that each participant will be providing data at the restaurant level (e.g., servant leadership), at the employee level (e.g., employee engagement), and at the customer level (e.g., customer satisfaction and customer engagement), the hypothesis testing will necessitate hierarchical or cross-level techniques to be used. According to Raudenbush and Bryk (2002), data of this nature has a nested structure (e.g., two or more employees will be paired with the same supervisor) of three-level models, with customers (Level 1) nested in employees (level 2) nested in restaurants (level 3) in Lebanon. Therefore, conventional statistical techniques such as traditional regression methods to analyze the data may violate the independence assumption of observations and lead to an overestimation of the parameters (Zhang et al., 2009). Because hierarchical linear modeling (HLM) can resolve non-independence problems and estimate the impacts of factors at different levels simultaneously (Raudenbush & Bryk, 2002), HLM is used in this study as an analytic tool to test the hypotheses. In addition to the ability to model cross-level effects, HLM offers the advantage of providing the explained variance for each level rather than estimating the total variance explained (Cullen et al., 2004). Finally, HLM has been used in many leadership studies and the hospitality literature as well (e.g., Chen et al., 2015; Hsiao et al., 2015; Tuan, 2018).

Multilevel conceptual models require very established and strong theoretical support about the relationships between the variables. Fundamental theories, such as GET along with the main core SL theory, are used to guide the investigation in this thesis. In addition, most relationships among the constructs between the three levels have theoretical foundations and literature support. For example, although the mediating role of employee engagement in hypothesis 6 has not been previously examined, the impact of servant leadership on employee engagement as well as the relationship between employee engagement and customer satisfaction were supported by many previous studies (Kim, 2014; Zhang et al., 2016).

In a first step for the analysis to deal with the multilevel data is to ensure the appropriateness of aggregation. In this regard, the inter-rater agreement will be tested (James et al., 1984, 1993) and individual scores of servant leadership to the restaurant level (level 3 in the model) will be estimated through between-group differences and within-group agreement. Therefore, two intra-class correlations (i.e., agreement among ratings in the same group ICC1 and reliability of group means ICC2) for assessing agreement among group members will be employed (MUTHÉN, 1994). Using the aggregation, a percentage of variability may be lost and this is due to individual differences (Raudenbush & Bryk, 2002). As a result, misrepresentations of the relationships between variables can be dramatic. HLM effectively disentangles individual and group effects on the outcome variable and therefore is generally recommended over aggregation for dealing with nested data.

In the HLM analyses, a fully unconditional, intercept-only null model, with no predictors at either employee or restaurant level, will be first estimated to examine within-group and between-group variability, and if variance is significant, to demonstrate the data's nested nature by those variances, and to justify the use of multilevel analyses. Then the variables will be introduced in different models for analysis.

Many used programs to solve multilevel models are available such as R and Mplus. These are coding programs while HLM version 7 (http://www.ssicentral.com),

which is most widely and commonly used for hierarchical data modeling, will be used for the data analysis for this study. HLM7 has new statistical features such as crossclassified random effects for linear models for three-level data, and linear and nonlinear models for four-level data.

## 3.4.2 Testing for Reliability, Validity, and Measurement Models

While the objective to have an assessment and evaluation more accurate, reliable and valid tests and questionnaire must be used. Reliability refers to the consistency of the measurements and the ability to produce the same results for the same latent construct if measured over time across different situations (Mazzocchi, 2008; Tavakol & Dennick, 2011). Cronbach's alpha ( $\alpha$ ), a widely used measure the internal reliability of the multi-item scales, is applied in this study. This internal consistency is done by examining the correlations between several items of the scale across the respondents (Tavakol & Dennick, 2011). The maximum value of the alpha reliability coefficient is 1, but each scale's value should be near or exceeding 0.70 for an acceptable level of reliability for each construct (Mazzocchi, 2008). The scales for this thesis will comply with this criterion otherwise an explanation will be provided. Using SPSS, *correlation* and *reliability* will be tested to validate the measurement scales for the various latent concepts used in this study (e.g., SL, EE, CS, CE).

Validity reflects whether a measurement scale can actually measure what it supposes to measure and whether it can be used to predict the latent concept (Field, 2013). The average variance extracted (AVE) is usually adopted to measure the convergent validity of measurements. AVE, which estimates the overall amount of variance explained by a construct in relation to the variance resulting from the measurement error, should exceed 0.5 for each construct (Fornell & Larcker, 1981). In addition, the criterion for discriminant validity will be checked and met if the AVE for each construct was greater than the squared correlation coefficients for the corresponding inter-constructs (Fornell & Larcker, 1981). Using AMOS, to examine the *convergent* and *discriminant validity* of each variable, a measurement models will be estimated by the confirmatory factor analysis (CFA).

## 3.4.3 Testing for Mediating Effects

Multilevel models have many benefits regarding answering interesting research questions. One of these benefit is to hypothesize and empirically test multilevel mediation processes that are not easily answered using conventional statistical procedures (Mathieu et al., 2008). However, there are analytical challenges for testing the mediation in a multilevel setting, but addressing them has been explained and will be followed in this study (Mathieu et al., 2008; Mathieu & Taylor, 2007; Zhang et al., 2009). It is also important to note that a multilevel research design and mediation testing with a strong foundation should rely on strong multilevel theory. As Mathieu and Taylor (2007) presented, the inference of multilevel mediation depends on the tripod of strong role of theory, design research features and measurement, and the appropriate statistical techniques and analysis. Having said that, in this thesis, the mediation models (e.g., SL - EE - CS and SL - EE - CE) are based on solid multilevel theory and used valid multilevel research design (three-level model) and measurements with well-established scales to assess the multilevel phenomenon of servant leadership.

Generally, in testing the mediation, the question will be weather relationships between exogenous predictors, X, and outcomes, Y, are mediated by a third set of variables, Z (Raudenbush & Sampson, 1999).

The following are the general steps to test mediation in multilevel model (Mathieu et al., 2008; Mathieu & Taylor, 2007, p. 172):

1. Consider the influence of any methodological controls and covariates, from whatever levels, on substantive variables using the appropriate analyses.

2. Evaluate the relative magnitude and significance of variance that resides within and between Level 2 units, for each potential Level 1 mediator and criterion. Significant between unit variance is required for modeling cross-level effects.

3. Conduct within level mediational tests following the single level rules of evidence.

Then:

1. Evaluate the significance of all applicable univariate within- and cross-level

 $X \rightarrow Y$  relations. The relationships should be significant for inference.

2. Test the influence of X (from whatever level) on M.

3. Test the  $M \rightarrow Y$  relationship.

4. Add X into the equation containing  $M \rightarrow Y$ . It must not add significantly for full mediation to be supported.

## 3.5 Measurement Scales

This research is designed to investigate the influence of servant leadership behaviors of restaurant leader on employee attitudes and customer outcomes. This approach is a typical explanatory study that pursues theoretical reasoning. Therefore, a quantitative survey is necessary to confirm the multi-level model derived from the reviewed literature and necessary theories. The questionnaire was designed to examine the relationships among the four related constructs, namely, SL, EE, CS, and CE using Likert-type scale to choose through specific items presented. All the measurement scales were adopted from previous studies, they are used in different research, and validated with satisfactory level of reliability.

## 3.5.1 Servant Leadership

Following Ehrhart (2004) seminal empirical work, Liden et al. (2008) developed a more comprehensive and psychometrically sound measure of servant leadership (Van Dierendonck, 2011) (see Table 3-1). For this scale, the authors identified seven dimensions of servant leadership to be measured: behaving ethically, emotional healing, putting subordinates first, helping subordinates grow and succeed, empowering them, creating value for the community, and conceptual skills. Based on the 28 items of servant leadership measure in the scale, Liden et al. (2015) introduced a shorter version SL-7, to measure global servant leadership. The corresponding short version showed high consistent reliability and validity with the original full measure (Liden et al., 2015). This study will be using this 7-item scale as the objective is to measure the global servant leadership. The items will be the same as the original scale.

Scale	# Items	Likert	Dimensions
Ehrhart	14	1 = strongly	(1) Having conceptual skills.
(2004)		disagree to	(2) Empowering subordinates.
		7 = strongly	(3) Helping subordinates grow and succeed.
		agree	(4) Putting subordinates first.
			(5) Behaving ethically.
			(6) Forming relationships with subordinates.
			(7) Creating value for those outside of the
			organization.
Liden et al.	7	1 = strongly	(1) Conceptual skills.
(2015)		disagree to	(2) Empowering.
		7 = strongly	(3) Helping subordinates grow and succeed.
		agree	(4) Putting subordinates first.
			(5) Behaving ethically.
			(6) Emotional healing.
			(7) Creating value for the community.

Table 3-1Most used dimensions for servant leadership

In general, the scales created to measure servant leadership are all based on the characteristics of the servant leadership, the unidimensional or multidimensional construct, and their reliability.

Liden et al. (2015) created a scale based on seven characteristics of servant leadership inspired by the work of Spears (2010). The servant leadership characteristics defined by Spears were explained previously in the thesis. For the measurement of servant leadership presented in the conceptual model, this study considered the dimensions uncovered by Liden and colleagues (p. 255):

"1) Emotional healing, which involves the degree to which the leader cares about followers' personal problems and well-being;

2) Creating value for the community, which captures the leader's involvement in helping the community surrounding the organization as well as encouraging followers to be active in the community;

3) Conceptual skills, reflecting the leader's competency in solving work problems and understanding the organization's goals;

4) Empowering, assessing the degree to which the leader entrusts followers with responsibility, autonomy, and decision-making influence;

5) Helping subordinates grow and succeed, capturing the extent to which the leader helps followers reach their full potential and succeed in their careers;

6) Putting subordinates first, assessing the degree to which the leader prioritizes meeting the needs of followers before tending to his or her own needs; and

7) Behaving ethically, which includes being honest, trustworthy, and serving as a model of integrity."

While six of the dimensions overlap somehow with other servant leadership measurement scales available, conceptual skills, is a unique dimension of the above SL-7. The inclusion of this competency-based dimension in addition to the other character-based dimensions, makes it the appropriate fit to use this measure with customers and organizational outcome variables (Eva et al., 2019) as in the current study (i.e., customer satisfaction and customer engagement).

Another reason to consider the SL-7 in this study is the unidimensional structure of the scale. Consistent with the agreement of Liden et al. (2015) that servant leadership is not a higher-level construct that causes its dimensions, servant leadership also does not fit the typology for a multidimensional construct profile. As the authors explained the servant leadership dimensions are not representing "the same construct with different degrees of accuracy but instead are capturing different aspects of leader behavior (p. 255)." As the aim of the study is to focus on measuring global servant leadership, this scale is a good fit.

Finally, the scale is valid and reliable. The scale originally was developed by Liden et al. (2015) using many samples in many studies to validate it. The reliability Cronbach's alpha for the scale ranged between .80 and .90. Moreover, in the multilevel servant leadership hospitality research, the SL-28 scale of Liden et al. (2008) with its multidimensional was the most used while the shortest unidimensional SL-7 version scale was similarly popular. Both scales were among the most recommended due to their psychometric validity (Eva et al., 2019). The Cronbach's alpha for this scale in this research is 0.82.

#### Servant Leadership original Scale:

SL1. My leader can tell if something work-related is going wrong.
SL2. My leader makes my career development a priority.
SL3. I would seek help from my leader if I had a personal problem.
SL4. My leader emphasizes the importance of giving back to the community.
SL5. My leader puts my best interests ahead of his/her own.
SL6. My leader gives me the freedom to handle difficult situations in the way that I feel is best.
SL7. My leader would NOT compromise ethical principles in order to achieve success.

## 3.5.2 Employee Engagement

Employee Engagement for this study will be measured using the 9-item shortest version scale of the Utrecht Work Engagement Scale (UWES) (Schaufeli et al., 2006) which originally was created with 17-items (Schaufeli et al., 2002). The scale measures the three dimensions of EE namely vigor, dedication, and absorption with 3 items for each. The UWES was adopted because it has not only been tested among many countries but also has been commonly used in hospitality literature with high reliability Cronbach's alpha of .88 (Putra et al., 2017). In this study, the Cronbach's alpha for this scale shows 0.87.

## Employee Engagement Scale:

EEv1. At my work, I feel bursting with energy.EEv2. At my job, I feel strong and vigorous.EEv3. When I get up in the morning, I feel like going to work.EEd1. I am enthusiastic about my job.EEd2. My job inspires me.

- EEd3. I am proud of the work that I do.
- EEa1. I feel happy when I am working intensely.
- EEa2. I am immersed in my work.
- EEa3. I get carried away when I am working.

## 3.5.3 Customer Satisfaction

Customer satisfaction for this study will be measured using the 3-item scale adopted from Choi and Kandampully (2019) who used it in the hotel context while the main overall satisfaction attributes was brought from Cronin Jr et al. (2000). The word "hotel" was replaced by "restaurant" to fit the context of this thesis. Additionally, the self-rating of the construct well reflects the overall experience as the scale chosen asks about the entire visit and not a specific transaction within the process which is the main interest of this study. The scale is well-validated and has high reliability with Cronbach's alpha equals to 0.94.

Customer Satisfaction Scale:

CS1. Overall, I was satisfied with my experience dining at this restaurant.CS2. I think I did the right thing in visiting this restaurant.CS3. My choice to visit this restaurant was a wise one.

#### **3.5.4** Customer Engagement

Customer engagement is reflected by both willingness to suggest, WTS and word of mouth, WOM. The scale was adopted from Choi and Kandampully (2019) who developed WTS based on the work and definition of van Doorn et al. (2010) that is used also in this study and brought WOM from Hightower Jr et al. (2002) study. Choi and colleagues applied the CE scale (WTS, WOM) to capture the behavior dimension of CE in hotels which makes it suitable to be used in this study. The scale is valid and reliable with Cronbach's alpha of 0.915 and 0.897 for WTS and

WOM respectively. To adapt the above customer engagement scale to this study,

"hotel" was changed to "restaurant" to match the investigated context.

Customer Engagement Scale:

#### Willingness to suggest WTS:

WTS1. If given a chance, I am willing to suggest improvements in the quality of service provided by restaurant employees. WTS2. If given a chance, I am willing to suggest improvements in the quality of

food provided by the restaurant.

WTS3. If given a chance, I am willing to suggest additional services.

WTS4. If given a chance, I am willing to suggest improvements in ambience.

WTS5. If given a chance, I am willing to suggest improvements in design.

WTS6. If given a chance, I am willing to suggest improvements in facilities.

*Word of mouth WOM:* 

WOM1. I will say positive things about this restaurant. WOM2. I will encourage family and friends to visit this restaurant. WOM3. I will recommend this restaurant to someone who seeks my advice.

## 3.5.5 Summary of Study Measures

All the scales used for this thesis have been chosen from previous studies where they have been psychometrically tested, validated, and showed high reliability. All the scales had a Cronbach's alpha coefficient above the cutoff point of 0.7 (Nunnally, 1978). In addition, all the measurements of the variables in this study were evaluated using seven-point Likert scale, ranging from strongly disagree (1) to strongly agree (7).

After reviewing all the scales that were used in the study, the following Table 3-2 is a summary of study measures as well as showing the respondents and the referent status and level:

Construct	Measure	Respondent	Referent	Level
SL	SL-7 scale (Liden et al., 2015)	Employees	Leader	Aggregated to restaurant-level
EE	WE-9 scale (Schaufeli et al., 2006)	Employees	Employees	Employee-level
CS	CS-3 scale (Choi & Kandampully, 2019)	Customers	Customers	Customer-level
CE	WTS-6 / WOM-3 (Choi & Kandampully, 2019; Hightower Jr et al., 2002)	Customers	Customers	Customer-level

Table 3-2Summary of study measures

## 3.5.6 Control Variables

Previous research on leadership has identified that demographic variables such as age and gender may be related to employee engagement and work-related outcomes (e.g., Liu et al., 2017; Riordan et al., 2003). Additionally, researchers have suggested that tenure with the organization may influence employees' attitudes in leadership studies (Putra et al., 2017). Tenure may also reflect employees' knowledge and experience accumulated over their work time. Consequently, this study chose to control for age, gender, tenure with supervisor, and tenure with organization within the analysis. Participants provided their gender directly and chose their age within the groups given. For tenure with the organization, they directly wrote the period in year and month. Then for tenure with the manager, only dyads for which both the employee and leader had a work relationship with each other not less than two months were included (Chiniara & Bentein, 2016). Another individual control variables include employee education (1. Less than secondary/high school, 2. Completed secondary/high school, 3. Some college or university, 4. Completed college/university diploma/degree, 5. Completed postgraduate degree). Education builds employees' knowledge necessary to leadership characteristics (Tuan, 2018).

## Chapter 4: Data Analysis, Results, and Discussions

## 4.1 Introduction

This chapter presents the data results and analysis of the current study. The chapter starts by reviewing the administration and cleaning data of the survey followed by presenting the demographic representation of the respondents. Correlations and descriptive statistics results are then presented. Testing the appropriateness of the proposed model in terms of validity and reliability including measurement models are then analyzed using confirmatory factor analysis along with factor loadings and model fit indices. Later, the aggregation to the group level is discussed and the multi-level model analysis using HLM presents the findings of the hypothesized relationship among the independent variable (i.e., Servant leadership) at the restaurant level 3, the mediating variable (i.e., Employee Engagement) at level 2 and the dependent outcome variables (i.e., Customer Satisfaction and Customer Engagement) at level 1 of the model.

#### 4.2 Survey Administration and Respondents' Profile

The sample for this study included data collected from restaurant leaderemployee dyads and customers from the same restaurant in Lebanon. Two sets of questionnaires were used: One for customers and another for their immediate restaurant employees who were serving them under one leader/manager who represented each restaurant. The data collected was screened visually and manually at the first step to remove insincere or incomplete responses. Some other questionnaires were also excluded if a mid-shift employee filled out two surveys over Lunch and Dinner schedule. Finally, the results of Mahalanobis' distance showed that 12 multivariate outliers were detected and removed. Consequently, 229 and 404 useable employees and customers responses respectively remained from 32 restaurants for analysis. Table 4 presents the data of the participated restaurants. They are 32 restaurants with number of employees ranging between 7 and 20. Note that the data in the table represents the final number of employees and customers who filled a useable survey. The mean group size employees nested in a restaurant is 7 (5 – 11). The average number of customers nested in each employee is around 2.

$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Restaurants	Employees	Customers
3 $8$ $12$ $4$ $6$ $14$ $5$ $5$ $16$ $6$ $7$ $15$ $7$ $6$ $10$ $8$ $8$ $12$ $9$ $9$ $15$ $10$ $9$ $10$ $11$ $8$ $12$ $12$ $8$ $12$ $13$ $7$ $14$ $14$ $8$ $13$ $15$ $7$ $12$ $16$ $9$ $16$ $17$ $6$ $12$ $18$ $7$ $12$ $19$ $5$ $14$ $20$ $7$ $14$ $21$ $5$ $7$ $23$ $6$ $10$ $24$ $5$ $8$ $25$ $8$ $12$ $26$ $10$ $15$ $27$ $8$ $12$ $28$ $10$ $16$ $29$ $6$ $10$ $30$ $11$ $20$ $31$ $8$ $15$	1	7	14
3 $8$ $12$ $4$ $6$ $14$ $5$ $5$ $16$ $6$ $7$ $15$ $7$ $6$ $10$ $8$ $8$ $12$ $9$ $9$ $15$ $10$ $9$ $10$ $11$ $8$ $12$ $12$ $8$ $12$ $13$ $7$ $14$ $14$ $8$ $13$ $15$ $7$ $12$ $16$ $9$ $16$ $17$ $6$ $12$ $18$ $7$ $12$ $19$ $5$ $14$ $20$ $7$ $14$ $21$ $5$ $7$ $23$ $6$ $10$ $24$ $5$ $8$ $25$ $8$ $12$ $26$ $10$ $15$ $27$ $8$ $12$ $28$ $10$ $16$ $29$ $6$ $10$ $30$ $11$ $20$ $31$ $8$ $15$	2	5	12
5 $5$ $16$ $6$ $7$ $15$ $7$ $6$ $10$ $8$ $8$ $12$ $9$ $9$ $15$ $10$ $9$ $10$ $11$ $8$ $12$ $12$ $8$ $12$ $13$ $7$ $14$ $14$ $8$ $13$ $15$ $7$ $12$ $16$ $9$ $16$ $17$ $6$ $12$ $18$ $7$ $12$ $19$ $5$ $14$ $20$ $7$ $14$ $21$ $5$ $7$ $23$ $6$ $10$ $24$ $5$ $8$ $25$ $8$ $12$ $26$ $10$ $15$ $27$ $8$ $12$ $28$ $10$ $16$ $29$ $6$ $10$ $30$ $11$ $20$ $31$ $8$ $15$	3	8	12
6 $7$ $15$ $7$ $6$ $10$ $8$ $8$ $12$ $9$ $9$ $15$ $10$ $9$ $10$ $11$ $8$ $12$ $12$ $8$ $12$ $13$ $7$ $14$ $14$ $8$ $13$ $15$ $7$ $12$ $16$ $9$ $16$ $17$ $6$ $12$ $18$ $7$ $12$ $19$ $5$ $14$ $20$ $7$ $14$ $21$ $5$ $10$ $22$ $5$ $7$ $23$ $6$ $10$ $24$ $5$ $8$ $25$ $8$ $12$ $26$ $10$ $15$ $27$ $8$ $12$ $28$ $10$ $16$ $29$ $6$ $10$ $30$ $11$ $20$ $31$ $8$ $15$		6	
7 $6$ $10$ $8$ $8$ $12$ $9$ $9$ $15$ $10$ $9$ $10$ $11$ $8$ $12$ $12$ $8$ $12$ $13$ $7$ $14$ $14$ $8$ $13$ $15$ $7$ $12$ $16$ $9$ $16$ $17$ $6$ $12$ $18$ $7$ $12$ $19$ $5$ $14$ $20$ $7$ $14$ $21$ $5$ $10$ $22$ $5$ $7$ $23$ $6$ $10$ $24$ $5$ $8$ $25$ $8$ $12$ $26$ $10$ $15$ $27$ $8$ $12$ $28$ $10$ $16$ $29$ $6$ $10$ $30$ $11$ $20$ $31$ $8$ $15$			
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$			
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$			
109 $10$ $11$ 8 $12$ $12$ 8 $12$ $13$ 7 $14$ $14$ 8 $13$ $15$ 7 $12$ $16$ 9 $16$ $17$ 6 $12$ $18$ 7 $12$ $19$ 5 $14$ $20$ 7 $14$ $21$ 5 $10$ $22$ 57 $23$ 6 $10$ $24$ 58 $25$ 8 $12$ $26$ $10$ $15$ $27$ 8 $12$ $28$ $10$ $16$ $29$ 6 $10$ $30$ $11$ $20$ $31$ 8 $15$			12
118 $12$ $12$ 8 $12$ $13$ 7 $14$ $14$ 8 $13$ $15$ 7 $12$ $16$ 9 $16$ $17$ 6 $12$ $18$ 7 $12$ $19$ 5 $14$ $20$ 7 $14$ $21$ 5 $10$ $22$ 57 $23$ 6 $10$ $24$ 58 $25$ 8 $12$ $26$ $10$ $15$ $27$ 8 $12$ $28$ $10$ $16$ $29$ 6 $10$ $30$ $11$ $20$ $31$ 8 $15$			
128 $12$ $13$ 7 $14$ $14$ 8 $13$ $14$ 8 $13$ $15$ 7 $12$ $16$ 9 $16$ $17$ 6 $12$ $18$ 7 $12$ $19$ 5 $14$ $20$ 7 $14$ $21$ 5 $10$ $22$ 57 $23$ 6 $10$ $24$ 58 $25$ 8 $12$ $26$ $10$ $15$ $27$ 8 $12$ $28$ $10$ $16$ $29$ 6 $10$ $30$ $11$ $20$ $31$ 8 $15$	10		
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	11	8	12
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	12		12
157 $12$ $16$ 9 $16$ $17$ 6 $12$ $18$ 7 $12$ $19$ 5 $14$ $20$ 7 $14$ $21$ 5 $10$ $22$ 57 $23$ 6 $10$ $24$ 5 $8$ $25$ $8$ $12$ $26$ $10$ $15$ $27$ $8$ $12$ $28$ $10$ $16$ $29$ 6 $10$ $30$ $11$ $20$ $31$ $8$ $15$	13	7	14
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	14		13
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	15	7	12
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	16	9	16
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	17	6	12
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	18	7	12
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	19	5	14
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	20		14
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	21	5	10
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	22	5	7
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	23	6	10
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	24	5	8
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	25	8	12
2810162961030112031815	26	10	15
2961030112031815	27	8	12
2961030112031815	28	10	16
30         11         20           31         8         15			
31 8 15			

Table 4Restaurant' profile (n=32)

The profile of the respondents was executed on SPSS version 27. Table 4.2 and Table 4.3 present the profile of employees (n = 229) and the profile of the customers (N = 404) respectively. Employees demographic characteristics include information such as age, gender, education status, and restaurant tenure. As for the customers demographic information also include age, gender, education status, as well as nationalities and if they are first-timer or revisiting to the restaurant.

Variables		Frequency	Percent (%)
Gender	Male	134	58.5
	Female	95	41.5
Age (years)	Under 20	49	21.4
	21-30	140	61.1
	31-40	30	13.1
	41-50	10	4.4
Education	Below secondary/high school	19	8.3
	Completed secondary/high school	49	21.4
	Some college or university	105	45.9
	Completed college/university diploma/degree	52	22.7
	Completed postgraduate degree	4	1.7
Restaurant tenure	2 month – 1 year	114	49.8
	> 1 - 2 years	50	21.8
	> 2 - 3 years	59	25.8
	> 3 - 4 years	9	3.9
	>4-5 years	14	6.1
	> 5 - 10 years	17	7.4
	> 10 years	5	2.2

# Table 4-1Employees' profile (n=229)

# Table 4-2Customers' profile (N=404)

Variables		Frequency	Percent (%)
Gender	Male	185	45.8
	Female	209	51.7
	Other	10	2.5

Age (years)	Under 18	19	4.7
	18-25	152	37.6
	26-35	101	25.0
	36-45	88	21.8
	46-55	29	7.2
	56-65	11	2.7
	66 or above	4	1.0
Education	Below secondary/high school	15	3.7
	Completed secondary/high school	47	11.6
	Some college or university	110	27.2
	Completed college/university	167	41.3
	diploma/degree		
	Completed postgraduate degree	65	16.1
First-time visit	YES	179	44.3
	NO	225	55.7
Nationality	Lebanese	308	76.2
	Other	96	23.8

Table 4.1 and Table 4.2 show the demographic profile of 229 valid responses for restaurants' employees and 404 valid responses for restaurants' customers respectively. On one hand, as presented in Table 4.1, employees were distributed between 58.5% male and 41.5% female. The ratio of male recorded high values since they have been more engaged in front-line positions in restaurants which also reflect the Lebanese hospitality sector distribution. Regarding the respondents' age, more than half of the employees surveyed were aged between 21 to 30 with 61.1% whereas only 4.4% were between 41 and 50. Employees aged between 31 and 40 accounts 13.1% of the total respondents, and the remaining 21.4% of employees' age is under 20. Concerning the education level of the employees' sample, the survey result showed that most of the respondents had attained Some College or University education (45.9%) with another 22.7% who completed a college or university diploma or degree. Only 1.7% or 4 respondents have completed postgraduate degree. Additionally, employees who completed secondary or high school accounted for 21.4% of the data whereas the rest had some education (8.3%). Furthermore, as mentioned in the "Control Variable" section, information regarding the employee-leader/restaurant manager relationship length and restaurant tenure were considered to examine employees' behaviour. Thus, employees experience in a particular restaurant as well as knowing the manager tenure in the restaurant were surveyed. On this basis, most of the employees (114, 49.8%) have been working in the restaurant from 2 months to 1 year. The remaining employees had restaurant tenure work experience of 1-2 years (50, 21.8%), 2-3 years (59, 25.8%), 3-5 years (23, 10%), between 5 and 10 years (17, 7.4%), and more than 10 years (5, 2.2%).

On the other hand, by reviewing the data collected regarding the customers profile characteristics which is presented in Table 4.2, most of the restaurants' customers were domestic from Lebanon (76.2%) and the remaining from other countries (23.8%). About 56 per cent of all respondents indicated that they visited the restaurant before therefore were considered repeaters. But the remaining of the customers were considered first-timer as about 44 per cent indicated on the survey. Among the customers, 51.7% were female, 45.8% were male, and 2.5% did not disclose their gender and recorded their responses as others. As can be seen, most of the respondents ranged from 36 to 55 accounts for less than 30%; and approximately 3.7 per cent of respondents' ages ranged between 56 and above. The customers' ages profile fit within the restaurant type of mid-scale / casual which was chosen as the context for this study. Moreover, almost 85% (84.6 per cent) of customers who visited the restaurants had some college/university or were college/university graduates or

even hold postgraduate degree. The rest of the customers surveyed had either completed secondary/high school (11.6%) or hadn't finish (3.7%).

## 4.3 Measurement Model Analysis

To start with, before testing the hypotheses, confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) was used to measure the convergent and discriminant validity of each variable in the model (i.e., Servant Leadership (SL), Employee Engagement (EE), Customer Satisfaction (CS), and Customer Engagement (CE)). CFA has its strength in confirming the correctness of the measurement model in dealing with multiple relationships simultaneously and guiding the re-specification of the model using the underlying dimensions and items extracted (Anderson & Gerbing, 1988; Hair et al., 2010).

In this regard, many indices from the CFA results were reviewed to ensure the robustness of the measurement model and to check the goodness-of-fit. Some of the main absolute indices to examine the model fit are chi-square statistic, Goodness-of-fit index (GFI), root mean square error approximation (RMSEA), comparative fit index (CFI), and Tucker-Lewis index (TLI) (Hooper et al., 2008; Kline, 2015). In terms of interpretation, Chi-square divided by Degree of Freedom ( $\chi$ 2/df statistic) is considered acceptable between 1 and 5 (Marsh & Hocevar, 1985). Additionally, fit indices including GFI, TLI, and CFI if above 0.9 then indicate that the observed model show very good fit to the actual population (< 0.8 indicates acceptable fit) (Baumgartner & Homburg, 1996; Hu & Bentler, 1998; Kline, 2015; Tanaka, 1993). As for the Root Mean Square Error of Approximation (RMSEA) where values less or equal 0.05 are considered excellent, values between 0.05 to 0.08 are considered

acceptable, and values between 0.08 and 0.1 are considered mediocre and poor fit (Hair et al., 2010; MacCallum et al., 1996). Having presented this information, this study conducted Confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) by using AMOS 28.0 to measure sample data from customers at level 1 (N = 404) which includes two constructs such as customer satisfaction and customer engagement, and from employees at level 2 (n = 229) which includes employee engagement and servant leadership constructs.

At the employee level, as shown in Table 4-3, confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) of the two measures (SL and EE) which were estimated at this level (n = 229), indicated that a two-factor model fit the data best. There is statistical evidence for the fit indices used for this sample ( $\chi 2 = 190.64$ , p = 0.000). Meanwhile, normed chi-square (chi-square fit index divided by degrees of freedom,  $\chi 2/df = 1.89$ ) is 1.8, indicating that there is less discrepancy between the hypothetical model and the sample data and is within the acceptable threshold. In addition, the proposed model exhibited a good fit as Goodness of Fit Index (GFI) = .909, Tucker-Lewis Index (TLI) = .915, Comparative Fit Index (CFI) = .929, and Root Mean Square Error of Approximation (RMSEA) = .06, all are within the acceptable limits and reveal a generally good model fit for the measurement model.

Moreover, employees rated their engagement to the work using nine-item scale of originally three dimensions developed by Schaufeli et al. (2006). The three dimensions measured by the employee engagement scale were *vigor*, *dedication*, and *absorption* with 3 items for each. Therefore, a confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) of the fit indices of this construct was assessed and the result is shown in Table 4-3. A single second-order factor model fell within the acceptable range ( $\chi 2 = 60.794$ , p < .01; Goodness of Fit Index [GFI] = .944; Tucker–Lewis Index [TLI] = .932; Comparative fit index [CFI] = .953; Root mean square error of approximation
[RMSEA] = .07), suggesting that the dimensions reflected the overall construct. An average of the nine items was used to yield a single composite measure, with a high score indicating a higher work engagement.

At the customer level, as presented in Table 4-4, a confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) was computed and also indicated that a two-factor model fit the data best estimating the two measures (CS and CE) at this level (N = 404). The goodness-of-fit indices from the CFA, the measurement model ( $\chi 2 = 82.560$ , p < .01, GFI=.968, TLI=.990, CFI=.994, RMSEA=.045). The proposed measurement models were found to fit the data well because all the indices are acceptable as RMSEA is between 0.05 – 0.08 so acceptable and CFI and TLI are above the threshold .90, also relative chi-square  $\chi 2 / df = 1.685$  is in the acceptable range of 1 – 5.

Furthermore, the original scale of the construct customer engagement (CE) included two higher order dimensions such as Word-of-Mouth (WOM) and Willingness-to-Suggest (WTS). Ratings on the two dimensions were averaged as a single CE score. Therefore, a confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) at the customer level using the average scores on the two constructs as indicators of customer engagement supported a single-factor model as presented in Table 4-4. A single second-order factor model fell within the acceptable range ( $\chi 2 = 50.954$ , p < .01; Goodness of Fit Index [GFI] = .974; Tucker–Lewis Index [TLI] = .987; Comparative fit index [CFI] = .992; Root mean square error of approximation [RMSEA] = .05), suggesting that the dimensions reflected the overall CE construct. An average of the two dimensions with nine items was used leading to a single composite measure, with a high score indicating a higher engagement with the restaurant.

## Table 4-3Measures Assessed at the Employee Level

Factor	$\chi^2$	df	$\chi^2/df$	GFI	TLI	CFI	RMSEA
2-factor baseline model <sup>a</sup>	190.64	101	1.89	.909	.915	.929	.06
single second-order model <sup>b</sup>	60.794	25	2.432	.944	.932	.953	.07

<sup>a</sup>this model has two separate factors, including Servant Leadership (SL) and Employee Engagement (EE). <sup>b</sup>this model is used to assess a single composite measure construct: Employee Engagement (EE).

Table 4-4Measures Assessed at the Customer Level

Factor	$\chi^2$	df	$\chi^2/df$	GFI	TLI	CFI	RMSEA
2-factor baseline model <sup>c</sup>	82.560	49	1.685	.968	.990	.993	.045
single second-order model <sup>d</sup>	50.954	24	2.123	.974	.987	.992	.053

<sup>c</sup>this model has two separate factors, including Customer Satisfaction (CS) and Customer Engagement (CE).

<sup>d</sup>this model is used to assess a single composite measure construct: Customer Engagement (CE).

*p* < .01

### 4.4 Validity

To test the validity of the model, this thesis conducted Confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) by using AMOS 26 to measure the sample data (For level 1 measures, N = 404; For level 2 measures, n = 229) which includes four constructs such as servant leadership, employee engagement, customer satisfaction, and customer engagement.

On one hand and through the confirmatory factor analysis, convergent validity and discriminant validity were assessed. For instance, convergent validity is supported when all calculated average variance extracted (AVE) exceed .5 threshold (Anderson & Gerbing, 1988; Fornell & Larcker, 1981). In some cases, AVE values up to .40 are considered acceptable given their centrality to the model and having a higher composite readability (Chin et al., 2003; Hatcher & O'Rourke, 2013). In this study, convergent validity was supported by the fact that all average variance extracted (AVE) equal to or exceeded .50 and ranged from .52 to .83. Further, composite reliability values ranged from 0.89 to 0.96 exceeding the recommended .60 threshold by Hair Jr et al. (2017). Thus, discriminant validity was supported as all the values of the square root of AVE were found larger than the inter-construct correlations or the squared multiple correlation coefficient as shown in Table 4-6 (Fornell & Larcker, 1981).

On another hand, as indicated by Anderson and Gerbing (1988), confirmatory factor analysis CFA results in convergence validity when the factor loadings for indicators are significant. In this case, the results indicate that factor loading for all constructs of the presented model, including higher-order factors of 'customer engagement CE' namely 'willingness-to-suggest WTS' and 'word-of-mouth WOM', were higher than the cut-off point value of 0.5 (Hair et al., 2010). As shown in the "Standardized Regression Weights" reported in Table 4-5, the confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) results further supported the convergent validity of the measures

because the estimated standardized factor loadings ranged from 0.614 to 0.959 for all indicators and were significant at p < .001.

The above results indicated that all items effectively portrayed their intended constructs, thereby offering substantiation for the validity of the proposed research framework.

Construct	Items	Standardized Factor Loading (λ)***	Composite Reliability (CR)	Average Variance Extracted (AVE)
Level one		<u> </u>		<u>, </u>
	CS1	0,893		
Customer Satisfaction (CS)	CS2	0,959	.94	.83
( ) , ( ) ,	CS3	0,88		
	WTS1	0,825		
	WTS2	0,806		
	WTS3	0,922		
	WTS4	0,843		
Customer Engagement (CE)	WTS5	0,83	.96	.75
	WTS6	0,832		
	WOM1	0,865		
	WOM2	0,954		
	WOM3	0,911		
Level Two				
	EEv1	0,761		
	EEv2	0,841		
	EEv3	0,675		
	EEd1	0,794		
Employee Engagement (EE)	EEd2	0,668	.91	.52
	EEd3	0,748		
	EEa1	0,762		
	EEa2	0,642		
	EEa3	0,614		
Level Three				
	SL1	0,758		
	SL2	0,684		
	SL3	0,626		
Servant Leadership (SL)	SL4	0,853	.89	.53
,	SL5	0,789		
	SL6	0,647		
	SL7	0,727		

Table 4-5Confirmatory Factor Analysis Result for Convergent and<br/>Discriminant Analysis.

Note: \*\*\**p* < 0.000 (two-tailed).

# 4.5 Reliability and Correlations

As shown below, Table 4-6 presents the reliability of the multi-item scales using the Cronbach's alpha: Servant leadership (.82), employee engagement (.87), customer satisfaction (.94), and customer engagement (.89). All the alpha coefficients were above the cut-off point of .7 indicating an acceptable level of internal reliability for each construct.

Table 4-6 also shows the correlations among the variables. It presents that servant leadership, the independent variable at the restaurant-level, was positively related to the outcome variables at the customer-level, customer satisfaction (r = .40, p < .05) and customer engagement (r = .45, p < .05). According to the same correlation table, there is a positive association between the level-three independent variable servant leadership and the first dependent variable at level-two employee engagement (r = .41, p < .01). Moreover, employee engagement at the employee-level is positively correlated with customer satisfaction (r = .21, p < .05) and customer engagement (r = .30, p < .05) at level-one which is the customer-level of the same restaurant.

	CS	CE	EE	SL
Level one				
CS	.91			
СЕ	.38**	.87		
EE	.21*	.30*		
SL	.40*	.45*		
Level Two				
EE			.75	
SL			.41**	
Level Three				
SL				.70
Internal Reliability (α)	.94	.89	.87	.82
Mean	6.02	5.4	5.6	5.5
SD	.85	.90	.77	.92

Table 4-6Reliability, AVE, Mean Standard Deviations, and CorrelationsBetween the Variables.

Note: a. \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01.

b. SL = Servant Leadership; EE = Employee Engagement; CS = Customer Satisfaction; CE = Customer Engagement.

c. Boldfaced values represent the square root of AVE.

d. For level 1 measures, N = 404; For level 2 measures, n = 229; For level 3 measures, n = 32.

In conclusion, as anticipated, variables at the customer level represented by customer satisfaction and customer engagement were correlated positively with servant leadership variable. Employee engagement variable was also significantly correlated with servant leadership. It appears that the servant leadership variable have stronger relationships with the customer variables than the mediating employee variable; analysis and testing these relationships will be described shortly.

### 4.6 Common Method Bias

To examine common method variance, many procedural treatments as well as statistical were applied.

Procedurally, this survey was conducted using several restaurants across many famous regions in the country. Additionally, the data were collected from two sources: restaurant employees and their customers. Employees rated their managers leadership characteristics and their own work engagement in different timing (T1 & T2) while customers rated other constructs in a third wave (T3). Moreover, the titles of the variables and dimensions were excluded from the survey and the respondents were anonymous and were assured that there was no right or wrong answer to the survey questions. Finally, the respondents were asked to place the completed survey in a separately provided envelope, which then had to be sealed (Podsakoff et al., 2003).

Statistically, to test the common method variance, Harman (1976) one-factor test was used. The resulted factor is 27.85% which is less than 50%. Therefore, the common method bias was not a major concern in the present study.

### 4.7 Data Aggregation

As a multilevel model was constructed for this study, investigating the appropriateness of the data aggregation to the team/restaurant level is necessary. This is to aggregate the employee scores of servant leadership items to the team or restaurant level and testing the between-group variance and within-group agreement. It is also required to assess team-level by examining their inter-rater agreement and testing the inter-rater agreement by computing the Rwg values of servant leadership

(James et al., 1984), between-group agreement, within-group agreement (Hofmann et al., 2000), intraclass correlations (ICC1), and the reliability of the mean (ICC2). The two intra-class correlation coefficients, ICC (1) and ICC (2), were calculated to test the variability between group mean. ICC (1) is defined as the degree of proportional consistency of the total variance that group membership can account for (Harrison & Klein, 2007; Klein et al., 2000). ICC (2) assesses the level of the group means' reliability.

In this study, the aggregation of ratings to the restaurant level was supported as the results showed that the large values for servant leadership was Rwg = 0.89which exceeded the acceptable level of 0.7. The value of ICC (1) for servant leadership was 0.15. The findings of the one-way ANOVA also showed that the covariances among employees of a restaurant group were significant for servant leadership (F = 41.385, p < 0.001). Moreover, ICC (2) for servant leadership was 0.79 which were greater than the cut-off value of 0.7 (Kozlowski & Klein, 2000). Therefore, the reliability of the servant leadership (SL) measurement was confirmed at the restaurant level and aggregation is justified. Noting that the employees at every restaurant were asked to rate their manager for servant leadership on a 7-item scale.

## 4.8 HLM Results and Hypotheses Analysis

This study research problem consists of data on customers nested within employees who are serving them and employees nested within restaurants, the level-1 model will represent the relationships among the customer-level variables, the level-2 model will capture the influence of employee-level factors, and the level-3 model will incorporate restaurant-level effects. Formally there are  $i = 1, ..., n_{ik}$  level 1 units (*e.g.*, customers), which are nested within each of  $j = 1,..., J_k$  level 2 units (*e.g.*, employees), which in turn are nested within each of k = 1,..., K level 3 units (*e.g.*, restaurants).

HLM8 was used to conduct multilevel analyses and examine the multilevel conceptual model and hypotheses. The study used HLM 3 to test the effects of variables at level 3 (Servant Leadership) and level 2 (Employee Engagement) on variables at level 1 (Customer Satisfaction and Customer Engagement) and used HLM 2 to examine the influences of variables at level 3 (SL) on variables at level 2 (EE). Below is the summary of the model specified having two dependent outcome variables, customer satisfaction (CS) and customer engagement (CE):

### The outcome variable is customer engagement CE:

Level-1 Model  $CE_{ijk} = \pi_{0jk} + e_{ijk}$ 

Level-2 Model  $\pi_{0jk} = \beta_{00k} + \beta_{01k} * (EE_{jk}) + r_{0jk}$ 

Level-3 Model  $\beta_{00k} = \gamma_{000} + \gamma_{001}(SL_k) + u_{00k}$  $\beta_{01k} = \gamma_{010} + u_{01k}$ 

Mixed Model  $CE_{ijk} = \gamma_{000} + \gamma_{001} * SL_k + \gamma_{010} * EE_{jk} + r_{0jk} + u_{00k} + u_{01k} * EE_{jk} + e_{ijk}$ 

#### The outcome variable is customer engagement CS:

Level-1 Model  $CS_{ijk} = \pi_{0jk} + e_{ijk}$ Level-2 Model

 $\pi_{0jk} = \beta_{00k} + \beta_{01k}^* (EE_{jk}) + r_{0jk}$ 

Level-3 Model  $\beta_{00k} = \gamma_{000} + \gamma_{001}(SL_k) + u_{00k}$  $\beta_{01k} = \gamma_{010} + u_{01k}$ 

Mixed Model

 $CS_{ijk} = \gamma_{000} + \gamma_{001} * SL_k + \gamma_{010} * EE_{jk} + r_{0jk} + u_{00k} + u_{01k} * EE_{jk} + e_{ijk}$ 

where

 $\pi_{0jk}$  (p = 0, 1, ..., P) are level-1 coefficients,

 $a_{pjk}$  is a level-1 predictor p for case i in level-2 unit j and level-3 unit k,

*e*<sub>*ijk*</sub> is the level-1 random effect, (deviation from the group mean)

 $\beta_{00k}$ ;  $\beta_{01k}$  ( $q = 0, 1, ..., Q_p$ ) are level-2 coefficients,

 $EE_{jk}$  is a level-2 predictor,

 $r_{0jk}$  is the level-2 random effect,

yooo (grand mean); yoo1 are level-3 coefficients,

 $SL_k$  is a level-3 predictor, and

 $u_{00k}$  is the level-3 random effect (deviation of restaurant k's mean from the grand mean).

Noting that for starting values, data from 404 level-1 and 229 level-2 records were used and EE has been centered around the group mean. Whereas grand-meancentering was used for level-1, the influence of customer individual attributes on satisfaction and engagement was assumed not to vary across restaurants (constant), and thus the coefficients of these covariates at were set to have no effect on level-2 model and same to employees on level-3 model. On another note, the researcher reported the pseudo  $R^2$  as an indicator of goodness-of-fit measure where it is more applicable to this type of multi-level research model (Kreft & De Leeuw, 1998). As R2 is used as a standard measure of goodness-of-fit for linear regression models, it might not be applicable in multi-level models due to the hierarchical nature of the data and the presence of clustered data. This study followed the formula proposed by Kreft and De Leeuw (1998) which is simply known as "KDL Pseudo  $R^2$ " and calculated as follow:

141

To start with, following Raudenbush and Bryk (2002), the fully unconditional model allows estimation of variability linked to the three levels, i.e. customers, employees, and restaurants. This simple three-level model partitions the total variability in the outcome  $Y_{ijk}$  (CS, CE) into its three components: level-1 among customers within employees,  $\sigma^2$ ; level-2 among employees within restaurants,  $\tau_{\pi}$ ; and level-3 among restaurants,  $\tau_{\beta}$ . It also allows us to estimate the proportion of variation that is within employees, among employees within restaurants, and among restaurants. This fully unconditional three-level model with no predictor variables specified represents how variation in an outcome construct is distributed across the three different levels of customer, employee, and restaurant.

### Null model analysis:

According to Hofmann (1997) the first step involves the assessment of a significant between–group variance in customer-employee-restaurant levels. Thus, a null model was executed in which neither level 1 nor level 2 predictors were specified for the two dependent variables CS and CE. Analysis of these customer rated variables using a three-level null-model, intercept-only model, in the hierarchical linear modelling software HLM 8 (Raudenbush & Bryk, 2002) to partition the variance into the three levels simultaneously showed that 21% of the variance in customer satisfaction (CS) resided at the restaurant level, 41% resided at the employee level, and 38% resided at the customer level. For customer engagement (CE), 18% of variance resided at the restaurant level, 37% resided at the employee level, and 45% resided at the customer level. These results support the importance of investigating

the impact of level 3 on employee engagement and customer behaviour at the restaurant.

After the null model which was constructed to test whether there is grouping-level clustering effect, the testing of the hypotheses using different models were run using HLM3, Intercept-as-Outcome Model, level 2 variable, namely employee engagement was added into level 2 model to test the effect on dependent variables, i.e. customer satisfaction. Then HLM2 was used to test the relationship between servant leadership and employee engagement at level 2. Finally, the mediating effect was tested in HLM and using the estimation bias-corrected confidence intervals CI to test the indirect effects predictions with a bootstrapping procedure (k = 1,000) by Preacher and Hayes (2008).

### Hypotheses Testing:

To start with, Tables 4-7, 4-8, and 4-9 show respectively the HLM3, HLM2, and Sample Bootstrapping results. Using HLM3 model, Table 4-7 presents the results of testing the relationship between servant leadership at level 3 and customer variables at level 1 and the cross-level interaction with employee engagement at level 2. In this study, Hypothesis 1 and 2 were set to predict that servant leadership is positively related respectively to customer satisfaction and to customer engagement. As shown in Model 1 for both dependent variables at level 1 of Table 4-6, servant leadership was positively related to customer satisfaction ( $\gamma = .65$ , p < .05), and positively related to customer satisfaction ( $\gamma = .65$ , p < .05), and positively related to customer engagement ( $\gamma = .74$ , p < .05). Thus, Hypothesis 1 and Hypothesis 2 were supported.

For Hypothesis 3 which posits that servant leadership is positively related to employee engagement, it was tested using HLM2 model and the results are shown in Table 4-7. As it shows, servant leadership has significant main effects on employee engagement ( $\gamma = .52, p < .05$ ) and therefore supporting Hypothesis 3.

In support of Hypothesis 4 and Hypothesis 5, Model 2 under both customer level variables of Table 4-7 shows the statistical results after including the effects of servant leadership in the model. On one side, employee engagement significantly predicts customer satisfaction ( $\gamma = .19$ , p < .05), lending support for Hypothesis 4 showing that employee engagement is positively related to customer satisfaction. On another side, Model 2 also shows significant effects of employee engagement on customer engagement ( $\gamma = .25$ , p < .05). Thus, the result shows that employee engagement is positively related to customer and supports Hypothesis 5.

Table 4-7Hierarchical Linear Modeling (HLM3) Results: RelationshipBetween Servant Leadership, Employee Engagement, and Customer Outcomes

D	Customer	Satisfaction	Customer Engagement		
Dependent variables at Level 1	Model 1	Model 2	Model 1	Model 2	
Intercept Level 3	3.36** (.14)	3.89** (.18)	3.53** (.17)	3.72** (.22)	
Servant leadership	.65* (.27)	.64* (.25)	.74* (.11)	.61* (.16)	
Level 2 Employee Engagement		.19* (.08)		.25* (.07)	
$\sim R^2$ (Employee level) $\sim R^2$ (Restaurant level)	.13	.10	.12	.12	

Note: a. For Level 1 = customer level, N = 404; For Level 2 = employee level, n = 229; For Level 3 = restaurant level, n = 32

\*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001 (two-tailed tests).

b. All parameters estimate to the predicting variables are unstandardized estimations of the fixed effects,  $\gamma_{0000}$ s, with robust standard errors. Values in parentheses are standard errors.

Table 4-8Hierarchical Linear Modeling (HLM2) Results: RelationshipBetween Servant Leadership and Employee Engagement

Variable at Level 2	Employee Engagement
Intercept	3.86*** (.16)
Level 3	
Servant leadership	.52* (.23)
$\sim R^2$ (Restaurant level)	.12

Note: For Level 2 = employee level, n = 229; For Level 3 = restaurant level, n = 32. The value in parentheses is the standard error. \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001 (two-tailed tests).

Finally, to test the mediating effect of employee engagement in the model, sample bootstrapping tests of indirect effects was used and the results are shown in Table 4-9 below. Following Preacher and Hayes (2008) to support Hypotheses 6 and 7 and show that employee engagement mediates (fully or partially) the positive relationship between servant leadership and customer satisfaction (H6) and customer engagement (H7), three steps were analyzed. First the mediation analysis with employee engagement as a mediator, second testing the direct relation on the dependent variable with controlling for employee engagement, and third testing the mediation effect of employee engagement. As shown in Table 4-9, in line with the HLM3 results, there is a significant positive relationship between the servant leadership SL and each dependent variables i.e., customer satisfaction CS and customer engagement CE in the presence of mediator employee engagement EE. However, the focus in this test is in understanding whether EE mediates (fully or partially) the tested relationship SL to CS and CE. Furthermore, the second step of the test and when controlling for the mediator EE shows that there is still a statistical significance of a positive relationship between the predictor SL and either CS or CE. Therefore, the mediator EE partially mediates the relationship between SL and the dependent variable being tested. Lastly, in conclusion, the sample bootstrapping tests of indirect effects indicate that servant leadership was related significantly and indirectly through employee engagement to customer satisfaction, 95% confidence interval (CI) [.05, .17], p < .05 and to customer engagement, 95% CI [.07, .22], p < .05. Noting that the 95% confidence intervals did not include zero, indicating that the indirect effect was significant for both mediation.

Table 4-9Sample Bootstrapping Result: Cross-level Indirect Effects of ServantLeadership on Customer Satisfaction and Customer Engagement

Dependent variables (DV) at Level 1	Customer Satisfaction	Customer Engagement
EE as mediator		
$SL \rightarrow DV$	.64*	.75*
$SL \rightarrow DV$ , controlling for EE	.47*	.54*
$SL \rightarrow EE \rightarrow DV$	.17* (.05, .17)	.21* (.07, .22)

Note: Bias-corrected confidence intervals (for the indirect effects) are in parentheses. SL = ServantLeadership, EE = Employee Engagement.

\*p < 0.05 (two-tailed tests).

In summary, Table 4-10 below presents the results of hypotheses testing using hierarchical linear modeling reported above. Given the significant research objectives of this study, the research hypotheses predicting the relationship of servant leadership with customer satisfaction and engagement and partially mediated by employee engagement were all supported from H1 - H7.

# Table 4-10Results of Hypotheses

Servant Leadership is positively related to Customer Outcom	es and Employee				
Engagement:					
H1. Servant Leadership is positively related to Customer	Supported				
Satisfaction.					
H2. Servant Leadership is positively related to Customer	Supported				
Engagement.					
H3. Servant Leadership is positively related to Employee	Supported				
Engagement.					
Employee Engagement is positively related to Customer Outcomes:					
H4. Employee Engagement is positively related to Customer	Supported				
Satisfaction.					
H5. Employee Engagement is positively related to Customer	Supported				
Engagement.					
The mediation effect of Employee Engagement:					
H6. Employee Engagement mediates the relationship between	Supported				
Servant Leadership and Customer Satisfaction.	(Partially)				
H7. Employee Engagement mediates the relationship between	Supported				
Servant Leadership and Customer Engagement.	(Partially)				



# Figure 4-1. Multilevel Research Model Results

Notes: Level 1 = customer level; Level 2 = employee level; and Level 3 = restaurant level.

SL = Servant Leadership; EE = Employee Engagement; CS = Customer Satisfaction; CE = Customer Engagement.

### 4.9 Discussions

Almost all prior research of servant leadership in the hospitality context have focused on investigated its effects on employees and organizational variables (Ilkhanizadeh & Karatepe, 2018; Jang & Kandampully, 2018; Karatepe, 2013). Some other studies also explained the mediating role of the work engagement in the direct influence of servant leadership on job-related variables such as career satisfaction (Kaya & Karatepe, 2020) but not yet to the customer level. Additionally, in the service literature, the focus of research was on the influence of transformational leadership on service performance (Liao & Chuang, 2007). However, due to the unpredictable and abstract nature of customer service and the characteristics of the hospitality industry, the researcher of this study anticipated that servant leadership could have a more significant impact on employees attitudes compared to other leadership. This is primarily attributed to the developmental, self-reflective, and altruistic nature of servant leadership, which is lacking in transformational leadership and other leadership theories. Moreover, analyzed articles of the servant leadership studies were mainly founded in the mainstream management and leadership literature and recently in the hospitality literature (Brownell, 2010). Only few of these studies reached the customer level while explaining the effects of servant leadership in many context (Neubert et al., 2016). As such evidences are from outside the hospitality industry, this study argues that including customer views and data to test leadership concepts in hospitality research is a fundamental difference from mainstream research. The hospitality industry is customer and service oriented where servant leadership will have high impact on the organization, its employees, and customers as well. Analysis of variables related to customer experience in the hospitality context is novel in servant leadership research and goes beyond the structure proposed by prior systematic reviews (Eva et al., 2019; Van Dierendonck, 2011). Added to that, this effect was assumed in the literature but has been rarely tested. To explain this trickledown effect (restaurant-employees-customers) in the hospitality context, this study put forth a three-level multilevel conceptual model guided by the generalized exchange theory GET and the development theory of servant leadership. Based on a comprehensive literature review and to fill the research gaps related to servant leadership effect on the followers, this study proposed a conceptual model to test the significance of servant leadership on the customer satisfaction and engagement in mid-scale restaurants. Examining servant leadership in this context, mid-scale employees' work engagement, and thus be leveraged to explain the effect on the customer experience. All measurement items were adopted from previous studies ensuring the validity and the reliability assumptions as well as the adaptability of scale in multicultural contexts.

Extending prior research, this study found that servant leadership has direct positive influence on customer satisfaction and customer engagement. It also found that employees' attitude indicated by their level of work engagement mediated the relationships between servant leadership and customer satisfaction and between servant leadership and customer engagement. These results thus highlight the predictive validity of servant leadership in a hospitality service setting. As the first attempt in the hospitality literature, this study evoked the reciprocity processes specified in generalized exchange theory to explain the trickle-down influence of servant leadership. In particular, the explanation relied on the univocal reciprocity occurring under either the net form where the leader gives to the employees as team or under the chain form where the leader/manager gives to the team and expects the reciprocity from the customers who have willingness to suggest improvements and positively recommend and sometimes comeback to the restaurant. The proven trickledown effect of servant leadership on customers, through the mediation of follower outcomes, increases the importance of the phenomenon that was explained due to the nature of the hospitality industry which is highly devoted to customer service. The proposed multilevel process model and the findings are noteworthy because they combined three different field of study or distinct concepts of leadership, human resource, and marketing. While they are related and often interconnected in business settings, each of these areas focuses on different aspects of organizational functioning. In this context, servant leadership influences employee engagement which in turn leading to customer satisfaction and engagement in the restaurant.

Lastly, before getting to the theoretical contributions and managerial implications of this study in the coming chapter 5, a review of the research objectives is presented and explained in this discussion part below.

### 4.9.1 Research Objective One

The first aim of this study is to test whether servant leadership has direct and positive relationship with customer outcomes in terms of customer satisfaction and customer engagement. As hypothesized, the results of this study supported the influence of servant leadership on customer variables i.e., customer satisfaction and customer engagement observed through willingness to suggest and word of mouth. Prior studies tested many employee-related variables that showed positive effect on customer satisfaction (Kim, 2011) but still unclear if the leader directly influence the attitude and the behavior of the customers in restaurants which is also a challenge in

the restaurant business. Most of the leadership literature researched different types of leadership and their relationship with the followers, servant leadership on the other hand, as introduced by Greenleaf (1970) has the potential to affect the followers and all stakeholders including customers and even communities. In the development of the servant leadership theory, limited number of reviews papers came out proposing different frameworks to be used in future research to understand and advance the knowledge of this type of leadership (Eva et al., 2019). In line with one of the problem statement explained in this thesis, Solnet et al. (2016) determined that customers experiences as growing demand is one of the key challenges in the hospitality industry. As mentioned, restaurants have to keep their customers satisfied to stay competitive in the market. While customers search for empathetic and authentic experiences, this objective has been reached to assure that servant leaders can provide the foundation of delivering this customer oriented service. Additionally, in a recent conceptual academic paper, Chon and Zoltan (2019) urged further research by proposing that servant leadership has a positive effect on initiatives for the community and customers toward service experience. In response, the finding confirmed Hypothesis H1 that servant leadership is positively associated with customer satisfaction in the mid-scale restaurant. Customers are more likely to have better dining experience and feel they did the right thing in choosing a specific restaurant where the manager demonstrates characteristics of a servant leader. Moreover, Hypothesis H2 was also confirmed by the finding showing that the customers of a mid-scale restaurant, while the manager is present, are willing to engage more by suggesting improvements to the quality of food and service and by saying positive things about the restaurant and recommending others to visit it. Thus, adding to the solution to keep the restaurant competitive and increase the positive word-of-mouth.

From the perspective of servant leadership concept, the manager of the restaurant hold conceptual skills which makes this leader competent in solving work issues or complaints while behaving ethically including being honest, trustworthy, and understanding to the organization's goals. By practicing these characteristics, the customer may notice and therefore feel more satisfied with their dining experience and more likely to increase their level of engagement as described in the research model.

### 4.9.2 Research Objective Two

Another objective of this study is to understand the direct relationship between employee engagement and servant leadership from one side and customer satisfaction and customer engagement from another side. The findings disclosed a positive relationship for the three paths and respond to the main problem statement of the hospitality industry, i.e., keep low employees disengagement rate and increase their satisfaction and loyalty to decrease turnover intention.

At first, Hypothesis H3 confirmed that servant leadership has positive effect on employee engagement. The results suggest that management of restaurant that possesses servant leadership qualities empower their employees and fosters their engagement. That is, when the servant-led managers in the mid-scale restaurants send powerful signals to their employees about the presence of servant leadership characteristics and practices in form of showing ethical behavior and giving empowerment and trying to help them to enhance their performance, their employees experience higher levels of psychological empowerment leading to higher levels of work engagement. In line with previous research that discussed the positive influence of servant leadership and its positive effect on work engagement in the hotel and airlines service (Karatepe & Talebzadeh, 2016; Ling et al., 2017), the findings of this thesis are in agreement with the mentioned studies.

Then, Hypothesis H4 was tested and supported the positive association between employee engagement and customer satisfaction. To keep their competitiveness, companies' effort lies in increasing their customers satisfaction and this is done by keeping their employees highly engaged. Employee Engagement, relatively new studied variable that goes beyond employee satisfaction, has shown positive findings in early research stage related to customer satisfaction. Previous studies focused on the conceptualization, though many definitions were presented, antecedents, on organization performance, and on other employee attitudinal variables (Babakus et al., 2017; Bakker et al., 2008; Putra et al., 2017). Other studies are considered as beginning attempts to link employee engagement to customers satisfaction. Zameer et al. (2018) demonstrated that employee engagement has a significant direct impact on customer satisfaction in the context of banking sector. Bilal et al. (2020) on the hand, found that teachers' work engagement (vigor, dedication, and absorption) and students' satisfaction are positively related. The role of the frontline employees has always been a vital in the business environment and specifically in the service industry for better service quality, organization performance, and therefore more satisfied customers. This study can be added to support, within its findings, the association of employee engagement and customer satisfaction.

Finally, the finding of Hypothesis H5 show a positive correlation between employee engagement and customer engagement. In this vein, more research reviews conceptually propose that employee engagement would result in effect on customer engagement if tested (Kumar & Pansari, 2016; Mittal et al., 2018). The current study is first to empirically support conceptual proposals in a multilevel model to understand the effect of engaged employees on increasing restaurants' customer engagement.

Relying on the generalized exchange theory GET, the chain unilateral form, employees of the mid-scale restaurant, being energetic and enthusiastic about their work, showing high level of dedication, and feeling happy and immersed at work, reciprocate their level of engagement to their customers who will feel more comfortable and motivated to reciprocate their level of engagement in their willingness to suggest new ideas to the restaurant as well in their word-of-mouth to others encouraging them to dine at this restaurant. Thus, in the findings presented here, the study confirm the significant positive effect of the employees' engagement vigor, dedication, and absorption attitudes on the customers' engagement toward willingness to suggest improvements and positive word-of-mouth in the restaurant business.

#### 4.9.3 **Research Objective Three**

The third objective of this study is to examine the mediating effect of employee engagement between servant leadership and customer outcomes i.e., customer satisfaction and customer engagement. Indeed, testing the mediating effect hypothesized by H6 and H7 respectively statistically showed that employee engagement partially mediates the relationship between servant leadership and customer satisfaction and between servant leadership and customer engagement in the context of restaurant industry. In a first notable recent review conceptual paper on servant leadership in hospitality, Chon and Zoltan (2019) stress on the important role and benefits of servant-led manager by providing synthesis of servant leadership literature and originating many future research propositions. The authors proposed that "SL has a positive effect on customer outcome variables (e.g., guest loyalty, customization) through the mediation of employee-related variables (p. 3385)", urging the need for future research in this direction. In this same vein, Neubert et al. (2016) used the hospital context to validate the fully mediation effect of nurse satisfaction between nurse servant-led managers and patient satisfaction. Due to the specific characteristics of the hospitality restaurant business and its customers, hospitality research on servant leadership is in demand.

In response to the above proposition and the gap in the literature, this study confirmed that an employee-related variable i.e., employee engagement partially mediates the positive relationship between servant leadership and customer outcome variables i.e., customer satisfaction and customer engagement. Moreover, explaining and justifying the mediation in a multilevel model as the one tested in this thesis needs to be based on a strong foundation theory to understand the cross-level variations and the relationship between the variables at the restaurant-level 3, employee-level 2, and customer-level 1. For that, this current research relied on the generalized exchange theory, GET, as the foundation of building the research conceptual multilevel model and to explain the mentioned mediation effect. GET includes, differing to the bilateral dyadic exchanges, three or more agents (i.e., customers, employee, restaurant managers) who will engage in a chain of multilateral exchanges and on the basis of the univocal principle of indirect reciprocity (Ekeh, 1974). In application, the manager who is present at the restaurant when the customers are served by their employees, demonstrate servant leadership characteristics (e.g., skills in solving work problems, caring about employees well-being and putting their needs first, empowering the employees of the restaurant and entrusts them with responsibility, autonomy, and

decision-making influence). This manager expects that practicing servant leadership will lead the restaurant employees to become more engaged at their work and exchange their high level of engagement with their customers. The customers, in turn, will feel more satisfied by the dining experience and show increase in level of engagement leading to an exchange behavior with the restaurant. They might suggest improvements in the quality of service and food, in the ambiance, design, and facilities, or any additional services that benefit the restaurant. Additionally, the servant-led restaurant manager assumes indirect reciprocity when the customers provide such suggestions and recommend this restaurant to friends and others. Suggestions for improvements to the restaurant and increase number of customers visiting to dine will reflect positively on the restaurant, represented by the manager practicing servant leadership. Lastly, it is worth noting that, as employee engagement partially mediates the relationship between servant leadership and customer outcomes, the manager and the employees have to be present at the restaurant to enhance the dining experience and increase satisfaction and engagement of their customers.

To conclude this part of the study, the analysis of the multi-level data found that servant leadership positively influences directly customer satisfaction and customer engagement and indirectly through employee engagement in the restaurant business. This empirical evidence provides support for the argument that the hospitality industries require servant leadership (Brownell, 2010), and that servant leaders employ efficient and effective direct values in the hospitality restaurant industry. The theoretical and managerial implications and contributions of the findings are discussed in the coming last chapter of this thesis.

# **Chapter 5: Conclusion and Contributions**

## 5.1 Introduction

Building on empirical findings and utilization of the generalized exchange theory GET and the newly developed servant leadership theory, the multilevel research model and tested hypotheses offer a number of theoretical contributions and practical implications. The thesis improves knowledge and practice of servant leadership in hospitality. It also add to the knowledge on the current employees and customers attitudes in the restaurant business. Moreover, the findings of this study provide a range of practical contributions for human resources, managers, marketers, and restaurant practitioners. This chapter discusses the main research contributions, limitations and suggests future research.

### 5.2 Research Contributions

## 5.2.1 Theoretical Contributions

The research focusing on the impact of servant leadership on employee attitudes and customer outcomes in the hospitality industry fills a gap in the field of leadership knowledge. This study aims to primarily explore how servant leadership influences employee engagement and customer satisfaction and engagement within a restaurant service environment, taking into account the perspectives of both employees and customers. The results associated with this study provided many theoretical, and empirical and methodological contributions and are presented in the following. First, this thesis expand the knowledge of servant leadership by responding to the calls for more empirical research regarding the role of servant leadership with the followers and customers in the hospitality industry. As servant leadership is still underdeveloped theory (Eva et al., 2019), and while leadership differ by region and culture and in the characteristics of the context of the place and people, there is a need to explore and research in the literature. Furthermore, servant leadership is proven to have positive effect on many employees attitudes (e.g., satisfaction), showed negative effect on other variables such as turnover intention. Thus, solving some of the industry problems. In the same vein, the hospitality industry is in high demand for more leaders with ethical practices with care to the employees and customers to keep them motivated and engaged leading to profitability. This study proves that servant leadership could be one of the solution in the restaurant business to solve the work engagement issues. Hence, the results further added to the development of the servant leadership theory showing positive effect on employee engagement and customer satisfaction and engagement in the restaurant setting in a developing country.

Second, the current study incorporated a multi-level conceptual model by integrating the generalized exchange theory, GET, via employee engagement at level 2, to explain the relationships between servant leadership at the restaurant level 3 and customer outcomes variables of satisfaction and engagement at level 1. Most of the previous study of leadership relied on the social exchange theory in form of dyadic exchanges, the framework of this thesis brought a rarely used theory into the hospitality and leadership literature to explain and support the development of the servant leadership research. Generalized exchange theory identifies the actors at different levels (organization, employee, and customer) in a social exchange situation where the first (manager/leader) exchange with another actor (employee) but expect reciprocity from the third actor (customer).

The findings anticipated a mutual advantage to hospitality and leadership / HR fields of study by associating a conceptual model framework of servant leadership and GET theories to employees' attitudes and customers behaviors issues in restaurant setting. Thus, this study contributes to the development theory of servant leadership (Eva et al., 2019) by providing a new understanding into the hospitality service literature and the generalized exchange theory. This thesis confirmed the applicability of the GET theory in the hospitality context.

The study also offers insights into servant leadership in different hospitality setting and cultural context unexplored in the literature as third theoretical contribution. Most of the previous studies in hospitality servant leadership focused on the lodging sector and very few on foodservice as contexts, with the majority of the samples from China and USA (Chon & Zoltan, 2019). With concentration of results from developed countries and similar culture, the same paper review revealed that there is a considerable research gap that would limit the representation and generalization of the research extant on servant leadership. Additionally, using the generalized exchange theory in fresh context and cultural across borders and specifically in the hospitality literature advance its generalization. Within the above calls, the findings of this thesis shed light on the relationship between servant leadership and customer satisfaction and behavior through employee engagement using data collected from a developing multicultural country. By exploring servant leadership practices in the casual mid-scale restaurant in less-developed countries, this study provides new dimensions and broaden the scope of the generalized exchange theory.

The fourth contribution of this study lies in the methodology approach based on testing the theories (servant leadership and GET) using primary data to measure variables in a three-level research model. This current study brought theories, concept, and variables from leadership, psychology, and marketing into the model, enabling further understanding and inference towards measuring the practice of servant leadership in the context of hospitality and restaurant business. In addition, unlike the majority of previous hospitality research using two-level dyadic models, this thesis offers empirical evidences through cross-level perception to investigate the complex phenomena of servant leadership at three different levels (i.e., how restaurant managers' servant leadership influences employee level and customer level). Generally, this thesis contributes to the literature by developing a conceptual multilevel model that considers servant leadership effects on first-line employees attitude and customers' dining experience in the restaurant business. With its estimations of the mediating effects of employee engagement on the relationship between servant leadership and customer satisfaction and engagement, the present study adds empirical evidence to the leadership and hospitality literature. Thus responding to many hospitality servant leadership research calls (Chon & Zoltan, 2019).

Lastly, the cultural aspects of servant leadership have important, multilayered repercussions regarding customer outcomes. Because servant leadership focuses on serving the needs of others, it does not always operate well in every cultural context. This variability is, however, important in clarifying how this leadership style can be adjusted in order to improve service and customer satisfaction in all contexts. Cultural values have been confirmed to contribute greatly to how leaders would act and the results of their actions. For example, Zhang's meta-analytic review shows that the relationship between servant leadership and employees' outcomes is moderated by culture, in this case being individual versus collectivist nature (Zhang et al., 2021). In those cultures described as collectivists, and where the focus is on the maintenance of group members on more relational constructs, there may be a stronger appeal to servant leadership, resulting in higher commitment and motivation among employees and better customer service. However, in cultures that emphasize individualism, the emphasis may be more in self-oriented goals and this may lessen the positive effects of servant leadership on customer outcomes. Lebanon is generally considered a collectivist society. This means that the needs and goals of the group (such as family, extended family, or community) are prioritized over the needs and desires of each individual. Therefore, this could explain the findings of this thesis that showed the positive impact of servant leadership on the employees and customers outcomes.

### 5.2.2 Managerial Implications

The findings of the current study also provide many practical implications for restaurant managers, human resources and training departments, marketers, and restaurant practitioners.

The results explained the relationship between servant leadership, employee engagement, and customer behavior in the restaurant business. It was found that servant leadership, as a management practice, fuel and increase the satisfaction of the restaurant customers and let be more engaged. Additionally, the level of satisfaction and engagement of the customers is also elevated through employees who have high level of engagement with their work. Clark and Matze (1999) argued that the leadership trend in the new economy focuses on relationship-building between employees and their organizations. However, the findings of this study expanded the leadership knowledge beyond the dyadic relationship between the restaurants management and their employees. Servant leadership has effect and relationship with the customers visiting and dining at the restaurants. Therefore, the managerial implications of the results of this study are elaborated mainly for hospitality managers to revise their leadership practices as well for human resources and marketing departments.

To start with, for *human resources department*, while recruiting external or promoting internal managers who are the leader who will represent the restaurant, can benefit from the study findings. In the hiring process or in the promoting selection procedure, the HR department can evaluate whether applicants have the necessary servant leadership skills by using different tools including leadership types test. Additionally, restaurants can use the servant leadership scale in form of interview for the potential managers applying for the job or in form of survey for the current employees to rate their team member leader for promotion. In practice, behavioral interview questions can help identify a person's capacity to demonstrate specific leadership attitudes or behaviors by eliciting past examples of these qualities. Moreover, personality assessments, which consider traits like agreeableness and selfabsorption, have been associated with servant leaders and can further inform selection or promotion decisions. Hiring or promoting more managers who embrace servant leadership characteristics will create positive impact on the restaurants keeping employees loyalty and engagement high and leading to more satisfied customers.

Another initiative that the HR of the hospitality organizations can take is to design manager training programs for transforming managers into outstanding servant leaders. They can even integrate the dimensions of servant leaders, such as caring for subordinates, valuing individual needs, and emphasizing the quality of leader-follower relationships, into performance valuation to determine the efficiency of the leader. Thus, hospitality organizations can systematically produce servant leaders and create positive impacts on the organizations. Promoting servant leadership in restaurants has great potential for contributing to restaurants fulfilling their purpose and reaching their goals related to customer outcomes (e.g., guest loyalty, customer satisfaction, customer engagement) and employee attitudes (e.g., employee satisfaction and engagement).

Practically, servant leadership may be improved through training for current and future restaurant managers. These trainings should be followed by the right way of evaluating the behaviors showing servant leadership. First, promoting servant leadership as human resource practices is crucial to develop an empowering and employee-centered caring environment that satisfies the needs of the followers will foster their satisfaction and increase the level of their engagement and will enhance the customer experience thus the organization profitability. In addition, human resource development professionals should make sure to align the practices like recruitment, training, reward system, and others with the servant leadership style. Drawing of the results of this study, employees who interact with customers daily including the manager also contribute to the customers' experience, attitudes, and behaviors. Finally, effective management implementing servant leadership in its organization should always motivate to keep employees engaged to guarantee future service competitiveness and increase the level of satisfaction and engagement of their customers in the restaurant through word-of-mouth beyond the visit.

In summary, hospitality organizations can promote servant leaders by implementing formal policies and human resources practices. This includes selecting or promoting managers with traits like optimism, integrity, and service orientation. Training programs help managers understand and adopt servant leadership principles, enhancing skills such as empathy and empowerment. Performance evaluations and rewards should recognize core attributes of servant leadership, encouraging managers to incorporate these principles into their daily work.

Then, *restaurant managers/servant leaders* have to know, based on the findings of the current research, that if practiced servant leadership with their presence in the restaurant, have direct effect and positively increase not only employees engagement but also their customers satisfaction and engagement.

On one hand, restaurant managers of casual mid-scale restaurant structure with few management layers (i.e., restaurant manager, supervisory level, front-line employees), enhances the relationship of servant leadership with customer satisfaction and customer engagement through employee engagement also points to a practical implication. While the finding of this study discloses that servant leadership is a key driver of restaurant frontline employees' work engagement, these restaurants' manager, scoring high on servant leadership characteristics, must enhance the positive attitudes of their employees by treating them with consideration, demonstrating a commitment to their needs, growth and development, and including them in decisions to let them think proactively, and most importantly empowering them by delegating responsibility, autonomy, and decision-making influence. As the drivers of engagement are in the hand and controllable by the servant-led restaurant managers, it is highly recommended from them to assign jobs to their followers employees that utilize skills and abilities, to encourage them to innovate, to let them feel that they are being treated with trust and respect and working for a credible manager. Those employees will score high on the level of work engagement and therefore increase the level of satisfaction and engagement of their guests in the restaurants.

On the other hand, the study also pointed out that, practically, the manager acting as servant leader has a significant direct positive relationship with the restaurants guests' level of satisfaction from the dining experience and their engagement in terms of willingness to suggest and word-of-mouth. In this context, practices such as showing social acceptance, remaining authentic and humble in the presence of the employees and guests, offering support and care to the followers employees while at work, listening actively and using conceptual skills to address any problem at work or guests complaints, and expressing ethical behaviors, honesty and trust reflect a true servant leader/manager. Building on the findings of this study, it is recommended that restaurant managers implement these practices in their daily work while they are present in the restaurant. Thus, customers dining at the restaurant will notice most of these servant leadership practices adept by the manager and therefore, they feel they did the right choice visiting such restaurant and their dining experience was elevated leading to higher level of satisfaction. Additionally, the customers of the restaurant trustworthy and heard and taking care of, if they engage. At this point, it is highly recommended that managers pass by these satisfied customers to ask for their feedback and listen to their suggestions as they are willing to present some improvements on different aspects of the restaurant and dining experience (e.g.,

quality of food and service provided by the restaurant, any additional services, ambience, design, and facilities). In this case, more training for those leaders on problem-solving and complaint response techniques in addition to commutation-withcustomers skills workshops may be especially necessary in hospitality and restaurant business.

Restaurant customers themselves can benefit from having an employee who acts as a servant leader, turning their experience inside the restaurant into something even better. Chameleonic, humble, attentive managers make people feel important which wins their respect and later on builds their loyalty. It is very helpful when managers ask guests for feedback and suggestions and spend time talking to them. It's not only how customers feel served but it also helps them feel part of the answer to the restaurant's requirements. Also, feedback is crucial when the client has some complaints, it is great for them to receive feedback solved with understanding and proper solutions to the problems. This interaction not only makes customers feel heard but also empowers them to contribute to the restaurant's success. Moreover, when managers address complaints with empathy and effective problem-solving skills, it reassures customers that their satisfaction is a top priority. As a result, customers are more likely to recommend the restaurant to others, sharing their positive experiences through word-of-mouth. To further enhance this dynamic, restaurants could benefit from training programs that equip managers with advanced communication and customer engagement skills, ensuring that every guest leaves with a memorable and satisfying experience.

Finally, the findings of this study also disclose that the customers of restaurants managed by servant leaders are not only willing to suggest any improvements to the restaurant, but also they are willing to spread the word about

167
their dining experience. Therefore, collecting feedback using the specific willingness to suggest (WTS-scale) including the improvements aspects mentioned in this study is highly recommended to the *marketing* department. Thus increasing the customers' engagement with the restaurant.

### 5.3 Limitations and Future Research

Despite its theoretical and practical contributions, this study is not without limitations which are explained here and recommendation for future research are mentioned.

First, examining attitudes and behaviors is a wide concept. This current study included only one mediator acting as an outcome variable for servant leadership and a predictor for customer satisfaction and engagement. Thus, it didn't include all possible response variables for servant leadership. Added to that, employee engagement partially mediates the relationship between servant leadership and customer outcomes; This finding suggests that there are other mediators that transmit the favorable impact of servant leadership on customer satisfaction and engagement. Future research may look into other variables that could be tested at the employee level and add comprehensive results and extend the findings of this study.

Second, comparing with other styles of leadership, some characteristics overlaps as explained in the literature, this study explored only servant leadership. Other studies have shown positive results of servant leadership when still adding transformational leadership into the model (Chen et al., 2015). This is mainly because servant leadership has a developmental, self-reflective, and altruistic orientation, whereas transformational leadership does not. It is highly recommended to control another type of leadership such as transformational leadership, empowerment leadership, or charismatic leadership while testing the model to explain servant leadership above and beyond them.

Third, organization size and context play an important role in leadership studies. The testing of the current model in flat type restaurants was a strength to this study. The mid-scale restaurant context showed positive relationship between servant leadership and customer outcomes as the manager is most of the time presents and communicates with the customers. However this study did not check the organization size in terms of small or big operations, number of seats or customers flow, or even sales. To generalize the current model and results to other industries or even hotels should be treated with caution. Future research should examine the effects of servant leadership on customer outcomes in another service industries such as banks, healthcare to extend the external validity of the current findings and mainly control for organization size. It is expected that the positive relationships between servant leadership and many follower and customer outcomes may persist in diverse samples but the influence of organizational structure if treated as moderator will change based on the context.

Forth, another weakness of this study lies in the design of the research. Although this study tested an advance modeling approach, three-level multilevel model, to examine the relationship between variables at different levels, the cross-sectional design might preclude the research ability to make causal inferences. For example, it is possible that individual employee attitudes (i.e., employee engagement) influenced by customer experience, reinforce and encourage servant leader behaviour with continued engagement. Future studies on this topic could collect time-series data to employ a longitudinal research design. This, not only to address the causality issue, but also to reduce potential common method variance CMV related overestimation of correlation coefficients. However, this current thesis reduced the influence of CMV by separating the collection in time and collecting from multiple sources. Future studies would also consider to report quantitative or qualitative data from the perspective of the

leader/manager, an ideal to extend the current findings. By applying longitudinal designs or even experimental research, servant leadership studies would be more beneficial to test particularly the effectiveness of leadership training programs as suggested previously in the practical contributions.

Last but not least, another possible limitation related to the data analysis, is using the Pseudo  $R^2$  to explain the goodness-of-fit measure and the amount to of variance explained by the model. However, this current study justified carefully the interpretation of the Pseudo  $R^2$  supported and based on the model's context, theory, and the research objectives. As with any goodness-of-fit measure, it's essential to interpret the Pseudo  $R^2$  in the context of the research problem and consider the practical implications of the results. A model with a relatively low Pseudo  $R^2$  might still be useful and provide valuable insights if it aligns with the theoretical expectations or contributes to a better understanding of the data. Therefore, future multilevel model research should not only interpret Pseudo  $R^2$  with caution but also consider to assess the model in conjunction with other model diagnostic and statistical assessments and visualizations to ensure the validity and reliability of the model.

Further to the above, although only few research have studied antecedents of servant leadership behaviors focusing on the leader's personality and gender with positive relationship (Eva et al., 2019) and on emotional intelligence but no significant relationship (Barbuto Jr et al., 2014), all were outside the hospitality context. Therefore, the researcher of this thesis highly recommend future research on antecedent variables (e.g., agreeableness, likeability personality, and emotional intelligence) of servant leadership in the hospitality or hotel contexts as they still lack in the hospitality literature.

#### 5.4 Conclusion

In conclusion, this thesis extended the leadership and hospitality literature and studies of employee engagement and customer outcomes with strong support for the proposed hypothesized model. The purpose of this study was to examine the relationship between servant leadership and customer outcomes and the role of employee engagement through the context of Lebanese restaurants. All research objectives were accomplished. Building upon the underdeveloped servant leadership theory and generalized exchange theory, this study predicted and found that a restaurant manager leader's servant leadership promoted restaurant dining experience in boosting customer satisfaction and engagement through its prominent influence on employees' work engagement. Specifically, the findings of the first objective revealed that the restaurant manager with servant leadership characteristics has direct effect and increase customers satisfaction during dining. The same leader positively influence their engagement as well. In the presence of servant leaders, customers are more likely to engage in the restaurant and suggest improvements and positively promote and recommend it through word-of-mouth. Another objective of this study was to understand the effect of such leader on employees attitude. The findings suggest that servant leadership boosts employee engagement in restaurants. Added to that, the results also showed a mediating role for the employee engagement between servant leadership and customer satisfaction and engagement. Together, these rationales and findings constitute a significant contribution to the understanding of servant leadership, employee engagement, and customer attitude and behaviors in restaurant settings. Finally, this thesis would stimulate future research in the same area of servant leadership in different settings and cultural contexts.

# Appendices

## **Appendix I. Questionnaire for Employee**

### Dear Sir/Madam,

I am pursuing my PhD study on the topic of servant leadership, employee attitudes, and customer outcomes restaurants. For the following questions, there is no right or wrong answer. Your participation in the survey is very important to the completion of the study and much appreciated. Your responses will remain anonymous and strictly confidential, as only aggregate results will be reported in any publications and will be only used for academic research purposes. If you would like to have more information regarding this research, please feel free to contact me. It should take about **5 minutes** to complete the questionnaire.

Sincerely, Maroun E. Aouad, PhD candidate School of Hotel and Tourism Management, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University Tel: + (852) 9256 Email: maroun.aouad@

### Part one:

1. Please choose the most suitable number for your truthful opinion. Mark your answer with "√" beneath the number you choose. Please rate your level of agreement on the following statements with:

<u> </u>	strongly	disagree	slightly	neutral	slightly	agree	strongly
Leader =	disagree	_	disagree		agree		agree
<b>Restaurant Manager (RM)</b>	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
SL1. My leader can tell if	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
something work-related is going							
wrong.							
SL2. My leader makes my	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
career development a priority.							
SL3. I would seek help from my	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
leader if I had a personal							
problem.							
SL4. My leader emphasizes the	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
importance of giving back to							
the community.							
SL5. My leader puts my best	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
interests ahead of his/her own.							
SL6. My leader gives me the	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
freedom to handle difficult							
situations in the way that I feel							
is best.							
SL7. My leader would NOT	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
compromise ethical principles							
in order to achieve success.							

2. Please choose the most suitable number for your truthful opinion. Mark your answer with "√" beneath the number you choose. Please rate your level of satisfaction on the following statements with:

	Strongly disagree 1	disagree 2	Slightly disagree 3	neutral	Slightly agree 5	agree 6	strongly agree 7
EEv1. At my work, I feel bursting with energy.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
EEv2. At my job, I feel strong and vigorous.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
EEv3. When I get up in the morning, I feel like going to work.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
EEd1. I am enthusiastic about my job.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
EEd2. My job inspires me.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
EEd3. I am proud of the work that I do.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
EEa1. I feel happy when I am working intensely.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
EEa2. I am immersed in my work.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
EEa3. I get carried away when I am working.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7

### Part two: Background Information

Please mark your answer with " $\checkmark$ " for each question based on your truthful opinion.

<ul><li>3. Gender:</li><li>□ 1. Male</li></ul>	□ 2. Female						
4. What is your age?	Years.						
<ul> <li>5. What is the highest level of education you have attained?</li> <li>1. Less than secondary/high school</li> <li>2. Completed secondary/high school</li> <li>3. Some college or university</li> <li>4. Completed college/university diploma/degree</li> <li>5. Completed postgraduate degree</li> </ul>							
6. How long have you been working in the industry (hotel or restaurant)?							
Months	Years						
7. How long have you been working in the restaurant?							
Months	Years						
8. Please specify your current position	in this restaurant:						

Please check again to ensure you have finished all the questions. Then return the questionnaire in the enclosed envelop and submit it to the researcher. I highly appreciated your participation! THANK YOU SO MUCH

### **Appendix II. Questionnaire for Customer**

### Dear Sir/Madam,

I am pursuing my PhD study on the topic of servant leadership, employee attitudes, and customer outcomes restaurants. For the following questions, there is no right or wrong answer. Your participation in the survey is very important to the completion of the study and much appreciated. Your responses will remain anonymous and strictly confidential, as only aggregate results will be reported in any publications and will be only used for academic research purposes. If you would like to have more information regarding this research, please feel free to contact me. It should take about 4 minutes to complete the questionnaire.

## Sincerely,

Maroun E. Aouad, PhD candidate School of Hotel and Tourism Management, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University Tel: + (852) 9256 Email: <u>maroun.aouad@</u>

## Part one:

1. Please choose the most suitable number for your truthful opinion. Mark your answer with "✓" beneath the number you choose. Please rate your level of agreement on the following statements with:

	Strongly disagree	disagree	Slightly disagree	neutral	Slightly agree	agree	strongly agree
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
CS1. Overall, I was satisfied with my experience dining at this restaurant.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
CS2. I think I did the right thing in visiting this restaurant.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
CS3. My choice to visit this restaurant was a wise one.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7

	Strongly disagree 1	disagree 2	Slightly disagree 3	neutral 4	Slightly agree 5	agree 6	strongly agree 7
WTS1. If given a chance, I am willing to suggest improvements in the quality of service provided by restaurant employees.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
WTS2. If given a chance, I am willing to suggest improvements in the quality of food provided by the restaurant.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
WTS3. If given a chance, I am willing to suggest additional services.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
WTS4. If given a chance, I am willing to suggest improvements in ambience.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
WTS5. If given a chance, I am willing to suggest improvements in design.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
WTS6. If given a chance, I am willing to suggest improvements in facilities.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
WOM1. I will say positive things about this restaurant.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
WOM2. I will encourage family and friends to visit this restaurant.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
WOM3. I will recommend this restaurant to someone who seeks my advice.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7

#### Part two: Background Information

Please mark your answer with " $\checkmark$ " for each question based on your truthful opinion.

- 2. Gender: □ 1. Male

□ 2. Female

3. In which of the following age groups do you belong?

Under 18	1	□ 46-55	5
□ 18-25	2	□ 56-65	6
□ 26-35	3	$\Box$ 66 or above	7
	4		

□ 36-45 \_\_\_\_4

4. What is the highest level of education you have attained?

- □ 1. Less than secondary/high school
- □ 2. Completed secondary/high school
- $\Box$  3. Some college or university
- □ 4. Completed college/university diploma/degree
- □ 5. Completed postgraduate degree
- 5. What is your nationality?
- □ 1. Lebanon
- □ 2. Others, please specify \_\_\_\_\_.

6. Is this your first visit to this restaurant?

- □ 1. YES
- 🗆 2. NO

Please check again to ensure you have finished all the questions. Then return the questionnaire in the enclosed envelop and submit it to the researcher. I highly appreciated your participation! THANK YOU SO MUCH

## References

Aboramadan, M., Crawford, J., Turkmenoglu, M. A., & Farao, C. (2022). Green inclusive leadership and employee green behaviors in the hotel industry: Does perceived green organizational support matter? *International Journal* of Hospitality Management, 107, 103330. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2022.103330</u>

Abuelhassan, A. E., Alharbi, S. S., Khreis, S. H. A., & Alharbi, M. M. (2024). When can empowering leadership foster intrinsic motivation and proactive performance in the tourism and hospitality industry? A moderated mediation model. International Journal of Hospitality Management, 122, 103860. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2024.103860

- Agusta, N. F., & Azmy, A. (2023). Servant Leadership and Career Development: Supporting Employee Growth. *International Journal of Multicultural and Multireligious Understanding*, 10(12), 350-360.
- Ahn, J., & Back, K.-J. (2018). Antecedents and consequences of customer brand engagement in integrated resorts. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 75, 144-152. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2018.05.020</u>
- Alexander, M. J., Jaakkola, E., & Hollebeek, L. D. (2018). Zooming out: actor engagement beyond the dyadic. *Journal of Service Management*.
- Allio, R. J. (2012). Leaders and leadership-many theories, but what advice is reliable? *Strategy & Leadership*, *41*(1), 4-14.
- Anderson, J. C., & Gerbing, D. W. (1988). Structural equation modeling in practice: A review and recommended two-step approach. *Psychological Bulletin*, 103(3), 411.
- Arici, H. E., Arasli, H., Köseoglu, M. A., Sokmen, A., & Arici, N. C. (2023). Job embeddedness in hospitality and tourism scholarship: Past, present, and future research agenda. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 109, 103417. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2022.103417</u>
- Arnett, D. B., Laverie, D. A., & McLane, C. (2002). Using job satisfaction and pride as internal-marketing tools. *Cornell Hotel and Restaurant Administration Quarterly*, 43(2), 87-96.
- Avolio, B. J., Walumbwa, F. O., & Weber, T. J. (2009). Leadership: Current theories, research, and future directions. *Annual review of psychology*, 60, 421-449.
- Ayman, R., & Korabik, K. (2010). Leadership: Why gender and culture matter. *American psychologist*, 65(3), 157.
- Babakus, E., Yavas, U., & Karatepe, O. M. (2017). Work engagement and turnover intentions: Correlates and customer orientation as a moderator. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 29(6), 1580-1598.

Bagozzi, R. P. (1975). Marketing as exchange. Journal of marketing, 39(4), 32-39.

Bakker, A. B., Schaufeli, W. B., Leiter, M. P., & Taris, T. W. (2008). Work engagement: An emerging concept in occupational health psychology. *Work* & Stress, 22(3), 187-200. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02678370802393649</u>

- Banks, G. C., Gooty, J., Ross, R. L., Williams, C. E., & Harrington, N. T. (2018). Construct redundancy in leader behaviors: A review and agenda for the future. *The leadership quarterly*, 29(1), 236-251.
- Barbera, K. M., Macey, W. H., Martin, N., & Schneider, B. (2009). Driving customer satisfaction and financial success through employee engagement. *People & Strategy*, 32(2), 22-28.
- Barbuto Jr, J. E., Gottfredson, R. K., & Searle, T. P. (2014). An examination of emotional intelligence as an antecedent of servant leadership. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, *21*(3), 315-323.
- Barbuto Jr, J. E., & Wheeler, D. W. (2006). Scale development and construct clarification of servant leadership. *Group & Organization Management*, 31(3), 300-326.
- Bass, B. M., & Riggio, R. E. (2006). Transformational leadership.
- Baumgartner, H., & Homburg, C. (1996). Applications of structural equation modeling in marketing and consumer research: A review. *International Journal of Research in Marketing*, *13*(2), 139-161.
- Bavik, A., Bavik, Y. L., & Tang, P. M. (2017). Servant Leadership, Employee Job Crafting, and Citizenship Behaviors: A Cross-Level Investigation. *Cornell Hospitality Quarterly*, 58(4), 364-373. https://doi.org/10.1177/1938965517719282
- Bearman, P. (1997). Generalized Exchange. *American journal of sociology*, 102(5), 1383-1415. <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/231087</u>
- Bhatti, N., Maitlo, G. M., Shaikh, N., Hashmi, M. A., & Shaikh, F. M. (2012). The impact of autocratic and democratic leadership style on job satisfaction. *International Business Research*, 5(2), 192.
- Bilal, A. R., Fatima, T., Bin Dost, K., & Imran, M. K. (2020). I am engaged, therefore my students are satisfied! Unleashing the role of teachers' interaction and sensitivity based on self-determination perspective. *International Journal of Educational Management*, 35(1), 341-361.
- Blanchard, K., & Hodges, P. (2005). *Lead like Jesus: Lessons for everyone from the greatest leadership role model of all time*. Thomas Nelson Inc.
- Blanchard, K. H., & Hersey, P. (1996). Life-cycle theory of leadership. *Training & Development*, 50(1), 42-48.
- Blau, P. M. (1964). *Exchange and Power in Social Life*. J. Wiley. https://books.google.com.hk/books?id=qhOMLscX-ZYC

- Block, P. (2005). Servant-leadership: Creating an alternative future. Keynote address, 2005 International Servant-Leadership Conference. *International Journal of Servant-Leadership*(2), 55-79.
- Bouzari, M., & Karatepe, O. M. (2017). Test of a mediation model of psychological capital among hotel salespeople. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 29(8), 2178-2197.
- Brislin, R. W. (1970). Back-translation for cross-cultural research. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 1(3), 185-216.
- Brodie, R. J., Hollebeek, L. D., Jurić, B., & Ilić, A. (2011). Customer engagement: Conceptual domain, fundamental propositions, and implications for research. *Journal of service research*, 14(3), 252-271.
- Brownell, J. (2010). Leadership in the service of hospitality. *Cornell Hospitality Quarterly*, *51*(3), 363-378.
- Cai, M., Wang, M., & Cheng, J. (2024). The Effect of Servant Leadership on Work Engagement: The Role of Employee Resilience and Organizational Support [Article]. *Behavioral Sciences*, 14(4), Article 300. https://doi.org/10.3390/bs14040300
- Canavesi, A., & Minelli, E. (2022). Servant leadership: A systematic literature review and network analysis. *Employee Responsibilities and Rights Journal*, 34(3), 267-289.
- Canny, I. U. (2014). Measuring the mediating role of dining experience attributes on customer satisfaction and its impact on behavioral intentions of casual dining restaurant in Jakarta. *International Journal of Innovation, Management and Technology*, 17(21), 22-26.
- Cao, Y., Yan, B., & Teng, Y. (2023). The impact of green human resource management on hospitality employees' quitting intention: A dual perspective study. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Management*, 57, 270-283. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhtm.2023.10.012
- Carifio, J., & Perla, R. J. (2007). Ten common misunderstandings, misconceptions, persistent myths and urban legends about Likert scales and Likert response formats and their antidotes. *Journal of social sciences*, *3*(3), 106-116.
- Carter, D., & Baghurst, T. (2014). The influence of servant leadership on restaurant employee engagement. *Journal of business ethics*, 124(3), 453-464.
- Carter, T. (2013). Global leadership. *Journal of Management Policy and Practice*, 14(1), 69-74.
- Chathoth, P., Altinay, L., Harrington, R. J., Okumus, F., & Chan, E. S. (2013). Coproduction versus co-creation: A process based continuum in the hotel service context. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 32, 11-20.

- Chen, Z., Zhu, J., & Zhou, M. (2015). How does a servant leader fuel the service fire? A multilevel model of servant leadership, individual self identity, group competition climate, and customer service performance. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 100(2), 511.
- Cheung, C., King, B., & Wong, A. (2018). What does the Industry need to know about Chinese Hospitality Leadership? *Journal of China Tourism Research*, 14(2), 177-192.
- Chin, W. W., Marcolin, B. L., & Newsted, P. R. (2003). A partial least squares latent variable modeling approach for measuring interaction effects: Results from a Monte Carlo simulation study and an electronic-mail emotion/adoption study. *Information systems research*, 14(2), 189-217.
- Chiniara, M., & Bentein, K. (2016). Linking servant leadership to individual performance: Differentiating the mediating role of autonomy, competence and relatedness need satisfaction. *The leadership quarterly*, *27*(1), 124-141.
- Choi, H., & Kandampully, J. (2019). The effect of atmosphere on customer engagement in upscale hotels: An application of SOR paradigm. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 77, 40-50.
- Choi, K., Fang, M., & Khatter, A. (2022). What motivates employees to work in the hotel industry?: Quarantine hotel employees' perspectives. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Management*, 53, 96-99. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhtm.2022.09.004
- Chon, K., & Zoltan, J. (2019). Role of servant leadership in contemporary hospitality. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, *31*(8), 3371-3394.
- Chung, J. Y., Chan Su, J., Kyle, G. T., & Petrick, J. F. (2010). Servant Leadership and Procedural Justice in the U.S. National Park Service: The Antecedents of Job Satisfaction [Article]. *Journal of Park & Recreation Administration*, 28(3), 1-15.
  <u>http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=hjh&AN=53159438</u> <u>&site=ehost-live</u>
- Clark, B. D., & Matze, M. G. (1999). A core of global leadership: Relational competence. *Advances in global leadership*, *1*, 127-161.
- Coats, J. H. (2022). First Lady of the United States and the World: A Case Study of Eleanor Roosevelt's Servant-Leadership. *International Journal of Servant-Leadership*, *16*(1), 424-445. <u>https://doi.org/10.33972/ijsl.354</u>
- Coetzer, M., Bussin, M., & Geldenhuys, M. (2017). The functions of a servant leader. *Administrative Sciences*, 7(1), 5.

- Collinson, D., & Tourish, D. (2015). Teaching leadership critically: New directions for leadership pedagogy. Academy of Management Learning & Education, 14(4), 576-594.
- Cronin Jr, J. J., Brady, M. K., & Hult, G. T. M. (2000). Assessing the effects of quality, value, and customer satisfaction on consumer behavioral intentions in service environments. *Journal of Retailing*, 76(2), 193-218.
- Cullen, J. B., Parboteeah, K. P., & Hoegl, M. (2004). Cross-national differences in managers' willingness to justify ethically suspect behaviors: A test of institutional anomie theory. *Academy of Management Journal*, 47(3), 411-421.
- Currie, R. A., Lee, J., Min, H., & Jex, S. M. (2023). Special privileges or busywork? The impact of qualitative job insecurity on idiosyncratic deals and illegitimate tasks among hospitality workers. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 113, 103513. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2023.103513</u>
- Dansereau Jr, F., Graen, G., & Haga, W. J. (1975). A vertical dyad linkage approach to leadership within formal organizations: A longitudinal investigation of the role making process. *Organizational behavior and human performance*, *13*(1), 46-78.
- Daou, R. (2015). Uncovering the Lebanese Restaurant Industry. Retrieved 23/11/2018, from <u>http://blog.blominvestbank.com/11275/uncovering-the-lebanese-restaurant-industry/</u>
- Davis, C. S. (2011). *The Middle East For Dummies*. Wiley. https://books.google.com.lb/books?id=-rgSoUm0ptYC
- De Clercq, D., Bouckenooghe, D., Raja, U., & Matsyborska, G. (2014). Servant leadership and work engagement: The contingency effects of leader–follower social capital. *Human Resource Development Quarterly*, 25(2), 183-212.
- Decuypere, A., & Schaufeli, W. B. (2021). Exploring the Leadership–Engagement Nexus: A Moderated Meta-Analysis and Review of Explaining Mechanisms. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(16), 8592. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18168592</u>
- Delcourt, C., Gremler, D. D., Van Riel, A. C., & Van Birgelen, M. (2013). Effects of perceived employee emotional competence on customer satisfaction and loyalty: The mediating role of rapport. *Journal of Service Management*, 24(1), 5-24.
- Deloitte. (2015). Make it markbar: connecting customer engagement with sustainability. Retrieved October 2018, from
- Ding, A., Lee, R. H., Legendre, T. S., & Madera, J. (2022). Anthropomorphism in hospitality and tourism: A systematic review and agenda for future research.

Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Management, 52, 404-415. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhtm.2022.07.018

- Dionne, S. D., Gupta, A., Sotak, K. L., Shirreffs, K. A., Serban, A., Hao, C., Kim, D. H., & Yammarino, F. J. (2014). A 25-year perspective on levels of analysis in leadership research. *The leadership quarterly*, 25(1), 6-35.
- Dorfman, P. W., & House, R. J. (2004). Cultural influences on organizational leadership: Literature review, theoretical rationale, and GLOBE project goals. *Culture, leadership, and organizations: The GLOBE study of, 62*, 51-73.
- Ehrhart, M. G. (2004). Leadership and procedural justice climate as antecedents of unit-level organizational citizenship behavior. *Personnel psychology*, *57*(1), 61-94.
- Eisingerich, A. B., Auh, S., & Merlo, O. (2014). Acta Non Verba? The Role of Customer Participation and Word of Mouth in the Relationship Between Service Firms' Customer Satisfaction and Sales Performance. *Journal of service research*, 17(1), 40-53. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1094670513490836</u>
- Ekeh, P. P. (1974). *Social exchange theory: the two traditions*. Harvard University Press. <u>https://books.google.com.hk/books?id=kApHAAAMAAJ</u>
- Ekstein, N. (2013). Best breakfasts around the world. <u>https://edition.cnn.com/travel/article/best-breakfasts-around-the-world/index.html</u>
- El Maalouf, H., Ghadban, S., & Shames, M. (2015). Nightlife tourism: A blessing or a curse for host communities?"A case study on Gemmayzeh, Lebanon". *Journal of tourism research & hospitality*, 4(2).
- Eluwole, K. K., Karatepe, O. M., & Avci, T. (2022). Ethical leadership, trust in organization and their impacts on critical hotel employee outcomes. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, *102*, 103153. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2022.103153</u>
- Eva, N., Robin, M., Sendjaya, S., van Dierendonck, D., & Liden, R. C. (2019). Servant Leadership: A systematic review and call for future research. *The leadership quarterly*, 30(1), 111-132. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2018.07.004
- Eva, N., & Sendjaya, S. (2013). Creating future leaders: an examination of youth leadership development in Australia. *Education+ Training*, 55(6), 584-598.
- Eva, N., Sendjaya, S., Prajogo, D., Cavanagh, A., & Robin, M. (2018). Creating strategic fit: Aligning servant leadership with organizational structure and strategy. *Personnel Review*, 47(1), 166-186.

- Evanschitzky, H., Groening, C., Mittal, V., & Wunderlich, M. (2011). How employer and employee satisfaction affect customer satisfaction: An application to franchise services. *Journal of service research*, *14*(2), 136-148.
- Fakih, K., Assaker, G., Assaf, A. G., & Hallak, R. (2016). Does restaurant menu information affect customer attitudes and behavioral intentions? A crosssegment empirical analysis using PLS-SEM. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 57, 71-83.
- Fatima, S., Abbas, M., & Hassan, M. M. (2023). Servant leadership, ideology-based culture and job outcomes: A multi-level investigation among hospitality workers. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 109, 103408. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2022.103408</u>
- Field, A. (2013). Discovering statistics using IBM SPSS statistics. sage.
- Fornell, C., & Larcker, D. F. (1981). Evaluating structural equation models with unobservable variables and measurement error. *Journal of marketing research*, 39-50.
- Fortune. (2018). 100 Best Companies to Work For 2018. Retrieved 11 November 2018, from <u>http://fortune.com/best-companies/list/</u>
- Friedman, M. (2007). The social responsibility of business is to increase its profits. In *Corporate ethics and corporate governance* (pp. 173-178). Springer.
- Gallup. (2017). 2017 State of the Global Workplace. Retrieved November 17, 2018, from https://www.gallup.com/services/178517/state-global-workplace.aspx
- Ghadban, S., Shames, M., Arrage, J. A., & Fayyad, A. A. (2017). Rural tourism in Lebanon: what does the market reveal? *Management Avenir*(6), 165-185.
- Ghosh, K., & Khatri, N. (2017). Does servant leadership work in hospitality sector: A representative study in the hotel organizations. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Management*, 37, 117-127.
- Gip, H., Wang, X., Guchait, P., & Pasamehmetoglu, A. (2024). Exploring the impact of abusive supervision on employee approaches to managing service errors and failures: Examining the effects of hope and optimism, and service tenure. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 122, 103839. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2024.103839</u>
- Goh, E., & Lee, C. (2018). A workforce to be reckoned with: The emerging pivotal Generation Z hospitality workforce. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 73, 20-28.
- González, J. V., & Garazo, T. G. (2006). Structural relationships between organizational service orientation, contact employee job satisfaction and

citizenship behavior. *International journal of service industry management*, *17*(1), 23-50.

- Gore, R., & Clark, R. (2004). Who Were the Phoenicians? *NATIONAL GEOGRAPHIC*, 206(4), 26-49.
- Graham, J. W. (1991). Servant-leadership in organizations: Inspirational and moral. *The leadership quarterly*, 2(2), 105-119. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/1048-9843(91)90025-W</u>
- Greenleaf, R. K. (1970). The Servant as Leader. In. Indianapolis: The Robert K. Geenleaf Center.
- Greenleaf, R. K. (1977). Servant leadership: a journey into the nature of legitimate power and greatness. New York: Paulist Press.
- Greenleaf, R. K. (2002). Servant leadership : a journey into the nature of legitimate power and greatness (25th anniversary ed.. ed.). New York : Paulist Press.
- Greenleaf, R. K. (2009). *The institution as servant*. Greenleaf Center for Servant Leadership.
- Gregoire, M. B., & Arendt, S. W. (2014). Leadership: Reflections over the past 100 years. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, 114(5), S10-S19.
- Grobelna, A. (2019). Effects of individual and job characteristics on hotel contact employees' work engagement and their performance outcomes. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, *31*(1), 349-369. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-08-2017-0501
- Guchait, P., Peyton, T., Madera, J. M., Gip, H., & Molina-Collado, A. (2023). 21st century leadership research in hospitality management: a state-of-the-art systematic literature review. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 35(12), 4259-4296.
- Gui, C., Zhang, P., Zou, R., & Ouyang, X. (2021). Servant leadership in hospitality: a meta-analytic review [Article]. *Journal of Hospitality Marketing and Management*, 30(4), 438-458. https://doi.org/10.1080/19368623.2021.1852641
- Gupta, A., McDaniel, J. C., & Kanthi Herath, S. (2005). Quality management in service firms: sustaining structures of total quality service. *Managing Service Quality: An International Journal*, 15(4), 389-402. https://doi.org/doi:10.1108/09604520510606853
- Gutierrez-Broncano, S., Linuesa-Langreo, J., Ruiz-Palomino, P., & Yánez-Araque, B. (2024). General manager servant leadership and firm adaptive capacity: The heterogeneous effect of social capital in family versus non-family firms. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 118, 103690. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2024.103690</u>

- Hackman, J. R., & Wageman, R. (2007). Asking the right questions about leadership: Discussion and conclusions. *American psychologist*, 62(1).
- Hai, S., & Park, I.-J. (2024). How can promote hotel employees' performances? Relative importance of high-performance HR practices and the moderating role of empowering leadership. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 119, 103706. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2024.103706
- Hair, J. F., Black, W. C., Babin, B. J., & Anderson, R. E. (2010). *Multivariate data analysis* (7th ed.). Prentice Hall.
- Hair Jr, J. F., Sarstedt, M., Ringle, C. M., & Gudergan, S. P. (2017). Advanced issues in partial least squares structural equation modeling. saGe publications.
- Hannah, S. T., Sumanth, J. J., Lester, P., & Cavarretta, F. (2014). Debunking the false dichotomy of leadership idealism and pragmatism: Critical evaluation and support of newer genre leadership theories. *Journal of organizational Behavior*, 35(5), 598-621.
- Harman, H. H. (1976). Modern factor analysis. University of Chicago press.
- Harrison, D. A., & Klein, K. J. (2007). What's the difference? Diversity constructs as separation, variety, or disparity in organizations. *Academy of Management review*, *32*(4), 1199-1228.
- Hartline, M. D., & Ferrell, O. C. (1996). The management of customer-contact service employees: an empirical investigation. *The Journal of Marketing*, 52-70.
- Hatcher, L., & O'Rourke, N. (2013). A step-by-step approach to using SAS for factor analysis and structural equation modeling. Sas Institute.
- Hess, A. (2013). Servant leadership: A path to high performance. Washington Post.
- Hesse, H. (1956). The journey to the east. Picador.
- Heung, V. C., & Gu, T. (2012). Influence of restaurant atmospherics on patron satisfaction and behavioral intentions. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 31(4), 1167-1177.
- Hightower Jr, R., Brady, M. K., & Baker, T. L. (2002). Investigating the role of the physical environment in hedonic service consumption: an exploratory study of sporting events. *Journal of Business Research*, *55*(9), 697-707.
- Hinkin, T. R., Tracey, J. B., & Enz, C. A. (1997). Scale construction: Developing reliable and valid measurement instruments. *Journal of Hospitality & Tourism Research*, 21(1), 100-120.

- Hoang, G., Luu, T. T., Nguyen, T. T., Du, T., & Le, L. P. (2022). Examining the effect of entrepreneurial leadership on employees' innovative behavior in SME hotels: A mediated moderation model. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 102, 103142. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2022.103142
- Hoang, G., Yang, M., & Luu, T. T. (2023). Ethical leadership in tourism and hospitality management: A systematic literature review and research agenda. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 114, 103563. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2023.103563</u>
- Hoch, J. E., Bommer, W. H., Dulebohn, J. H., & Wu, D. (2018). Do ethical, authentic, and servant leadership explain variance above and beyond transformational leadership? A meta-analysis. *Journal of management*, 44(2), 501-529.
- Hofmann, D. A. (1997). An overview of the logic and rationale of hierarchical linear models. *Journal of management*, 23(6), 723-744.
- Hofmann, D. A., Griffin, M. A., & Gavin, M. B. (2000). The application of hierarchical linear modeling to organizational research.
- Hollebeek, L. (2011). Exploring customer brand engagement: definition and themes. *Journal of strategic Marketing*, 19(7), 555-573.
- Hollebeek, L. D., & Andreassen, T. W. (2018). The SD logic-informed "hamburger" model of service innovation and its implications for engagement and value. *Journal of Services Marketing*, *32*(1), 1-7.
- Homburg, C., & Stock, R. M. (2004). The link between salespeople's job satisfaction and customer satisfaction in a business-to-business context: A dyadic analysis. *Journal of the Academy of marketing Science*, *32*(2), 144.
- Hon, A. H., & Lu, L. (2016). When will the trickle-down effect of abusive supervision be alleviated? The moderating roles of power distance and traditional cultures. *Cornell Hospitality Quarterly*, *57*(4), 421-433.
- Hoon Song, J., Kolb, J. A., Hee Lee, U., & Kyoung Kim, H. (2012). Role of transformational leadership in effective organizational knowledge creation practices: Mediating effects of employees' work engagement. *Human Resource Development Quarterly*, 23(1), 65-101.
- Hooper, D., Coughlan, J., & Mullen, M. R. (2008). Structural equation modelling: Guidelines for determining model fit. *Electronic journal of business research methods*, 6(1), pp53-60-pp53-60.
- House, R. J. (1996). Path-goal theory of leadership: Lessons, legacy, and a reformulated theory. *The leadership quarterly*, 7(3), 323-352.

- Howat, G., & Assaker, G. (2013). The hierarchical effects of perceived quality on perceived value, satisfaction, and loyalty: Empirical results from public, outdoor aquatic centres in Australia. *Sport Management Review*, 16(3), 268-284. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smr.2012.10.001</u>
- Hox, J. J., Moerbeek, M., & Van de Schoot, R. (2017). *Multilevel analysis: Techniques and applications*. Routledge.
- Hsiao, C., Lee, Y.-H., & Chen, W.-J. (2015). The effect of servant leadership on customer value co-creation: A cross-level analysis of key mediating roles. *Tourism management*, 49, 45-57.
- Hu, J., & Liden, R. C. (2011). Antecedents of team potency and team effectiveness: An examination of goal and process clarity and servant leadership. *Journal* of Applied Psychology, 96(4), 851.
- Hu, L.-t., & Bentler, P. M. (1998). Fit indices in covariance structure modeling: Sensitivity to underparameterized model misspecification. *Psychological methods*, 3(4), 424.
- Huang, J., Li, W., Qiu, C., Yim, F. H.-k., & Wan, J. (2016). The impact of CEO servant leadership on firm performance in the hospitality industry. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 28(5), 945-968.
- Huang, L., & Tsai, H. (2024). The effects of recovery experiences on hotel employees' subjective well-being, organizational citizenship behavior, and task performance. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, *121*, 103798. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2024.103798</u>
- Huang, Y., Sharma, A., & Yu, H. (2023). A systematic review of employee voice literature in hospitality. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Management*, 56, 532-542. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhtm.2023.08.012</u>
- Huertas-Valdivia, I., González-Torres, T., & Nájera-Sánchez, J.-J. (2022). Contemporary leadership in hospitality: a review and research agenda. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 34(6), 2399-2422.
- Huertas-Valdivia, I., Llorens-Montes, F. J., & Ruiz-Moreno, A. (2018). Achieving engagement among hospitality employees: a serial mediation model. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 30(1), 217-241. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.1108/IJCHM-09-2016-0538</u>
- Hunter, E. M., Neubert, M. J., Perry, S. J., Witt, L., Penney, L. M., & Weinberger, E. (2013). Servant leaders inspire servant followers: Antecedents and outcomes for employees and the organization. *The leadership quarterly*, 24(2), 316-331.

- Ilkhanizadeh, S., & Karatepe, O. M. (2018). Does trust in organization mediate the influence of servant leadership on satisfaction outcomes among flight attendants? *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*.
- James, L. R., Demaree, R. G., & Wolf, G. (1984). Estimating within-group interrater reliability with and without response bias. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 69(1), 85-98. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.69.1.85</u>
- James, L. R., Demaree, R. G., & Wolf, G. (1993). rwg: An assessment of withingroup interrater agreement. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 78(2), 306-309. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.78.2.306
- Jang, J., & Kandampully, J. (2018). Reducing Employee Turnover Intention Through Servant Leadership in the Restaurant Context: A Mediation Study of Affective Organizational Commitment. *International Journal of Hospitality & Tourism Administration*, 19(2), 125-141. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15256480.2017.1305310</u>
- Jani, D., & Han, H. (2015). Influence of environmental stimuli on hotel customer emotional loyalty response: Testing the moderating effect of the big five personality factors. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 44, 48-57. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2014.10.006</u>
- Jin, J., & Ikeda, H. (2023). The Role of Empathic Communication in the Relationship between Servant Leadership and Workplace Loneliness: A Serial Mediation Model. *Behavioral Sciences*, 14(1), 4.
- Kahn, W. A. (1990). Psychological conditions of personal engagement and disengagement at work. *Academy of Management Journal*, 33(4), 692-724.
- Karatepe, O. M. (2013). High-performance work practices and hotel employee performance: The mediation of work engagement. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, *32*, 132-140.
- Karatepe, O. M., Okumus, F., Nosrati, S., & Gurcham, K. (2023). Test of a serial mediation model of Machiavellian leadership among hospitality and tourism employees. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 111, 103462. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2023.103462</u>
- Karatepe, O. M., & Talebzadeh, N. (2016). An empirical investigation of psychological capital among flight attendants. *Journal of Air Transport Management*, 55, 193-202.
- Karatepe, O. M., Yavas, U., Babakus, E., & Deitz, G. D. (2018). The effects of organizational and personal resources on stress, engagement, and job outcomes. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 74, 147-161. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2018.04.005</u>
- Kašpárková, L., Vaculík, M., Procházka, J., & Schaufeli, W. B. (2018). Why resilient workers perform better: The roles of job satisfaction and work

engagement. *Journal of Workplace Behavioral Health*, *33*(1), 43-62. https://doi.org/10.1080/15555240.2018.1441719

- Katz, R. (1955). Skills of an effective administrator. *Harvard BusinessReview*, Jan-Feb. 1955.
- Kaya, B., & Karatepe, O. M. (2020). Does servant leadership better explain work engagement, career satisfaction and adaptive performance than authentic leadership? *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 32(6), 2075-2095. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-05-2019-0438</u>
- Kellerman, B. (2013). Leading questions: The end of leadership–redux. *Leadership*, 9(1), 135-139.
- Kim, G.-J. (2014). Applying service profit chain model to the Korean restaurant industry. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, *36*, 1-13.
- Kim, H. J. (2011). Service orientation, service quality, customer satisfaction, and customer loyalty: Testing a structural model. *Journal of Hospitality Marketing & Management*, 20(6), 619-637.
- King, C. A. (1995). What is hospitality? *International Journal of Hospitality* Management, 14(3-4), 219-234.
- Klein, K. J., Bliese, P. D., Kozolowski, S. W., Dansereau, F., Gavin, M. B., Griffin, M. A., Hofmann, D. A., James, L. R., Yammarino, F. J., & Bligh, M. C. (2000). Multilevel analytical techniques: Commonalities, differences, and continuing questions.
- Kline, R. B. (2015). *Principles and practice of structural equation modeling*. Guilford publications.
- Koyuncu, M., J. Burke, R., Astakhova, M., Eren, D., & Cetin, H. (2014). Servant leadership and perceptions of service quality provided by front-line service workers in hotels in Turkey: achieving competitive advantage. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, *26*(7), 1083-1099.
- Kozlowski, S. W., & Klein, K. J. (2000). A multilevel approach to theory and research in organizations: Contextual, temporal, and emergent processes.
- Kreft, I. G., & De Leeuw, J. (1998). Introducing multilevel modeling. Sage.
- Kumar, V., & Pansari, A. (2014). The construct, measurement, and impact of employee engagement: A marketing perspective. *Customer Needs and Solutions*, *1*(1), 52-67.
- Kumar, V., & Pansari, A. (2016). Competitive advantage through engagement. Journal of marketing research, 53(4), 497-514.

- Kurian, G., & Muzumdar, P. (2017). Antecedents to Job Satisfaction in the Airline Industry. *NMIMS MANAGEMENT REVIEW*, *34*(2), 29-40.
- Kusluvan, H., Akova, O., & Kusluvan, S. (2022). Occupational stigma and career commitment: Testing mediation and moderation effects of occupational selfesteem. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 102, 103149. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2022.103149</u>
- Kusluvan, S., Kusluvan, Z., Ilhan, I., & Buyruk, L. (2010). The human dimension: A review of human resources management issues in the tourism and hospitality industry. *Cornell Hospitality Quarterly*, *51*(2), 171-214.
- Kwak, W. J., & Kim, H.-K. (2015). Servant leadership and customer service quality at Korean hotels: Multilevel organizational citizenship behavior as a mediator. *Social Behavior and Personality: an international journal*, 43(8), 1287-1298.
- Lapointe, É., & Vandenberghe, C. (2018). Examination of the relationships between servant leadership, organizational commitment, and voice and antisocial behaviors. *Journal of business ethics*, *148*(1), 99-115.
- Laub, J. (1999). Assessing the servant organization: Development of the organizational leadership assessment (OLA) instrument Doctoral dissertation Boca Raton Florida. In.
- Laub, J. (2003). From paternalism to the servant organization: Expanding the Organizational Leadership Assessment (OLA) model. Proceedings of the Servant Leadership Research Roundtable,
- Lebanon country profile. (2018). Retrieved Tuesday, May 7, 2019, from https://www.bbc.com/news/world-middle-east-14647308
- Lee, Y.-H., Hsiao, C., & Chen, Y.-C. (2017). Linking positive psychological capital with customer value co-creation. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 29(4), 1235-1255.
- Lévi-Strauss, C. (1967). Les Structures Élémentaires de la Parenté. (Deuxième Édition.) [With a Map.]. https://books.google.com.hk/books?id=JiVgswEACAAJ
- Lévi-Strauss, C. (1969). *The Elementary Structures of Kinship*. Beacon Press. <u>https://books.google.com.hk/books?id=4QhYYQi6CoMC</u>
- Li, H., Xu, Y.-H., & Yu, L. (2017). Predicting hospitality firm failure: mixed sample modelling. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 29(7), 1770-1792.
- Li, J., Yu, I. Y., Yang, M. X., & Chen, S. (2022). How needs for belongingness and justice influence social identity and performances: Evidence from the

hospitality industry. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Management*, 50, 366-374. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhtm.2022.02.015</u>

- Li, W., Qin, X., Yam, K. C., Deng, H., Chen, C., Dong, X., Jiang, L., & Tang, W. (2024). Embracing artificial intelligence (AI) with job crafting: Exploring trickle-down effect and employees' outcomes. *Tourism management*, 104, 104935. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2024.104935</u>
- Liao, H., & Chuang, A. (2007). Transforming service employees and climate: a multilevel, multisource examination of transformational leadership in building long-term service relationships. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 92(4), 1006.
- Liden, R. C., Panaccio, A., Meuser, J. D., Hu, J., & Wayne, S. (2014). Servant Leadership: Antecedents, Processes, and Outcomes. In *The Oxford handbook* of leadership and organizations (pp. 357-379).
- Liden, R. C., Wayne, S. J., Liao, C., & Meuser, J. D. (2014). Servant leadership and serving culture: Influence on individual and unit performance. Academy of Management Journal, 57(5), 1434-1452.
- Liden, R. C., Wayne, S. J., Meuser, J. D., Hu, J., Wu, J., & Liao, C. (2015). Servant leadership: Validation of a short form of the SL-28. *The leadership quarterly*, *26*(2), 254-269.
- Liden, R. C., Wayne, S. J., Zhao, H., & Henderson, D. (2008). Servant leadership: Development of a multidimensional measure and multi-level assessment. *The leadership quarterly*, 19(2), 161-177. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2008.01.006
- Lim, S., Ok, C. M., & Lu, L. (2024). A meta-analytic review of hospitality and tourism employees' creativity and innovative behavior. *Tourism management*, 105, 104977. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2024.104977
- Lin, Q. (2024). How does authentic leadership drive hotel employees to innovate? A cross-level influencing process. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 123, 103890. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2024.103890
- Linda D. Molm, Jessica L. Collett, & David R. Schaefer. (2007). Building Solidarity through Generalized Exchange: A Theory of Reciprocity. *American journal of sociology*, *113*(1), 205-242. <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/517900</u>
- Ling, Q., Lin, M., & Wu, X. (2016). The trickle-down effect of servant leadership on frontline employee service behaviors and performance: A multilevel study of Chinese hotels. *Tourism management*, 52(Supplement C), 341-368. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2015.07.008</u>

- Ling, Q., Liu, F., & Wu, X. (2017). Servant Versus Authentic Leadership: Assessing Effectiveness in China's Hospitality Industry. *Cornell Hospitality Quarterly*, 58(1), 53-68. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1938965516641515</u>
- Linuesa-Langreo, J., Ruiz-Palomino, P., & Elche-Hortelano, D. (2017). New Strategies in the New Millennium: Servant Leadership As Enhancer of Service Climate and Customer Service Performance [Original Research]. Frontiers in Psychology, 8(786). https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00786
- Linuesa-Langreo, J., Ruiz-Palomino, P., & Elche-Hortelano, D. (2018). Integrating Servant Leadership into Managerial Strategy to Build Group Social Capital: The Mediating Role of Group Citizenship Behavior [journal article]. *Journal* of business ethics. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-018-3823-4
- Linuesa Langreo, J. (2016). Servant leadership, empowerment climate, and group creativity\_ a case study in the hospitality industry. *Ramon Llull Journal of Applied Ethics*(7).
- Liu, J., Cho, S., & Putra, E. D. (2017). The moderating effect of self-efficacy and gender on work engagement for restaurant employees in the United States. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 29(1), 624-642. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.1108/IJCHM-10-2015-0539</u>
- Liu, Y., Meng, L., Wang, H., & Chen, Y. (2024). Differential leadership and hospitality employees' in-role performance: The role of constructive deviance and competitive climate. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, *122*, 103870. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2024.103870
- Lu, J., Falahat, M., & Cheah, P. K. (2024). A systematic literature review on the relationship between servant leadership and its team and organizational level outcomes. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, *37*(2), 255-282.
- Lu, L., Lu, A. C. C., Gursoy, D., & Neale, N. R. (2016). Work engagement, job satisfaction, and turnover intentions: A comparison between supervisors and line-level employees. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 28(4), 737-761.
- Luthans, F., & Youssef, C. M. (2004). Human, social, and now positive psychological capital management: Investing in people for competitive advantage.
- Luthans, F., Youssef, C. M., & Avolio, B. J. (2015). *Psychological capital and beyond*. Oxford University Press, USA.
- Lythreatis, S., Mostafa, A. M. S., Pereira, V., Wang, X., & Del Giudice, M. (2021). Servant leadership, CSR perceptions, moral meaningfulness and organizational identification-evidence from the Middle East. *International business review*, 30(5), 101772.

- Lytle, R. S., Hom, P. W., & Mokwa, M. P. (1998). SERV\* OR: A managerial measure of organizational service-orientation. *Journal of Retailing*, 74(4), 455-489.
- MacCallum, R. C., Browne, M. W., & Sugawara, H. M. (1996). Power analysis and determination of sample size for covariance structure modeling. *Psychological methods*, 1(2), 130.
- Maglione, J. L. (2022). The Nurse Practitioner as Both Servant Leader and Clinical Leader. *Journal of Christian Nursing*, 39(1), 22-27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/cnj.0000000000000001</u>
- Mann, R. D. (1959). A review of the relationships between personality and performance in small groups. *Psychological Bulletin*, 56(4), 241.
- Marsh, H. W., & Hocevar, D. (1985). Application of confirmatory factor analysis to the study of self-concept: First-and higher order factor models and their invariance across groups. *Psychological Bulletin*, *97*(3), 562.
- Marshall, K. P. (1998). Generalized exchange and public policy: An illustration of support for public schools. *Journal of Public Policy & Marketing*, 274-286.
- Martin, H. C., Martin, H. C., Rogers, C., Rogers, C., Samuel, A. J., Samuel, A. J., Rowling, M., & Rowling, M. (2017). Serving from the top: police leadership for the twenty-first century. *International Journal of Emergency Services*, 6(3), 209-219.
- Mathieu, J. E., DeShon, R. P., & Bergh, D. D. (2008). Mediational inferences in organizational research: Then, now, and beyond. Organizational Research Methods, 11(2), 203-223.
- Mathieu, J. E., & Taylor, S. R. (2007). A framework for testing meso-mediational relationships in Organizational Behavior. *Journal of organizational Behavior*, 28(2), 141-172. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.1002/job.436</u>
- Mayer, D. M., Bardes, M., & Piccolo, R. F. (2008). Do servant-leaders help satisfy follower needs? An organizational justice perspective. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 17(2), 180-197.
- Mazzocchi, M. (2008). Statistics for marketing and consumer research. Sage.
- McGehee, N. G., Knollenberg, W., & Komorowski, A. (2015). The central role of leadership in rural tourism development: A theoretical framework and case studies. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism*, 23(8-9), 1277-1297.
- McNeish, D. M., & Stapleton, L. M. (2016). The effect of small sample size on twolevel model estimates: A review and illustration. *Educational Psychology Review*, 28(2), 295-314.

- Mcquade, K. E., Harrison, C., & Tarbert, H. (2021). Systematically reviewing servant leadership. *European Business Review*, 33(3), 465-490.
- Megheirkouni, M. (2016). Leadership behaviours and capabilities in Syria: an exploratory qualitative approach. *Journal of Management Development*, 35(5), 636-662.
- Megheirkouni, M. (2018). Insights on practicing of servant leadership in the events sector. Sport, Business and Management: An International Journal, 8(2), 134-152. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.1108/SBM-01-2017-0001</u>
- Meirun, T., Ahmed, Z., Alzoubi, R. H., Khosa, M., & Nguyen, N. T. (2024). The road to eco-excellence: How does environmentally specific empowering leadership foster hospitality employees' green creativity through green creative self-efficacy and green learning orientation. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 120, 103790. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2024.103790
- Mittal, V., Han, K., & Westbrook, R. A. (2018). Customer Engagement and Employee Engagement: A Research Review and Agenda. In *Customer Engagement Marketing* (pp. 173-201). Springer.
- Mo, Z., Liu, M. T., & Ma, Y. (2024). How AI awareness can prompt service performance adaptivity and technologically-environmental mastery. *Tourism management*, 105, 104971. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2024.104971
- Morris, K. N., & Hurt, K. J. (2022). A Conceptual Model for Community-Building Through Servant-Leadership at Different Organizational Levels. *International Journal of Servant-Leadership*, 16(1), 223-252. <u>https://doi.org/10.33972/ijsl.347</u>
- MUTHÉN, B. O. (1994). Multilevel Covariance Structure Analysis. Sociological Methods & Research, 22(3), 376-398. https://doi.org/10.1177/0049124194022003006
- N. Torres, E., & Kline, S. (2013). From customer satisfaction to customer delight: Creating a new standard of service for the hotel industry. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 25(5), 642-659.
- Nadiri, H., & Tanova, C. (2010). An investigation of the role of justice in turnover intentions, job satisfaction, and organizational citizenship behavior in hospitality industry. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 29(1), 33-41. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2009.05.001
- Naoufal, P. (2018). Interview with the Chinese Ambassador to Lebanon, HE Wang Kejian. <u>https://en.annahar.com/article/809179-interview-with-the-chinese-ambassador-to-lebanon-he-wang-kejian</u>

- Neubert, M. J., Hunter, E. M., & Tolentino, R. C. (2016). A servant leader and their stakeholders: When does organizational structure enhance a leader's influence? *The leadership quarterly*, *27*(6), 896-910.
- Neubert, M. J., Kacmar, K. M., Carlson, D. S., Chonko, L. B., & Roberts, J. A. (2008). Regulatory focus as a mediator of the influence of initiating structure and servant leadership on employee behavior. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 93(6), 1220.
- Ngo, T., Le, D., & Doan, T. (2023). "Are your employees mentally prepared for the pandemic?" Wellbeing-oriented human resource management practices in a developing country. *International Journal of Hospitality Management, 109*, 103415. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2022.103415</u>
- Northouse, P. G. (2016). *Leadership : theory and practice* (Seventh Edition.. ed.). Thousand Oaks, California : SAGE.
- Nunnally, J. (1978). Psychometric methods. In: New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Oh, H. (2002). Transaction evaluations and relationship intentions. *Journal of Hospitality & Tourism Research*, *26*(3), 278-305.
- Oh, H., & Jang, J. (2023). Service improvisation as a double-edged sword. International Journal of Hospitality Management, 108, 103367. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2022.103367
- Oliver, R. L. (1980). A cognitive model of the antecedents and consequences of satisfaction decisions. *Journal of marketing research*, 460-469.
- Oliver, R. L. (2014). Satisfaction: A Behavioral Perspective on the Consumer. Routledge.
- Oliver, R. L., & Swan, J. E. (1989). Equity and disconfirmation perceptions as influences on merchant and product satisfaction. *Journal of consumer* research, 16(3), 372-383.
- Olorunsola, V. O., Karatepe, O. M., & Rescalvo-Martin, E. (2024). Give it 110 percent: The sequential nexus between green supervisor support, green descriptive norm, green self-efficacy, and green behavior. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 121, 103823. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2024.103823</u>
- Olya, H., Van Niekerk, M., Taheri, B., Gannon, M. J., & Okumus, F. (2018). Innovative mixed and multi method approaches to hospitality and tourism research. *Abstracts Submissions: October*, *30*(2018).
- Omilion-Hodges, L. M., & Wieland, S. (2016). Unraveling the Leadership Dichotomy in the Classroom and Beyond. *Journal of Leadership Education*, 15(1).

- Orlowski, M., Bufquin, D., & Nalley, M. E. (2021). The Influence of Social Perceptions on Restaurant Employee Work Engagement and Extra-Role Customer Service Behavior: A Moderated Mediation Model. *Cornell Hospitality Quarterly*, 62(2), 261-275. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1938965520910119</u>
- Ozturk, A., & Karatepe, O. M. (2021). Servant leadership and work-family enrichment among hotel employees in Russia [Article]. *Journal of East European Management Studies*, *26*(2), 362-385. <u>https://doi.org/10.5771/0949-6181-2021-2-362</u>
- Ozturk, A., Karatepe, O. M., & Okumus, F. (2021). The effect of servant leadership on hotel employees' behavioral consequences: Work engagement versus job satisfaction [Article]. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 97, Article 102994. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2021.102994
- Page, D., & Wong, T. P. (2000). A conceptual framework for measuring servant leadership. *The human factor in shaping the course of history and development*, 69-110.
- Palmatier, R. W., Kumar, V., & Harmeling, C. M. (2018). Customer Engagement Marketing.
- Pansari, A., & Kumar, V. (2017). Customer engagement: the construct, antecedents, and consequences. *Journal of the Academy of marketing Science*, 45(3), 294-311.
- Parris, D. L., & Peachey, J. W. (2012). Building a legacy of volunteers through servant leadership: A cause-related sporting event. *Nonprofit Management* and Leadership, 23(2), 259-276.
- Parris, D. L., & Peachey, J. W. (2013a). Encouraging servant leadership: A qualitative study of how a cause-related sporting event inspires participants to serve. *Leadership*, 9(4), 486-512.
- Parris, D. L., & Peachey, J. W. (2013b). A systematic literature review of servant leadership theory in organizational contexts. *Journal of business ethics*, *113*(3), 377-393.
- Peng, J., Yang, X., & Huan, T.-C. (2022). The effects of empowering leadership on employee adaptiveness in luxury hotel services: Evidence from a mixedmethods research. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 101, 103113. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2021.103113</u>
- Peng, J. C., Jien, J.-J., & Lin, J. (2016). Antecedents and consequences of psychological contract breach. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 31(8), 1312-1326. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.1108/JMP-10-2015-0383</u>
- Peng, X., Wang, H., Fang, P., Song, W., & Zhou, D. (2023). Mapping progress in hospitality CSR research: A bibliometric review from 2006 to 2023. *Journal*

of Hospitality and Tourism Management, 57, 284-302. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhtm.2023.09.003

- Peterson, S. J., Galvin, B. M., & Lange, D. (2012). CEO servant leadership: Exploring executive characteristics and firm performance. *Personnel psychology*, 65(3), 565-596.
- Podsakoff, P. M., MacKenzie, S. B., Lee, J.-Y., & Podsakoff, N. P. (2003). Common method biases in behavioral research: A critical review of the literature and recommended remedies. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 88(5), 879.
- Porter, E. (2012). The spreading scourge of corporate corruption. *New York Times, July, 10.*
- Preacher, K. J., & Hayes, A. F. (2008). Asymptotic and resampling strategies for assessing and comparing indirect effects in multiple mediator models. *Behavior Research Methods*, 40(3), 879-891. <u>https://doi.org/10.3758/brm.40.3.879</u>
- Putra, E. D., Cho, S., & Liu, J. (2017). Extrinsic and intrinsic motivation on work engagement in the hospitality industry: Test of motivation crowding theory. *Tourism and Hospitality Research*, 17(2), 228-241.
- Qiu, H., Hsu, C., Li, M., & Shu, B. (2018). Self-drive tourism attributes: influences on satisfaction and behavioural intention. Asia Pacific Journal of Tourism Research, 23(4), 395-407.
- Qualtrics. (2018, July 13). *Security Statement*. Retrieved 6 October from https://www.qualtrics.com/security-statement/
- Rabiul, M. K., Karatepe, O. M., Karim, R. A., & Panha, I. M. (2023). An investigation of the interrelationships of leadership styles, psychological safety, thriving at work, and work engagement in the hotel industry: A sequential mediation model. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, *113*, 103508. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2023.103508
- Rabiul, M. K., & Yean, T. F. (2021). Leadership styles, motivating language, and work engagement: An empirical investigation of the hotel industry [Article]. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 92, Article 102712. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2020.102712</u>
- Rahhal, N. (2018). A mature market: Lebanon's F&B operators share challenges and successes. <u>https://www.executive-magazine.com/hospitality-tourism/a-mature-market</u>
- Raudenbush, S. W., & Bryk, A. S. (2002). *Hierarchical linear models: Applications and data analysis methods* (2de ed., Vol. 1). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

- Raudenbush, S. W., & Sampson, R. (1999). Assessing direct and indirect effects in multilevel designs with latent variables. *Sociological Methods & Research*, 28(2), 123-153.
- Reed, L. L., Vidaver-Cohen, D., & Colwell, S. R. (2011). A new scale to measure executive servant leadership: Development, analysis, and implications for research. *Journal of business ethics*, 101(3), 415-434.
- Rescalvo-Martin, E., Castillo, A., Moreno-Marcial, A. P., Albacete-Saez, C. A., & Llorens-Montes, F. J. (2022). Effects of empowering leadership under boundary conditions in the hospitality industry. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 105, 103269. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2022.103269</u>
- Riordan, C. M., Griffith, R. W., & Weatherly, E. W. (2003). Age and work-related outcomes: the moderating effects of status characteristics. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 33(1), 37-57.
- Roberts, C., & Alpert, F. (2010). Total customer engagement: designing and aligning key strategic elements to achieve growth. *Journal of Product & Brand Management*, 19(3), 198-209.
- Rowold, J. (2011). Relationship between leadership behaviors and performance: The moderating role of a work team's level of age, gender, and cultural heterogeneity. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 32(6), 628-647.
- Russell, R. F., & Gregory, S. A. (2002). A review of servant leadership attributes: Developing a practical model. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 23(3), 145-157.
- Saks, A. M. (2006). Antecedents and consequences of employee engagement. Journal of Managerial Psychology, 21(7), 600-619.
- Sarantakos, S. (2017). Social research. Bloomsbury Publishing.
- Saunders, M., Lewis, P., & Thornhill, A. (2009). *Research methods for business students* (5th ed.). Pearson education.
- Schaubroeck, J., Lam, S. S., & Peng, A. C. (2011). Cognition-based and affectbased trust as mediators of leader behavior influences on team performance. *J Appl Psychol*, 96(4), 863-871. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0022625</u>
- Schaufeli, W. B., Bakker, A. B., & Salanova, M. (2006). The measurement of work engagement with a short questionnaire: A cross-national study. *Educational* and psychological measurement, 66(4), 701-716.

- Schaufeli, W. B., Salanova, M., González-Romá, V., & Bakker, A. B. (2002). The measurement of engagement and burnout: A two sample confirmatory factor analytic approach. *Journal of Happiness studies*, 3(1), 71-92.
- Schlossberger, E. (1994). A new model of business: Dual-investor theory. *Business Ethics Quarterly*, 459-474.
- Schuh, S. C., Zhang, X.-a., & Tian, P. (2013). For the good or the bad? Interactive effects of transformational leadership with moral and authoritarian leadership behaviors. *Journal of business ethics*, 116(3), 629-640.
- Schwarz, G., Newman, A., Cooper, B., & Eva, N. (2016). Servant leadership and follower job performance: The mediating effect of public service motivation. *Public Administration*, 94(4), 1025-1041.
- Seijts, G. H., & Crim, D. (2006). What engages employees the most or, the ten C's of employee engagement. *Ivey Business Journal*, 70(4), 1-5.
- Sendjaya, S., Eva, N., Butar, I. B., Robin, M., & Castles, S. (2017). SLBS-6: Validation of a Short Form of the Servant Leadership Behavior Scale. *Journal of business ethics*, 1-16.
- Sendjaya, S., & Sarros, J. C. (2002). Servant leadership: Its origin, development, and application in organizations. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 9(2), 57-64.
- Sendjaya, S., Sarros, J. C., & Santora, J. C. (2008). Defining and measuring servant leadership behaviour in organizations. *Journal of Management Studies*, 45(2), 402-424.
- Shum, C., Gatling, A., & Shoemaker, S. (2018). A model of hospitality leadership competency for frontline and director-level managers: Which competencies matter more? *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 74, 57-66.
- Sitkin, S. B., & Roth, N. L. (1993). Explaining the limited effectiveness of legalistic "remedies" for trust/distrust. *Organization science*, 4(3), 367-392.
- Slåtten, T., & Mehmetoglu, M. (2011). Antecedents and effects of engaged frontline employees: A study from the hospitality industry. *Managing Service Quality: An International Journal*, 21(1), 88-107.
- Smothers, J. (2011). Assumption-based leadership: A historical post-hoc conceptualization of the assumptions underlying leadership styles. *Journal of Applied Management and Entrepreneurship*, 16(3), 44.
- Snijders, T. A. B., & Bosker, R. J. (2011). Multilevel Analysis: An Introduction to Basic and Advanced Multilevel Modeling. SAGE Publications. <u>https://books.google.com.hk/books?id=N1BQvcomDdQC</u>

- So, K. K. F., King, C., Sparks, B. A., & Wang, Y. (2016). The role of customer engagement in building consumer loyalty to tourism brands. *Journal of Travel Research*, 55(1), 64-78.
- Solnet, D., Baum, T., Robinson, R. N., & Lockstone-Binney, L. (2016). What about the workers? Roles and skills for employees in hotels of the future. *Journal* of Vacation Marketing, 22(3), 212-226.
- Sousa, M., & van Dierendonck, D. (2017). Servant leadership and the effect of the interaction between humility, action, and hierarchical power on follower engagement. *Journal of business ethics*, *141*(1), 13-25.
- Spears, L. (2004). Practicing servant leadership: leader to leader. USA: Hasselbein and Co.
- Spears, L. C. (1996). Reflections on Robert K. Greenleaf and servant-leadership. Leadership & Organization Development Journal, 17(7), 33-35. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.1108/01437739610148367</u>
- Spears, L. C. (2010). Character and servant leadership: Ten characteristics of effective, caring leaders. *The Journal of Virtues & Leadership*, 1(1), 25-30.
- Spears, L. C., & Lawrence, M. (2002). Focus on leadership : servant-leadership for the twenty-first century. New York : Wiley.
- Spector, P. E. (1997). Job satisfaction: Application, assessment, causes, and consequences (Vol. 3). Sage publications.
- Stogdill, R. M. (1948). Personal factors associated with leadership: A survey of the literature. *The Journal of Psychology*, 25(1), 35-71.
- Stogdill, R. M. (1974). *Handbook of leadership: A survey of theory and research*. Free Press.
- Su, L., Houghton, J. D., Chen, S., & Zou, W. (2022). Does organizational empowerment promote self-leadership in hotel management? An analysis based on employees' cultural value orientation. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Management*, 53, 165-175. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhtm.2022.10.003
- Sun, X., Li, K., & Cheng, J. (2024). How does despotic leadership thwart frontline employees' role-related service behaviors? A psychological empowerment perspective. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Management*, 58, 39-50. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhtm.2023.11.006
- Takahashi, N. (2000). The emergence of generalized exchange. *American journal of sociology*, 105(4), 1105-1134.
- Tanaka, J. (1993). Multifaceted conceptions of fit. *Testing structural equation models*, 10-39.

- Tavakol, M., & Dennick, R. (2011). Making sense of Cronbach's alpha. *International journal of medical education*, 2, 53.
- Teng, H.-Y., Tsai, C.-H., & Hung, C.-W. (2024). How and when job passion promotes customer-oriented organizational citizenship behavior: A moderated mediation model. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 122, 103862. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2024.103862
- Thai'Atun, W., Hanafi, M. S., Faturohman, N., & Erlangga, F. (2024). The Effects of Servant Leadership, Supervision Competence, and Work Loyalty on Teacher Performance. *Ideguru: Jurnal Karya Ilmiah Guru*, 9(1), 365-376.
- Timmerman, T. A. (2005). Missing persons in the study of groups. Journal of Organizational Behavior: The International Journal of Industrial, Occupational and Organizational Psychology and Behavior, 26(1), 21-36.
- Tims, M., Bakker, A. B., & Xanthopoulou, D. (2011). Do transformational leaders enhance their followers' daily work engagement? *The leadership quarterly*, 22(1), 121-131.
- Tuan, L. T. (2018). Activating tourists' citizenship behavior for the environment: the roles of CSR and frontline employees' citizenship behavior for the environment. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism*, 26(7), 1178-1203. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09669582.2017.1330337</u>
- Tuan, L. T. (2022). Tourism employee ambidexterity: The roles of servant leadership, job crafting, and perspective taking. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Management*, 51, 53-66. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhtm.2022.02.019</u>
- Van Dierendonck, D. (2011). Servant leadership: A review and synthesis. Journal of management, 37(4), 1228-1261.
- Van Dierendonck, D., & Nuijten, I. (2011). The servant leadership survey: Development and validation of a multidimensional measure. *Journal of business and psychology*, 26(3), 249-267.
- van Dierendonck, D., Stam, D., Boersma, P., de Windt, N., & Alkema, J. (2014). Same difference? Exploring the differential mechanisms linking servant leadership and transformational leadership to follower outcomes. *The leadership quarterly*, 25(3), 544-562. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2013.11.014</u>
- van Doorn, J., Lemon, K. N., Mittal, V., Nass, S., Pick, D., Pirner, P., & Verhoef, P. C. (2010). Customer Engagement Behavior: Theoretical Foundations and Research Directions. *Journal of service research*, 13(3), 253-266. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1094670510375599</u>

- Vargo, S. L., & Lusch, R. F. (2017). Service-dominant logic 2025. International Journal of Research in Marketing, 34(1), 46-67.
- Wallace, J. R. (2007). Servant leadership: A worldview perspective. International Journal of Leadership Studies, 2(2), 114-132.
- Watson, T. (2012). 2012 Towers Watson Global Workforce Study. Retrieved November 17, 2018, from <u>https://www.towerswatson.com/Insights/IC-Types/Survey-Research-Results/2012/07/2012-Towers-Watson-Global-Workforce-Study</u>
- Wei, W., Miao, L., & Huang, Z. J. (2013). Customer engagement behaviors and hotel responses. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 33, 316-330.
- Weir, T. (2010). Developing leadership in global organizations. Work in the 21st Century: An Introduction to Industrial and Organizational Psychology, 2nd ed., Wiley-Blackwell, San Francisco, CA, 203-230.
- Williams, J. A., Benjamin, S., Kitterlin-Lynch, M., Brown, E. A., Schoffstall, D., & Zaman, M. M. (2018). Hospitality Faculty Mentoring Program for Assistant Professors. *Journal of Hospitality & Tourism Education*, 1-8.
- Wong, I. A. (2017). Advancing tourism research through multilevel methods: research problem and agenda. *Current Issues in Tourism*, 20(8), 809-824.
- Wu, C.-M., Chen, T.-J., & Wang, Y.-C. (2023). Formation of hotel employees' service innovation performance: Mechanism of thriving at work and changeoriented organizational citizenship behavior. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Management*, 54, 178-187. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhtm.2022.12.015
- Wu, L.-Z., Tse, E. C.-Y., Fu, P., Kwan, H. K., & Liu, J. (2013). The impact of servant leadership on hotel employees' "servant behavior". *Cornell Hospitality Quarterly*, 54(4), 383-395.
- Xiao, J., & Mao, J.-Y. (2022). Negative role modeling in hospitality organizations: A social learning perspective on supervisor and subordinate customertargeted incivility. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 102, 103141. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2022.103141</u>
- Yang, M., Luu, T. T., & Hoang, G. (2023). Can ethical climate and ethical selfefficacy channel ethical leadership into service performance? A multilevel investigation. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 114, 103548. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2023.103548</u>
- Yang, M., Luu, T. T., & Qian, D. (2022). Can group diversity translate adhocracy culture into service innovative behavior among hospitality employees? A multilevel study. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 107, 103332. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2022.103332</u>

- Yang, P. M. (2023). Servant leadership: The impact on employee job satisfaction in *law enforcement* University of the Cumberlands].
- Yang, Z., Zhang, H., Kwan, H. K., & Chen, S. (2018). Crossover effects of servant leadership and job social support on employee spouses: The mediating role of employee organization-based self-esteem. *Journal of business ethics*, 147(3), 595-604.
- Yavas, U., Karatepe, O. M., & Babakus, E. (2013). Correlates of Nonwork and Work Satisfaction Among Hotel Employees: Implications for Managers. *Journal of Hospitality Marketing & Management*, 22(4), 375-406. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19368623.2012.667596</u>
- Yeh, C. M. (2013). TOURISM INVOLVEMENT, WORK ENGAGEMENT AND JOB SATISFACTION AMONG FRONTLINE HOTEL EMPLOYEES. Annals of Tourism Research, 42, 214-239. <u>http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0160738313000248</u>
- Youssef, Y. M. A., Johnston, W. J., AbdelHamid, T. A., Dakrory, M. I., & Seddick, M. G. S. (2018). A customer engagement framework for a B2B context. *Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing*, 33(1), 145-152.
- Yue, X. (2024). The Impact of Undergraduates Servant Leadership on Their Employability. SAGE Open, 14(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/21582440241260936</u>
- Yukl, G. A. (2013). Leadership in organizations. Pearson Education India.
- Zaccaro, S. J. (2007). Trait-based perspectives of leadership. *American psychologist*, 62(1), 6.
- Zameer, H., Wang, Y., Yasmeen, H., Mofrad, A. A., & Waheed, A. (2018). Corporate image and customer satisfaction by virtue of employee engagement. *Human Systems Management*, *37*(2), 233-248.
- Zhang, J., Xie, C., & Huang, S. (2024). The effect of resilient leadership on employee resilience during a crisis in tourism & hospitality firms: A selfdetermination perspective. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 122, 103886. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2024.103886</u>
- Zhang, M., Kim, P. B., & Goodsir, W. (2018). Effects of service experience attributes on customer attitudes and behaviours: the case of New Zealand café industry. *Journal of Hospitality Marketing & Management*, 1-23.
- Zhang, Y., Zheng, Y., Zhang, L., Xu, S., Liu, X., & Chen, W. (2021). A metaanalytic review of the consequences of servant leadership: The moderating roles of cultural factors [Article]. Asia Pacific Journal of Management, 38(1), 371-400. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10490-018-9639-z

- Zhang, Z., Lee, J. C.-K., & Wong, P. H. (2016). Multilevel structural equation modeling analysis of the servant leadership construct and its relation to job satisfaction. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 37(8), 1147-1167.
- Zhang, Z., Zyphur, M. J., & Preacher, K. J. (2009). Testing multilevel mediation using hierarchical linear models: Problems and solutions. *Organizational Research Methods*, 12(4), 695-719.
- Zhao, C., Liu, Y., & Gao, Z. (2016). An identification perspective of servant leadership's effects. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, *31*(5), 898-913.
- Zhao, H., Chen, Y., Zhao, S., & Wang, B. (2024). Green inclusive leadership and hospitality employees' green service innovative behavior in the Chinese hospitality context: The roles of basic psychological needs and employee traditionality. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 123, 103922. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2024.103922
- Zhou, Q., & Zheng, X. (2023). From responsible leadership to hospitality employee's support for external CSR: Need satisfaction as a mediator and moral reflectiveness as a moderator. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Management*, 56, 115-123. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhtm.2023.06.015</u>
- Zhou, X., Zhang, S., Zhao, X., Namasivayam, K., & Zheng, H. (2024). How mentors inspire affective commitment in newcomers: The roles of servant leadership, psychological capital, and feedback-seeking behavior. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 118, 103677. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2023.103677</u>
- Zhu, D., Lin, M.-T., Thawornlamlert, P. K., Subedi, S., & Kim, P. B. (2023). The antecedents of employees' innovative behavior in hospitality and tourism contexts: A meta-regression approach. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 111, 103474. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2023.103474
- Zou, W.-C., Tian, Q., & Liu, J. (2015). Servant leadership, social exchange relationships, and follower's helping behavior: Positive reciprocity belief matters. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 51, 147-156.